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155 NEW PJENTS GRANTED TO WABCO 1N 2008

2008 was an unprecedented year The global

commercial vehicle industry experienced boom and

bust side by side as never before

WABCO entered 2008 facing the challenges of con
tinued growth deepening connectivity with customers

applying enormous energy to build up capacity boosting

manufacturing efficIencies raising standards of excel

lence In execution and Improving profitability

As of March 2008 we had achieved record level

of first quarter sales In the second quarter of 2008

we set another record for quarterly sales an increase

of 16 percent Altogether during the first half of 2008

WABCOs sales grew by 14 percent all organic growth

all in local currencies maintaining the companys long

track record of outpacing the industrys growth It was

full steam ahead

In the third quarter of 2008 our sales growth slowed

to percent Nonetheless it marked record level of

third quarter sales and the companys 27th consecutlve

quarter of growth However we anticIpated something

dIsruptIve market demand would change and It would

change for the worse We also anticipated th we

happen fast WABCO decided to switch gears overnIght

Suddenly after nearly years of unInterrupted growth

honon ehifinn rnrrynninrrnanitin AIo

reversed steam efficiently under control wIth Ira nurn

flexibility Early in the third quafte we took measures to

achieve $20 million in cost savings for the rest of 2008

In fact between July and December we achIeved an

exceptional $45 million in cost savings more than double

our target for
profit improvement in that period

And then what we anticipated actually happened

market downturn

In the fourth quarter of 2008 WABCOs sales

decllned by 25 percent year on year reflecting drop in

the commercial vehicle market that was unprecedented

for its combined speed steepness and globa1 srep
WABCOs sales totaled $2.6 billion for full year 2008

level that is flat in local currencies compared Ntt year

ago But 2008 was anything but flat fast grow rj ar at

condItions in the first half of the year sharply ra ted

with suddenly severe slowing down in the second haf

Pa ER
INNOVATE
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54/o INCREASE IN NET NCQME IN 2008 ON PERFORMANCE BASIS

Rising to the challenge we demonstrated our ability to

adapt efficiently and execute with excellence no matter what

the market conditions For example we gained $72 million

in materials and conversion productivity in 2008 through

our WABCO Operating System one of the most advanced

management environments in our industry

We achieved an outstanding full year 2008 performance

EBIT earnings before interest and taxes an increase of

percent Net income rose by 18 percent We returned

$153 million to shareholders through repurchased shares

Marking another outstanding achievement we set full

year record for earnings per share up 25 percent

Throughout 2008 we responded and adapted with

creativity speed and flexibility

TECHNOLOGY GLOBAL EXPANSION

AND EXECUTION

Facing adverse market conditions and drawing on our pas

sion to continually innovate every aspect of our business we

have added short term focus to mitigate these conditions

Moving forward our realignment involves additional cost

reduction programs and streamlining program that we ini

tiated in the fourth quarter of 2008 to proactively reduce our

workforce and size the company for new level of market

demand that has significantly less volume We have also

made room for sufficient flexibility to exploit any market

opportunities in global commercial vehicle industry that is

highly volatile and uncertain

However we will not drive these necessary efforts to the

detriment of the long term fundamentals that have anchored

our company at the leading edge of our industry We will

Indeed pursue our three strategic objectives technology

leadership global expansion and excellence in execution

The success of our company is rooted in the robust

growth of our exceptional engineering capabilities no matter

what climate prevails in the global commercial vehicle industry

In our culture of innovation honed during decades of

engineering excellence we have pioneered many of the

breakthrough electronic mechanical and mechatronic tech

nologies in systems such as braking stability air suspension

and transmission automation

In the latter part of 2008 even as our industry started

feeling the pain of shrinking market demand WABCO intro

duced powerful suite of 14 new technologies and innovative

systems Further demonstrating our passion to innovate

we announced two breakthrough technologies one in driver

assistance systems another in transmission automation

With these major advancements in 2008 we added to our

long list of innovation and technology breakthroughs that

spans decades

In December 2008 we furthered our global expansion

when we began supplying OptiDriveM our new modular

automated manual transmission system to CNHTC the largest

producer of heavy duty trucks in China and the worlds first

truck maker to adopt this highly advanced system in volume

production CNHTC launched its new flagship HOWO heavy

truck series featuring WABCOs new OptiDrive system one of

the most creatively engineered products in our portfolio

In another major development of global expansion in

2008 we agreed to form joint venture for production of

air disc brakes in China with Fuwa the worlds largest manu
facturer of commercial trailer axles it marks our continued

success in globalizing our reach and growing our presence
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Today the world is focused on containing an unprece

dented crisis that is significantly impacting and even

restating the market for commercial vehicles However

this down cycle will reverse and the market will trend

upward It will be accelerated by economic stimulus pack

ages currently being implemented in all areas of the world

In China alone we are already seeing significant growth

coming from ambitious construction projects launched in

the western part of the country

The commercial vehicle industry should be at the leading

edge of the recovery in the economy First aftermarket

revenues will rise driven by the increased activity of existing

trucks and trailers This growth will be rapidly followed by

demand for the new vehicles necessary to replace fast

aging fleet especially in the United States WAHOO is ready to

fully benefit from any increase in demand for new coomerciai

vehicles We are also continuing to grow our capabtifios

the aftermarket space adding new products and services to

our offering and further expanding geographically

PA5ON P5ER
Passion is power The same passion that propelled us

during times of industry growth will also power us when

markets slump We will harness the same power that we

demonstrated in 2008 but deploy it in different ways durssg

2009 rising to new challenges

We are proud of our employees in 31 countries as they

adapt and execute what is necessary in the short term while

preserving the integrity of the companys capabilities and

long term growth potential Everyone in our organization

across the world is passionate about securing the luture

success of WABCO

Jacques Esculier

Chief Executive Officer
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TRAILER ELECTRONIC BRAMNO SYSTEMS SOLD SINCE

INTRODUCTION 10 YEARS AGO

During 2008 WABCO continued as BRAND OF REFERENCE

everywhere trucks buses and traders are hunt and used in the world Our

STRATEGY remains focuseci on three POWERFUL levers constant tuiw

of innovation and technology breanthroughs greater giobal expansion

further extension and development ol our aftermarket husinent

As of 2008 total sales have expanded over the last five

years at compound annual growth rate of approximately

percent driven by strong growth in global demand for

commercial vehicles except during the second half of 2008

when market conditions suddenly deteriorated

Moving forward the power of WABCO will allow us to take

advantage of any change in demand that could be accelerated

by government economic stimulus programs that are being

implemented in our key markets These programs emphasize

industrial activity goods transport and infrastructure building

creating new demand for trucks buses and trailers

Over the years our growth has been outperforming

the market powered by an increasing average content per

vehicle for our products and systems The powerful suite

of 14 new technologies and innovative systems that we

introduced in 2008 will continue to provide new opportuni

ties for additional revenues

In Western Europe WABCOs applicable content per

vehicle exceeds $3000 and continues to grow due to adop
tion of advanced technology and high penetration of on-

board electronics In North America WAECOs applicable

content per vehicle is under $1000 while in emerging mar
kets such as China it is under $300 WABCOs content per

vehicle will grow as these regions continue to adopt our

more environmentally friendly For example our latest intro

duction of new technologies such as automated manual

transmissions or advanced compressors creates powerful

opportunities for growth

In India market that offers significant opportunities for

growth we set the stage in 2008 for an effective traadtion to

WABCOs majority control of the WABCO-TVS jont wniure

leading player in the local commercial vehicle market At the

same time it will add an advanced engineering center and

three wodd-class factories to WABCOs global capabilities fur

ther enhancing the companys already broad footprint in Asia

in September 2008 we inaugurated an extension to

our test track located near Hanover Germany new vehicle

dynamics area expands our global capabilities for stability

testing WASCO pioneered electronic stability corarci SC
for commercial vehicles in 2001 and we have continued to

drive ESC ever since European Union mandate to equip

commercial vehicles with ESC technology starting in 2011 will

result in sharp increase in the number of certification tests

In 2008 our aftermarket team continued to expand

its global reach through service network covering 107

countries We broadened our product offerings and added

new services in diagnostic capabilities and techmcai train

ing In 2008 WABCO University trained more than 13500

technologies to make vehicles safer more fuel efficient and customers from 32 countries an increase of 23 percent



We intensifktd our commitment to ENGINEERING EXCELLENCE in

2008 further strengt.heninq the companys qiobal enaineering n.etwork devsng

innovation strateqy from deener understanding of very diverse CUSTOMER
ROADMAPS As more projects increasingly involve crossborder teams we

harness the POWER OF ONE corn mon development prdcess worldwide

POWE
WABCO continues to power its success through

exceptional engineering capabilities which have pioneered

many of the fundamental innovations in commercial vehicle

systems that generate manage and utilize compressed air as

well as other electronics and controls WABCO has track

record of technology leadership and industry breakthroughs

First anti-lock braking system in 1981

First electronically controlled air suspension system in 1986

First automated manual transmission system in 1986

First electronic braking system in 1996

First electronic stability
control system in 2001

First collision mitigation system with active braking in

2007 and introduced as OnGuardtm

At IAA 2008 the worlds largest trade show for

commercial vehicles WABCO introduced powerful suite

of 14 new technologies and innovative systems including

two breakthrough technologies

OnGuardMaxTM is the commercial vehicle industr/s first

system for autonomous emergency braking in collision immi

nent situations with moving or stopped vehicles It represents

revolutionary advance in driver assistance systems

WABCOs OptiDrive one of the most creatively

engineered products in our portfolio is breakthrough

in transmission automation high degree of modularity

means faster time to market for vehicle and

transmission manufacturers

At IAA 2008 we demonstrated power from technology

by introducing new telematics technology for trailers

new high output compressors new generation of air

disc brakes based on unique and patented single-piston

technology for heavy duty trucks and buses and an updated

trailer electronic braking system among other improved

and innovative systems and products

WABCOs engineering excellence is powered by the

passion and outstanding talents of our 1000 engineers

working from three different continents They develop and

deploy new and improved products to meet the needs of

global customer base comprising every major manufacturer

of trucks buses and trailers

in 2008 we made significant progress in harnessing

the power of one WABCO engineering resource We

strengthened our global engineering network for example

through more effective application of expert competencies

such as software engineering and mechatronics expertise

We clarified and quickened interfaces across globally

distributed locations We further standardized processes

for product development and program management

through our WABCO Operating System resulting in better

cross-functional connectivity and deeper systemization

with customers

AABCO
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Throughout 2008 our PASSION continued to fue the power of our

taented iocai teams in 31 countries backed by aftermarket service in 107

countries Such POWER across the world is linked to our ab0ty to pm

as an organization idSI ciosey connects with understands and adapts

LOCAL CUSTOMERS in every region

THE
In 2008 we further enhanced the talent level of our

senior leadership once again adding rich backgrounds and

broad experience to our already diverse high performance

global leadership team With an executive team consisting

of 10 different nationalities from four continents WABCOs
cultural diversity allows us to connect increasingly deeper

with local customers while constantly building better

understanding of global market opportunities

In December 2008 WABCO marked another milestone

as global technology leader when China National Heavy

Truck Corporation began equipping their new flagship

truck series with our OptiDrive system CNHTC Is the

largest producer of heavy duty trucks in China and the

worlds first original equipment manufacturer to adopt

WABCOs highly advanced OptiDrive system in volume

production This successful national launch with CNHTC
an outstanding achievement highlights WABCOs

creativity

and flexibility as we focus on customers to anticipate

and meet their needs while serving them in their language

and native culture

Our partnership with CNHTC also exemplifies the

power of WABCOs globally connected teams Our

teamwork aligns and integrates engineers marketing

and account managers manufacturing experts sourcing

specialists business leaders and other colleagues who

collaborate from Asia and Europe

RLD
Also in December 2008 we further demonstrated

the power of WABCOs global expansion when we agreed

with Guangdong Fuwa Heavy Industry Company ro form

joint venture for production of air disc brakes in CNna

Fuwa is the largest manufacturer of commercial trailer axles

in China and in the world Encompassing manufacturing

assembly and testing this powerful joint venture is expected

to manufacture air disc brakes to equip up to 250000

axles for commercial trailers annually

Our partnership with Fuwa is another mark of WABCOs
continued success in globalizing our reach and growing

our presence across the world Our joint manufacturing

facility
establishes major footprint for our air disc brakes

in China as well as Asia further ensuring that WABCO can

meet the future needs of local and regional customers

Across the world we are supported by continuously

expanding network of manufacturing sourcing and local engi

neering capabilities For example together with our WABCOIVS

joint venture partner we announced in 2008 the opening of two

manufacturing facilities in India We also doubled the capacity of

our software design center in Tidel Park Indias largest informa

tion technology park Our engineers develop embedded software

for applications in electronic braking stability transmission and

climate control By expanding engineering and production

capabilities in India we can continually improve our supply

chain and better serve customers locally as well as globally
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QUALITY AND EXCELLENCE AWARDS WON BY WABCO AND
JOINT VENTURE PARTNERS

our WABCO OPERATING SYSTEM one of the most advanced

management environments in our industry transforms how we do business

total EMPLOYEE INVOLVEMENT organizational development across the

value chain true CUSTOMER PARTNERSHIPS fast and flexible product

develornent and Six Sigma Lean processes from suppliers thrOugh to customers

THR
Throughout 2008 we further energized our WABCO

Operating System by intensifying our focus on lean manufac

turing and value streams executing with excellence on all

of the steps from suppliers through to our customers For

example in Wroclaw Poland mixed model assembly lines

produced an array of valves that serve customers in Europe

Brazil and North America Six different product families are

built using three mixed model lines replacing nine conven

tional lines This factory produced 700000 ABS valves in 2008

with zero defects world class achievement in our industry

Our factory in Qingdao China has manufactured

more than 22 million ABS valves since its inauguration in

2007 including 13 million in 2008 serving Asia and North

America Through lean manufacturing quality performance

continued to excel at world class standards The factory

achieved quality level of 2.6 ppm which is less than

three defects out of every million parts produced

Furthermore in 2008 we introduced manufacturing in

India and China for clutch servos that improve clutch opera

tion in trucks and buses By extending localized production of

clutch servos into Asia we better serve regional customers

Kaizen is Japanese improvement method that inte

grates capacity space utilization productivity and quality In

2008 we executed 120 major Kaizen events in our factories

around the world more than double the number year ago

We conducted 31 workshops with materials suppliers and

other supply chain partners to reinforce lean initiatives and

further boost quality We also started to apply Hoshin

Japanese management method that aligns our entire organ

ization to drive change and reach breakthrough objectives

Safety in the workplace is an integral part of our WABCO

Operating System We recorded an incident rate of occupa

tional injury or illness at less than 0.70 per 100 full-time workers

during 2008 superlative result in safety performance

WABCO and our joint venture partners won 19 major

awards from customers and industry institutions in Brazil

North America Europe and Asia They commend outstanding

quality reliability service and other achievements in recognition

of excellence in execution

For example WABCO earned Top Quality award

from KAMAZ Russias largest manufacturer of commercial

vehicles WABCO also won Top Supplier award from

Volkswagen commercial vehicles in Brazil The Beijing

Public Transport Corporation operator of the worlds

largest municipal bus service honored WABCO for Best

Aftermarket Service before and during 2008 Olympic

activities In 2008 WABCO-TVS earned Zero PPM Quality

award zero defective parts-per-million over the past three

years from Tata Motors Indias largest manufacturer of

commercial vehicles

POWER
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WABCO SALES

5AEAR CAGR PERFORMANCE EPS

PERFORMANCE EBIT

PERFORMANCE NET INCOME

AS PERCENTAGE OF SALES FREE CASH FLOW
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Our sales for 2008 were record $26 billion flat in

local currencies year on year However 2008 was anything

but flat growth of 14 percent the first half sudden severe

slowdown in the second half due to an unprecedented

decline in the global commercial vehicle ndustry

Despite such an industry slowdown we had an

outstanding year 2008 Performance EBIT rncreased

to $301 million record level and up percent year

on year Performance net income margin increased to

percent up 91 basis points year on year We also

set record for reported diluted earnings per share of

$3.24 and diluted earnings per share on performance

basis of $3.75 up 25 percent year on year

We generated $241 million in free cash flow

represenbng 113 percent of net income Also in 2008

we made record contribution to our shareholders

we returned $172 million cash by paying thvidends

and buying back shares in 2008 bringing the total

ORM
shares repurchased to 6.0 million snce commencuig the

program in 2007

We continued to invest in our future In 2008 we spent

$93 million in research and development an increase of

10 percent year on year

Our WABCO Operating System one of the most

advanced management environments in our industry

demonstrated excellent results For examole we gained

$72 million in materials and conversion productivity vi

2008 We also continued to improve the efficiency of the

companys capital expenditures In 2008 we increased capt

tal expend4ures by $8 million but for third consecutive

year we succeeded in keeping these expendaures more

than 10 percent below depreciation and amortization

Moving forward we have sized our organization for

restated level of market demand We are well prepared and

suthcently flexible across our supply chain to continuously

align with the market and take full advantage of an upturn



SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
hi M4ons except per share data FY 2008 FY 2007 Growth

Sales $2588.0 $2 4159 7%

Performance Op Income .................................... 2982 28 6%

Performance EBIT 301.1 280.0 8%

Performance Net Income 246.8 208 18%

Performance EPS 3.75 01 25%

Free Cash Flow 241.2 761

RECONCILIATON OF NONGAAP MEASURES
TO GAAP MEASURES

Tweve Months Ended December 31

Chg vs
Amounts in miltons 2008 of Saes 2007 of Sales 2007 2006 of Sates

Ses
Reported $2588.0 $2415.9 71% $2015.2

Foreign exchange translation effects 173.2

Adjusted Sales at Comparable Exchange

Rates ........................ $2414.8 $2415.9 00% $2015.2

Operating Income

Reported 246.5 9.5% 241.7 10.0% 2.0% 222 111%
Streamlining costs ................... 36.9 12.7 8.2

Separation costs ................. 148 27.0

PerformanceOperatingincome 298.2 115% 2814 116% 6.0% 231.1 11.5%

EBIT Earnings Before Interest and

Taxes
Reported Net Income 213.3 1254 137

Adjust for taxes 38.2 111.3 87.9

Adjust for interest income/expense 3.7 4.5 11

EBIT 247.8 9.6% 241.2 10.0% 27% 2370 11

Streamfning costs 36.9 12.7

Separation costs 14.8 261

One$ime impact from adophon of FAS
141R ........................ 1.6

Performance EBIT Earnings Before

Interest and Taxes 301.1 11.6% 280.0 115% 7.5% 245



2006 %of SalesAmounts in miltons 2008 of Sates 2007 of Sales

Net Income

Reported .............................. $213.3 8.2% $125.4 52% 70.1% $137.8 6.8%

Streamlining costs net of tax ............... 271 8.4 49
Tax items.... .4 .2 1.4

Separation costs net of tax and separation

related taxes ................... 38 73.5

One-time impact from adoption of FAS 141 .. 1.2

Performance Net Income ............. $246.8 95% $208.5 8.6% 18.4% $144.1 72%

EPS Earnings Per Share

Diluted EPS Reported...................... 3.24 181 79.0% 198

Streamlining costs net of tax ........ 041 0.12 007

Tax items .................. 0.02 0.02 002

Separation costs net of tax and separation

related taxes ............ 0.06 1.06

One-time impact from adoption of FAS 141 .. 0.02

Performance Diluted EPS Earnings Per

Share ............................ 3.75 3.01 24.6% 2.07

Free Cash Flow

Net Cash Flow Provided/Used by Operating

Activities ........................... $324.8 0.3 $175.4

Deductions or Additions to Reconcile to Free

Cash Flow.....................
Purchases of property plant equipment ... 78.0 69.8 65.2

lnvestments in capital.ized software .......... 5.6 7.9 7.5
Proceeds from disposal of property plant and

equipment .......................... 1.9

Free Cash Flow ...... $241.2 $76.1 $102.7

Note This presentation contains certain non-GAAP financial measures as that term is defined by the SEC Non-GAAP financial measures in this

presentation are generally identified by the terms adjusted or performance Sales excluding the effects of foreign exchange and EBIT are non

GAAP financial measures Additionally gross profit selling administrative product engineering and other operating income EBIT net ncome

and net income per diluted share on performance basis are non-GAAP financial measures that exclude separation and streamlining costs

one-time and discrete tax items as well as one-time transitional impact from new accounting standard SFAS No 141 that WABCO will

adopt in 2009 as applicable These measures should be considered in addition to not as substitute for GAAP measures

Separation spin-off costs include all the incremental costs to establish WABCO as stand-alone separate independent company It also

includes the costs associated with certain liabilities including contingent liabilities that have been assumed by WABCO from Trane formerly

American Standard in the separation but are not related to the Vehicle Controls Business These costs would include the periodic adjustments

to the carrying values of the liability ii interest on certain liabilities and iii costs to defend certain of these assumed liabilities

Twelve Months Ended December 31

Chg vs
2007

Streamlining costs are those costs that help adjust the companys workforce and other resources to changing market requirements
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Information Concerning Forward Looking Statements

Certain of the statements contained in this report other than the historical financial data and other statements

of historical fact including without limitation statements as to managements expectations and beliefs are

forward-looking statements These forward-looking statements were based on various facts and were derived

utilizing numerous important assumptions and other important factors and changes in such facts assumptions or

factors could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements Forward-looking

statements include the information concerning our future financial performance financial condition liquidity

business strategy projected plans and objectives Statements preceded by followed by or that otherwise include

the words believes expects anticipates strategies prospects intends projects estimates plans
may increase may fluctuate and similarexpression or future or conditional verbs such as will should

would may and could are generally forward looking in nature and not historical facts This report includes

important information as to risk factors in Item Business Item Risk Factors and Item Managements
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Many important factors could cause

actual results to differ materially from managements expectations including

adverse developments in general business economic and political conditions or any outbreak or escalation

of hostilities on national regional or international basis

changes in international or U.S economic conditions such as inflation interest rate fluctuations foreign

exchange rate fluctuations or recessions in our markets

unpredictable difficulties or delays in the development of new product technology

pricing changes to our supplies or products or those of our competitors and other competitive pressures

on pricing and sales

adverse developments in the business of our key customers

changes in the environmental regulations that affect our current and future products

competition in our existing and future lines of business and the financial resources of competitors

our failure to comply with regulations and any changes in regulations

our failure to complete potential future acquisitions or to realize benefits from completed acquisitions

our ability to access credit markets or capital markets on favorable basis or at all

continued turmoil and instability in the credit markets

our inability to implement our growth plan

the loss of any of our senior management

difficulties in obtaining or retaining the management and other human resource competencies that we need

to achieve our business objectives

labor relations

risks inherent in operating in foreign countries including exposure to local economic conditions

government regulation currency restrictions and other restraints changes in tax laws expropriation

political instability and diminished ability to legally enforce our contractual rights

the actual level of commercial vehicle production in our end-markets

periodic changes to contingent liabilities including those associated with litigation matters and government

investigations and

fine assessed by the European Commission in excess of our funding capability at that time

Except for our ongoing obligations to disclose material information under the federal securities laws we undertake

no obligation to release publicly any revisions to any forward-looking statements to report events or to report the

occurrence of unanticipated events unless we are required to do so by law



ITEM BUSINESS

Overview

Except as otherwise indicated or unless context otherwise requires WABCO WABCO Holdings Inc we
us our and our company refer to WABCO Holdings Inc and its consolidated subsidiaries

WABCO is leading provider of electric and electromechanical products for the worlds leading commercial

truck trailer bus and passenger car manufacturers We manufacture and sell control systems including advanced

braking stability suspension transmission control and air compressing and processing systems that improve

vehicle performance and safety and reduce overall vehicle operating costs Based on internal estimates we

estimate that our products are included in approximately two out of three commercial vehicles with advanced

vehicle control systems and offered in sophisticated niche applications in cars and sport utility
vehicles SUVs We

continue to grow in more parts of the world as we provide more components and systems throughout the life of

vehicle from design and development to the aftermarket

History of Our Company

WABCO was founded in the United States in 1869 as Westinghouse Air Brake-Company We were purchased

by American Standard Companies Inc or American Standard in 1968 and operated as the Vehicle Control

Systems business division within American Standard until we were spun off from American Standard on July 31

2007 Subsequent to our spin-off American Standard changed its name to Trane Inc which we herein refer to as

Trane On June 2008 Trane was acquired in merger with Ingersoll-Rand Company Limited Ingersoll Rand
and exists today as wholly owned subsidiary of Ingersoll-Rand

The Separation of WABCO from Trane

The spin-off by Trane of its Vehicle Control Systems business became effective on July 31 2007 through

distribution of 100% of the common stock of WABCO to the holders of record of Tranes common stock on July 19

2007 the Distribution The Distribution was effected through separation and distribution agreement pursuant to

which Trane distributed all of the shares of WABCO common stock as dividend on Trane common stock in the

amount of one share of WABCO common stock for every three shares of outstanding Trane common stock to each

stockholder on the record date Trane received private letter ruling from the Internal Revenue Service and an

opinion from tax counsel indicating that the spin-off was tax free to the stockholders of Trane and WABCO Please

refer to Item of Part Risk Factors below for information on the tax risks associated with the spin-off from

Trane

Our Relationship with Trane

On July 16 2007 we entered into definitive agreements with Trane the Spin-off Agreements that among
other things set forth the terms and conditions of our separation from Trane Separation and provide framework

for the relationship between WABCO and Trane following the Separation The Spin-off Agreements govern our

relationship with Trane subsequent to the completion of the Separation and provide for the allocation between

WABCO and Trane of assets liabilities and obligations attributable to periods prior to the Separation In addition to

the Separation and Distribution Agreement which contains many of the ky provisions related to the Separation of

WABCO and the Distribution of WABCOs common stock to Tranes shareholders the parties also entered into

Tax Sharing Agreement Transition Services Agreement an Employee Matters Agreement and an Indemnification

and Cooperation Agreement summary of each such agreement is set forth below

Separation and Distribution Agreement sets forth WABCOs agreements with Trane regarding principal

transactions necessary to separate WABCO from Trane This agreement also sets forth the other agreements that

govern certain aspects of WABCOs relationship with Trane after the completion of the Separation from Trane and

provides for the allocation of certain assets to be transferred liabilities to be assumed and contracts to be assigned

to WABCO and Trane as part of the Separation



Tax Sharing Agreement governs the parties respective rights responsibilities and obligations after the

Distribution with respect to taxes including ordinary course of business taxes and taxes if any incurred as result

of any failure of the Distribution of all of the common shares of WABCO to qualify as tax-free distribution for U.S
federal income tax purposes within the meaning of Section 355 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended

Transition Services Agreement governed the orderly transition of WABCO becoming an independent

company Under the Transition Services Agreement WABCO and Trane agreed to provide each other with various

services including services relating to human resources payroll treasury and risk management environmental

technology tax compliance telecommunications services and information technology services The cost of each

transition service was generally on the same payment terms and calculated using the same cost allocation

methodologies for the particular service as those associated with the costs in the historical financial statements The

majority of the services provided under the transition services agreement expired on February 2008

Employee Matters Agreement allocates liabilities and responsibilities relating to employee compensation and

benefit plans and programs and other related matters in connection with the Separation including the treatment of

outstanding incentive awards and certain retirement and welfare benefit obligations both in and outside of the

United States For further detail please refer to Note Capital Stock in the notes to the consolidated financial

statements

Indemnification and Cooperation Agreement Pursuant to this agreement WABCO Europe BVBA an indirect

wholly-owned subsidiary of WABCO has agreed to be responsible for and to indemnify certain American Standard

and Bath and Kitchen companies which were named in Statement of Objections alleging infringements of

European Union competition regulations as well as their respective affiliates successors and assigns against any

fines related to the European Commissions investigation as outlined in the Statement of Objections received by

American Standard and certain of its European subsidiaries on March 28 2007 For further detail please refer to

Legal Proceedings below and Note 13 Warranties Guarantees Commitments and Contingencies in the notes to

the consolidated financial statements

Products and ServIces

We develop manufacture and sell advanced braking stability suspension and transmission control systems

primarily for commercial vehicles Our largest-selling products are pneumatic anti-lock braking systems ABS
electronic braking systems EBS automated manual transmission systems air disk brakes and large array of

conventional mechanical products such as actuators air compressors and air control valves for heavy- and

medium-sized trucks trailers and buses We also supply advanced electronic suspension controls and vacuum

pumps to the car and SUV markets in Europe and North America In addition we sell replacement parts diagnostic

tools training and other services to commercial vehicle aftermarket distributors repair shops and fleet operators

WABCO is leader in improving highway safety with products that help drivers prevent accidents by

enhancing vehicle responsiveness and stability For example we offer stability control system for trucks and

buses that constantly monitors the vehicles motion and dynamic stability If the system detects vehicle instability

such as the driver swerving to avoid another vehicleit responds by applying the brakes at specific wheels or

slowing the vehicle down to minimize the risk of instability or rollover Additionally we have created the

commercial vehicle industrys first autonomous emergency braking system OnGuardMAXTM which assists in

collision imminent situations with moving or stopped vehicles This highly technological system fuses data from

video and laser sensors integrates with braking the engine transmission and stability control systems to assist the

driver in reducing risks of collision



Our key product groups and functions are described below

WABCO KEY PRODUCT GROUPS

SYSTEM PRODUCT FUNCTION

Actuator Converts Energy Stored in Compressed Air into

Mechanical Force Applied to Foundation Brake to

Slow or Stop Commercial Vehicles

Air Compressor and Air Processing/Air

Management System Provides Compressed Dried Air for Braking

Suspension and other Pneumatic Systems on Trucks

Buses and Trailers

Foundation Brake Transmits Braking Force to Disc or Drum

Connected to the Wheel to Slow Stop or Hold

Vehicles

Anti-lock Braking System ABS Prevents Wheel Locking during Braking to Ensure

Steerability_and_Stability

Conventional Braking System Mechanical and Pneumatic Devices for Control of

Braking_Systems_in_Commercial Vehicles

Electronic Braking System EBS Electronic Controls of Braking Systems for

Commercial Vehicles

Electronic and Conventional Air Suspension Systems Level Control of Air Springs in Trucks Buses Trailers

and Cars

Transmission Automation Automates Transmission Gear Shifting for Trucks and

Buses

Vehicle Electronic Stability Control ESC and Roll

Stability Support ASS Enhances Driving Stability

Key Markets and Trends

Electronically controlled products and systems are important for the growth of our business The market for

these products is driven primarily by the growing electronics content of control systems in commercial vehicles The

electronics content has been increasing steadily with each successive platform introduction as original equipment

manufacturers OEM5 look to improve safety and performance through added functionalities and meet evolving

regulatory safety standards Overall the trends in commercial vehicle design show shift in demand towards

electronics content Although the pace varies this is trend in all major geographies and braking systems are part

of this broader shift from conventional to advanced electronic systems In addition to increasing safety improving

stopping distances and reducing installation complexity advanced EBS also allow for new functionality to be

introduced into vehicles at lower price The new functionality includes stability control adaptive cruise control

automated transmission controls brake performance warning vehicle diagnostics driver assistance systems and

engine braking/speed control Adaptive cruise control uses sensors to detect proximity to other vehicles and

automatically adjusts speed Automated transmission controls reduce the amount of gear shifting resulting in less

physical effort and training required for drivers less component wear fewer parts better fuel efficiency and

enhanced driver safety and comfort

fundamental driver of demand for our products is commercial truck production Commercial truck production

generally follows multi-year cyclical pattern While the number of new commercial vehicles built fluctuates each

year we have over the last five years demonstrated the ability to grow in excess of these fluctuations by increasing

the amount of content on each vehicle During this period WABCOs European sales to truck and bus TB OEM
customers grew at an average annual rate of approximately 11% excluding the impact of foreign currency

exchange rates and over the period outperformed the Western European TB production

Year to Year Change 2004

Sales to European TB OEMs at constant FX rate 23%
Western European TB Production 19%

Average
2005 2006 2007 2008 Change

-s-6% 10% 4-12% 4% 11%
5% 5% 10% 4% 9%



In the fourth quarter of 2008 the global commercial vehicle markets experienced the beginning of significant

decline that is unprecedented in its breadth depth and speed It is currently accelerating into the first part of 2009

The uncertainty of the development of the global economy makes it difficult to predict how demand for commercial

vehicles will develop in 2009

Customers

We sell our products primarily to four groups of customers around the world truck and bus OEMs trailer

OEMs commercial vehicle aftermarket distributors for replacement parts and services and major car

manufacturers Our largest customer is Daimler which accounts for approximately 15% of our sales Other key

customers include Arvin Mentor China National Heavy Truck Corporation CNHTC Cummins Fiat lveco Hino

Hyundai International Truck Engine Corporation ITE MAN Nutzfahrzeuge AG MAN Mentor WABCO joint

venture Nissan Diesel Paccar DAF Trucks NV DAF Kenworth Leyland and Peterbilt Otto Sauer

Achsenfabnik SAF Scania Volvo Mack and Renault and ZF Fniedrichshafen AG ZF For the fiscal year ended

December 31 2008 our top 10 customers accounted for approximately 56% of our sales In 2008 WABCO marked

another milestone as global technology leader as the Company began supplying its highly advanced modular

automated manual transmission AMT system to CNHTC which became the worlds first original equipment

manufacturer to adopt this AMT system in volume production WABCO was recognized in 2008 with supplier

award for Commercial Excellence 2007 by Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles in Brazil in addition to being named
Best Supplier 2007 by KAMAZ the largest manufacturer of commercial vehicles in the Russian Federation

Finally WABCO was named Commercial Vehicle Supplier of the Year 2008 in the UK from the Automotive

Distribution Federation ADF marking the third consecutive year WABCO has earned this award

The largest group of our customers representing approximately 62% of sales consists of truck and bus OEMs
who are large increasingly global and few in number due to industry consolidation As truck and bus OEMs grow

globally they expect suppliers to grow with them beyond their traditional markets and become reliable partners

especially in the development of new technologies WABCO has strong reputation for technological innovation

and often collaborates closely with major OEM customers to design and develop the technologies used in their

products Our products play an important role in vehicle safety and there are few other suppliers who compete

across the breadth of products that we supply As result pricing pressure though increasing is generally lower

than for providers of more commoditized products or passenger cars and light truck product suppliers

The second largest group representing approximately 21% of sales consists of the commercial vehicle

aftermarket distributor network that provides replacement parts to commercial vehicle operators This distributor

network is fragmented and diverse group of customers covering broad spectrum from large OE-affiliated or

owned distributors to small independent local distributors The increasing number of commercial trucks in operation

world-wide that are equipped with our products continuously increases demand for replacement parts and services

thus generating growing stream of recurring aftermarket sales Additionally we continue to develop an array of

service offerings such as diagnostics training and other services to repair shops and fleet operators that will further

enhance our presence and growth in the commercial vehicle aftermarket

The next largest group representing approximately 13% of sales consists of trailer manufacturers Trailer

manufacturers are also fragmented group of local or regional players with great diversity in business size focus

and operation Trailer manufacturers are highly dependent on suppliers such as WABCO to provide technical

expertise and product knowledge Similar to truck and bus OEMs trailer manufacturers rely heavily on our products

for important safety functions and superior technology

The smallest group representing approximately 4% of sales consists of car and SUV manufacturers to whom
WABCO sells electronic air suspension systems and vacuum pumps Electronic air suspension is luxury feature

with increasing penetration and above market growth Vacuum pumps are used with diesel and GDI engines and

therefore enjoy higher than average growth rates associated with increasing diesel and GDI applications in Europe

and Asia These customers are typically large global sophisticated and demand high product quality and overall

service levels



We address our customers through global sales force that is organized around key accounts and customer

groups and interfaces with product marketing and management to identify opportunities and meet customer needs

across its product portfolio

Europe represents approximately 76% of our sales with the remainder coming primarily from the Americas and

Asia Our products are also manufactured in Europe Asia and in the Americas

WABCO SALES

BY GEOGRAPHY MAJOR END-MARKETS

AsiaiResf of World of Sale
12%

/1

Truck Bus products OEMs 62%

Arnenca7
Aftermarket 21%

Trailer Products 13%

Car products 4%

Backlog

Information on our backlog is set forth under Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial

Condition and Results of Operations Backlog of this annual report

Cyclical and Seasonal Nature of Business

Information on the cyclical and seasonal nature of our business is set forth under item Managements

Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Cyclical and Seasonal Nature of

Business of this annual report

Growth Strategy

Our growth strategy is focused on four key platforms technology innovation geographic expansion

aftermarket growth and opportunistic automotive application of our products and systems Drivers of growth for both

our aftermarket and advanced car systems are discussed in Customers above

Technology

We continue to drive growth by utilizing our industry-leading expertise in developing electronically controlled

systems including braking transmission automation air suspension and air management systems We have

strong track record of innovation and are responsible for some of the indutrys most important innovations

including

First heavy-duty truck anti-lock braking system ABS

First electronically controlled air suspension ECAS system for commercial vehicles

First commercial vehicle automated manual transmission controls system

First electronic stability control ESC system for commercial vehicles

First collision safety system with active braking developed for the North American market based on

Adaptive Cruise Control technology ACC and

First autonomous emergency braking AEB system for commercial vehicles for collision imminent

situations with moving or stopped vehicles



We continue to expand our product and technology portfolio by introducing new products and functionalities

and by improving the penetration of recently launched technologies Advanced products and tunctionalities are

typicalty developed and adopted first in Europe and then migrate to North America and Asia Important examples
include the adoption of ABS and automated transmission systems that were first widely adopted in European
markets before starting to penetrate North America Over the last three years we spent approximately $250 million

for research activities product development and product engineering

We are also focused on longer-term opportunities particularly in the area of Driver Assistance Systems DAS
DAS is technology concept that involves connecting advanced sensors with truck control devices such as braking

and steering systems as well as engine controls to improve safety and avoid collisions During 2008 we launched

OnGuardMAXTM which is the worlds first autonomous emergency braking system for commercial vehicles and is

expected to be available for production in 2010 keeping WABCO well positioned for future growth in this area

Geographic Expansion

We continue to drive sales in the high growth markets of Eastern Europe China and India In Eastern Europe
we have been manufacturing products since 2001 The market in Eastern Europe although currently experiencing

the effects of the global economic slowdown has historically experienced rapid growth and we have established

relationships with local customers

China is key long-term growth market for us Although the current global economic slowdown is impacting
China in the near term the adoption of more advanced braking safety and other related systems is increasing and

the number of trucks built in the country is expected to continue to increase in the longer term We have been in

China since 1996 and are the leading provider of ABS systems with strong brand and established customer

relationships In the short-to medium-term growth will be driven by the enforcement of existing regulations making
ABS mandatory on trucks buses and trailers of which we are well positioned to take advantage The introduction of

our air compressors to this market helped support our 2008 growth Additional near term growth will be driven by

introducing other new products into the local market such as our new generation air disc brakes clutch servos and

automated manual transmission AMT systems We have begun to supply our highly advanced modular AMT
systems to CNHTC in China further strengthening our ability to grow in this market To serve the growing demand
for products both in China and for export we have two facilities to manufacture conventional products advanced

systems such as ABS and new modular air compressors In addition we completed joint venture agreement in

December 2008 with Guangdong FUWA Heavy Industry Co Ltd FUWA which will provide for the production of

air disc brakes in China In order to make sure opportunities in Asia receive enough focus and management
attention we have increased our management presence in the region

India although currently experiencing the effects of the global economic slowdown is another future growth
market for us due to the number of trucks being built as well as the expected future adoption of more advanced

systems in commercial vehicles We participate in the market through joint venture with the TVS Group
WABCO-TVS INDIA Ltd which sells primarily conventional braking products as more advanced systems have

only begun to be adopted India also provides strong base for sourcing and engineering activities which we are

actively developing As agreed upon in 2008 with the TVS Group WABCO will take majority ownership position in

this business by the third quarter of 2009 further strengthening the Companys presence in this market The joint

venture is described in more detail in the section titled Joint Ventures

Competition

Given the importance of technological leadership vehicle life-cycle expertise reputation for quality and

reliability and the growing joint collaboration between OEMs and suppliers to drive new product development the

space in which we mostly operate has not historically had large number of competitors Our principal competitors

are Knorr-Bremse Knorrs U.S subsidiary is Bendix Commercial Vehicle Systems and in certain categories

Haldex In the advanced electronics categories automotive players such as Bosch automotive and Continental

including Siemens-VDO have recently been present in some commercial vehicle applications In the mechanical

product categories several Asian competitors are emerging primarily in China who are focused on low complexity

products



Manufacturing and Operations

Most of our manufacturing sites and distribution centers produce and/or house broad range of products and

serve all different types of customers Currently over 55% of our manufacturing workforce is located in low cost

countries such as China and Poland compared with approximately 10% in 1999 Facilities in low cost countries have

helped reduce costs on the simpler and more labor-intensive products while the facilities in Western Europe are

focused on producing more technologically advanced products All facilities globally are deploying Six Sigma Lean

initiatives to improve productivity and reduce costs By applying the Six Sigma philosophy and tools we seek to

improve quality and predictability of our process Lean is geared towards eliminating waste in our supply chain

manufacturing and administrative processes Both methodologies are customer driven and data based In addition

our global supply chain team makes decisions on where to manufacture which products taking into account such

factors as local and export demand customer approvals cost key supplier locations and factory capabilities

Our global sourcing organization purchases wide variety of components including electrical electro

mechanical cast aluminum products and steel as well as copper rubber and plastic containing components that

represent substantial portion of manufacturing costs We source products on global basis from three key

regions Western Europe Central and Eastern Europe and Asia To support the continuing shift of manufacturing to

low cost countries we also continue to shift more of our sourcing to low cost regions Under the leadership of the

global sourcing organization which is organized around commodity and product groups we identify and develop

key suppliers and seek to integrate them as partners into our extended enterprise Many of our Western European

suppliers are accompanying us on our move to low cost countries Since 1999 the share of our sourcing from low

cost regions has increased from 10% to approximately 38%

We have developed strong position in the design development engineering and testing of products

components and systems We are generally regarded in the industry as systems expert having in-depth technical

knowledge and capabilities to support the development of advanced technology applications Key customers

depend on us and will typically involve us very early in the development process as they begin designing next

generation platforms We have approximately 1000 employees dedicated to developing new products components

and systems as well as supporting and enhancing current applications Our sales organization hosts application

engineers that are based near customers in all regions around the world and are partially resident at some

customer locations We also have significant resources in low cost countries performing functions such as drawings

testing and software component development We operate test tracks in Germany Finland for extreme weather

test conditions and India through our India joint venture

Joint Ventures

We use joint venture partners globally to expand and enhance our access to customers Our important joint

ventures are

50 percent owned joint venture in North America with Arvin Mentor Automotive Inc Mentor WABCO
that markets ABS and other vehicle control products

majority-owned 70% partnership in the U.S with Cummins Engine Co WABCO Compressor

Manufacturing Co manufacturing partnership formed to produce air compressors designed by

WABCO

majority-owned joint venture 70% in China with Mingshui Automotive Fitting Factory MAFF that

provides conventional mechanical products to the local market

majority-owned joint venture 90% in Japan with Sanwa-Seiki that distributes WABCOs products in the

local market

In December 2008 WABCO entered into an agreement with Guangdong FUWA Heavy Industry Co Ltd

FUWA to form joint venture for production of air disc brakes in China FUWA is the largest

manufacturer of commercial trailer axles in China and in the world WABCO will have 70 percent holding

and FUWA will have 30 percent holding in the joint venture which will be located at FUWAs newly

established manufacturing facility in Taishan Guangdong China The joint venture will encompass

manufacturing assembly and testing of air disc brakes for commercial trailers



Minority equity investments in joint ventures in India with the TVS Group 39% The joint venture

previously manufactured and sold both brakes and non-brakes related products however we and our

Indian joint venture partner separated the non-brakes division from the brakes division through plan of

demerger which was approved by the Madras High Court and became effective on March 28 2008 under

Indian law As result of the demerger the brakes business of Sundaram-Clayton Ltd SCL was

transferred to new company WABCO-TVS INDIA Ltd the shares of which are listed in India as are the

shares of SCL See Item Managements Discussion and analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations Equity in Net Income of Unconsolidated Joint Ventures and Other lncome/Expense for

more detail on the demerger

minority equity investment in joint venture in South Africa where we have 49% ownership joint

venture with Sturrock Robson Ltd WABCO SA distributor of braking systems products

Employees

We have approximately 7200 employees Approximately 55% of our employees are salaried and 45% are

hourly Approximately 80% of our workforce is in Europe 13% is in Asia and the remaining 7% is in the Americas

All but approximately 600 of our employees are permanent employees Approximately 25% of the non-permanent

employees are hired through employment agencies and approximately 75% have limited term contracts

Approximately 1000 employees work in engineering/product development

Employees located in our sites in Europe Asia and South America are subject to collective bargaining with

internal company agreements or external agreements at the region or country level Currently 70% of our workforce

is covered by collective bargaining agreement and 50% of those agreements expire within the current year These

employees right to strike is typically protected by law and union membership is confidential information which does

not have to be provided to the employer The collective bargaining agreements are typically renegotiated on an

annual basis Our U.S facilities are non-union We have maintained good relationships with our employees around

the world and historically have experienced very few work stoppages

Intellectual Property

Patents and other proprietary rights are important to our business We also rely upon trade secrets

manufacturing know-how continuing technological innovations and licensing opportunities to maintain and rnprove

our competitive position We review third-party proprietary rights including patents and patent applications as

available in an effort to develop an effective intellectual property strategy avoid infringement of third-party

proprietary rights identify licensing opportunities and monitor the intellectual property claims of others

We own large portfolio of patents that principally relate to our products and technologies and we have from

time to time licensed some of our patents Patents for individual products and processes extend for varying periods

according to the date of patent filing or grant and the legal term of patents in various countries where patent

protection is obtained

The WABCO brand is also protected by trademark registrations throughout the world in the key markets in

which our products are sold

While we consider our patents and trademarks to be valuable assets we do not believe that our competitive

position is dependent upon patent and trademark protection or that our operations are materially dependent upon

any single patent or group of related patents

Environmental Regulation

Our operations are subject to local state federal and foreign environmental laws and regulations that govern

activities or operations that may have adverse environmental effects and which impose liability for clean-up costs

resulting from past spills disposals or other releases of hazardous wastes and environmental compliance

Generally the international requirements that impact the majority of our operations tend to be no more restrictive

than those in effect in the U.S



Throughout the world we have been dedicated to being an environmentally responsible manufacturer

neighbor and employer We have number of proactive programs under way to minimize our impact on the

environment and believe that we are in substantial compliance with environmental laws and regulations

Manufacturing facilities are audited on regular basis Eleven of our manufacturing facilities have Environmental

Management Systems EMS which have been certified as ISO 14001 compliant These facilities are those located

in

Claye-Souilly France Campinas Brazil Wroclaw Poland

Gronau Germany Hannover Germany Jinan China

Leeds UK Pyungtaek Korea Qingdao China

Meppel Netherlands Mannheim Germany

number of our facilities are undertaking responsive actions to address groundwater and soil issues

Expenditures in 2008 to evaluate and remediate these sites were not material

Additional sites may be identified for environmental remediation in the future including properties previously

transferred and with respect to which the Company may have contractual indemnification obligations

Available Information

Our web site is located at www.wabco-auto.com Our periodic reports and all amendments to those reports

required to be filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 are

available free of charge through the web site During the period covered by this report we posted our periodic

reports on Form 10.0 and our current reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to those documents to our web

site as soon as such reports were filed or furnished electronically with the SEC We will continue to post to our web

site such reports and amendments as soon as reasonably practicable after such reports are filed with or furnished

to the SEC

Code of Conduct and Ethics

Our Code of Conduct and Ethics which applies to all employees including all executive officers and senior

financial officers and directors is posted on our web site www.wabco-auto.com The Code of Conduct and Ethics is

compliant with Item 406 of SEC Regulation S-K and the NYSE corporate governance listing standards Any

changes to the Code of Conduct and Ethics that affect the provisions required by Item 406 of Regulation S-K will

also be disclosed on the web site

Any waivers of the Code of Conduct and Ethics for our executive officers directors or senior financial officers

must be approved by our Audit Committee and those waivers if any are ever granted would be disclosed on our

web site under the caption Exemptions to the Code of Conduct and Ethics There have been no waivers to the

Code of Conduct and Ethics

Availability of Corporate Governance Principles and Board of Director Committee Charters

The Board of Directors has adopted charters for its Audit Committee and Compensation Nominating and

Governance Committee The Board has also adopted Corporate Governance Principles and the Companys

Definition of Director Independence The Corporate Governance Principles the Companys Definition of Director

Independence the Code of Conduct and Ethics referenced above and each of the charters are available on the

Companys web site These materials together with the Code of Conduct and Ethics referenced above are

available in print to any shareholder who requests them in writing by contacting the Assistant Secretary of the

Company at One Centennial Avenue P.O Box 6820 Piscataway New Jersey 08855

NYSE Corporate Governance Certification

Pursuant to Rule 303A.12a of the New York Stock Exchanges corporate governance listing standards the

Companys Chief Executive Officer certified to the New York Stock Exchange in 2008 that he was not aware of any

violation by the Company of the NYSE corporate governance listing standards as of the date of such certification
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Sarbanes-Oxiey Act Section 302 Certifications

The certification of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the Company pursuant to

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 have been filed as exhibits to this Form 10-K

ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS

Any of the following factors could materially adversely affect our future operating results as well as other factors

included in Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations In formation

Concerning Forward Looking Statements

Risks Relating to Our Business

The current credit crisis and global recession are negatively Impacting our customers and could

continue to result in reduced demand for our products which has had and could continue to have

significant negative impact on our business

The credit markets have experienced period of unprecedented turmoil and upheaval characterized by

significantly reduced or even eliminated availability of credit increased borrowing cósts and even the bankruptcy

failure collapse or sale of several large financial institutions We are now in recession that is having global

impact The disruptions in the credit markets and impact of more prolonged global recession could continue to

negatively impact consumer confidence and spending patterns and cause our customers to reduce truck and bus

production This in turn could have negative impact on our business and results of operations including our

effective tax rate our operating cash flows and our financial condition

We may be unable to pay any significant fine Imposed by the European Commission if we are unable to

access our existing credit facilities or arrange for alternative sources of debt capital

As discussed in greater detail in Item Legal Proceedings Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Results of Operations and Financial Condition Liquidity with Regard to European Commission Fine and Note 13

Warranties Guarantees Commitments and Contingencies we are required to indemnify our former parent

company American Standard and Ideal Standard International and their respective owners against any fines that

may be imposed by the European Commission in connection with multi-company investigation commenced in

2004 relating to alleged infringement of EU competition rules in the Bath and Kitchen fixtures market The tine

imposed by the Commission could be material to our operating results and cash flows for the year in which the

liability would be recognized or the fine paid

In the fourth quarter of 2008 the global commercial vehicle markets experienced the beginning of significant

decline that is unprecedented in its breadth depth and speed It is currently accelerating into the first part of 2009
Our existing credit facilities contain number of covenants that require us to maintain certain defined financial

metrics associated with our earnings before we can access the funds available under the facilities If the current

global industry downturn continues to significantly impact our customers negatively and the demand for our

products in such way as to significantly reduce our earnings we may be unable to access our existing credit

facilities due to an inability to meet these financial covenants In addition if the current problems in the credit

markets persist we may be unable to access alternative debt capital on favorable terms or at all If we are unable to

access our existing credit facilities obtain alternative sources of financing or obtain some payment relief from the

Commission or suspension of the payment obligation from the European Court of First Instance and the fine

exceeds our funding capability at that time then our financial condition and liquidity would be materially adversely

affected

We may be unable to draw down on existing credit facilities if our current lenders fall and we may be unable

to access at all or on acceptable terms alternative sources of credit or the debt capital markets due to the

global disruptions In these markets

The turmoil in the financial services industry has led to the bankruptcy failure collapse or sale of several large

financial institutions Despite an unprecedented level of intervention from both the United States federal government
and certain European governments there can be no assurance that government responses to this crisis will stabilize
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the credit and debt capital markets or increase liquidity and the availability of credit generally Our ability to meet

significant obligations such as the payment of any significant fine which may be imposed by the European

Commission as discussed immediately above depends on the financial health of our lenders their ability to meet their

own obligations under our credit facilities and the availability of the credit markets generally

Our sales could decline due to macro-economic factors cycilcality of the industry regulatory changes and

other factors outside of our control

Changes in economic conditions cyclical downturns in our industry regulatory changes impacting the

purchasing patterns of commercial vehicles and changes in the local economies of the countries or regions in

which we sell our products such as changes in consumer confidence increases in interest rates and increases in

unemployment many of which are now occurring as result of the global recession are likely to further affect

demand for our products which could negatively affect our business and results of operations

Demand for new trucks and buses in the markets in which we operate has significant impact on our sales

While in the last few years and well into 2008 heavy truck and bus production had increased in our largest market

Western Europe this market along with others has been significantly affected by the downturn In 2008 Western

Europe accounted for approximately 52% of our total sales and North America accounted for approximately 8% of

our total sales The adverse economic conditions in our markets particularly in Western Europe and other factors

has caused our customers to reduce truck and bus production which will continue to have an adverse effect on our

results of operations and cashflows until conditions improve

Our exposure to exchange rate fluctuations on cross border transactions and the translation of local

currency results into U.S dollars could negatively impact our results of operations

We conduct business through subsidiaries in many different countries and fluctuations in currency exchange

rates have significant impact on the reported results of our operations which are presented in U.S dollars In

2008 approximately 94% of our combined sales occurred outside of the United States significant and growing

portion of our products are manufactured in lower-cost locations and sold in various countries Cross border

transactions both wIth external parties and intercompany relationships result in increased exposure to foreign

currency exchange effects Accordingly significant changes in the exchange rates of the euro U.S dollar and other

applicable currencies could cause fluctuations in the reported results of our operations that could negatively affect

our results of operations Additionally our results of operations are translated into U.S dollars for reporting

purposes The strengthening or weakening of the U.S dollar results in favorable or unfavorable translation effects

as the results of foreign locations are translated into U.S dollars In addition to our natural hedge from U.S dollar

transactions as discussed in Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk below we also

entered into cross currency swap to hedge particular foreign exchange exposure See Note 12-Debt for further

details

We are subject to general risks associated with our foreign operations

In addition to the currency exchange risks inherent in operating in many different foreign countries there are

other risks inherent in our international operations

The risks related to our foreign operations that we more often face in the normal course of business include

changes in non-U.S tax law increases in non-U.S tax rates and the amount of non-U.S earnings relative

to total combined earnings could change and impact our combined tax rate

foreign earnings may be subject to withholding requirements or the imposition of tariffs price or exchange

controls or other restrictions

general economic and political conditions in countries where we operate may have an adverse effect on

our operations in those countries and

we may have difficulty complying with variety of foreign laws and regulations some of which may conflict

with United States law and the uncertainty created by this legal environment could limit our ability to

effectively enforce our rights in certain markets

The ability to manage these risks could be difficult and may limit our operations and make the manufacture and

distribution of our products internationally more difficult which could negatively affect our business and results of

operations
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If we are unable to obtain component parts or obtain them at reasonable price levels our ability to maintain

existing sales margins may be affected

We purchase broad range of materials and components throughout the world in connection with our

manufacturing activities Major items include electronic components and parts containing aluminum steel copper

zinc rubber and plastics The cost of components and parts and the raw materials used therein represents

significant portion of our total costs Price increases of the underlying commodities may adversely affect our results

of operations Although we maintain alternative sources for components and parts our business is subject to the

risk of price fluctuations and periodic delays in the delivery of certain raw materials This risk is increasing due to the

current global recession which is already impacting some suppliers The sudden inability of supplier to deliver

components or to do so at reasonable prices could have temporary adverse effect on our production of certain

products or the cost at which we can produce those products Any change in the supply or price of raw materials

could materially adversely affect our future business and results of operations

If we are not able to maintain good relations with our employees we could suffer work stoppages that

could negatively affect our business and results of operations

Employees located in our sites in Europe Asia and South America are subject to collective bargaining with

internal company agreements or external agreements at the region or country level These employees right to

strike is typically protected by law and union membership is confidential information which does not have to be

provided to the employer Our U.S facilities are non-union Any disputes with our employee base could result in

work stoppages or labor protests which could disrupt our operations Any such labor disputes could negatively

affect our business and results of operations

We are dependent on key customers

We rely on several key customers For the fiscal year ending December 31 2008 our top ten customers

accounted for 56% of our sales and our top three customers accounted for approximately 15% 10% and 5%
respectively of our sales This includes sales to our 50%-owned Mentor WABCO joint venture in North America

Many of our customers place orders for products on an as-needed basis and operate in cyclical industries and as

result their order levels have varied from period to period in the past and may vary significantly in the future Such

customer orders are dependent upon their markets and customers and may be subject to delays or cancellations

As result of dependence on our key customers we have experienced to some degree and could experience in the

future material adverse effect on our business and results of operations if any of the following were to occur

the loss of any key customer in whole or in part

declining market in which customers reduce orders or demand reduced prices or

strike or work stoppage at key customer facility which could affect both their suppliers and customers

If there are changes in the environmental or other regulations that affect one or more of our current or

future products It could have negative impact on our business and results of operations

We are currently subject to various environmental and other regulations in the U.S and internationally risk of

environmental
liability

is inherent in our current and former manufacturing activities Under certain environmental

laws we could be held jointly and severally responsible for the remediation of any hazardous substance

contamination at our past and present facilities and at third party waste disposal sites and could also be held liable

for damages to natural resources and any consequences arising out of human exposure to such substances or

other environmental damage While we have number of proactive programs underway to minimize the impact of

the production and use of our products on the environment and believe that we are in substantial compliance with

environmental laws and regulations we cannot predict whether there will be changes in the environmental

regulations affecting our products

Any changes in the environmental and other regulations which affect our current or future products could have

negative impact on our business if we are unable to adjust our product offering to comply with such regulatory

changes In addition it is possible that we will incur increased costs as result of complying with environmental

regulations which could have material adverse effect on our business results of operations and financial

condition
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We may be subject to product liability and warranty and recall claims which may increase the costs of

doing business and adversely affect our business financial condition and results of operations

We are subject to risk of product liability or warranty claims if our products actually or allegedly fail to perform

as expected or the use of our products results or is alleged to result in bodily injury and/or property damage While

we maintain reasonable limits of insurance coverage to appropriately respond to such exposures large product

liability claims if made could exceed our insurance coverage limits and insurance may not continue to be available

on commercially acceptable terms if at all We cannot assure you that we will not incur significant costs to defend

these claims or that we will not experience any product liability losses in the future In addition if any of our

designed products are or are alleged to be defective we have been required to participate in recalls and exchanges

of such products in the past and we may be in the future in the past five years our warranty expense has

fluctuated between approximately 1.3% and 2.6% of sales on an annual basis Individual quarters were above or

below the annual averages The future cost associated with providing product warranties and/or bearing the cost of

repair or replacement of our products could exceed our historical experience and have material adverse effect on

our business financial condition and results of operations

We are required to plan our capacity well in advance of production and our success depends on having

available capacity and effectively using it

We principally compete for new business at the beginning of the development of our customers new products

Our customers new product development generally begins significantly prior to the marketing and production of

their new products and our supply of our products generally lasts for the life of our customers products

Nevertheless our customers may move business to other suppliers or request price reductions during the life cycle

of product The long development and sales cycle of our new products combined with the specialized nature of

many of our facilities and the resulting difficulty in shifting work from one facility to another could result in variances

in capacity utilization In order to meet our customers requirements we may be required to supply our customers

regardless of cost and consequently we may suffer an adverse impact on our operating profit margins and results of

operations

We must continue to make technological advances or we may not be able to successfully compete In our

industry

We operate in an industry in which technological advancements are necessary to remain competitive

Accordingly we devote substantial resources to improve already technologically complex products and to remain

leader in technological innovation However if we fail to continue to make technological improvements or our

competitors develop technologically superior products it could have an adverse effect on our operating results or

financial condition

Risks Relating to the Separation

We have limited operating history as separate public company and our historical financial in formation

prior to Separation is not necessarily representative of the results we would have achieved as separate

public company and may not be reliable Indicator of our future results

The historical financial information included in this annual report does not fully reflect the financial condition

results of operations or cash flows that we would have achieved as separate publicly traded company during the

periods presented or those that we will achieve in the future primarily as result of the following factors

Prior to our Separation our business was operated by Trane as part of its broader corporate organization

rather than as an independent company Trane and certain of its affiliates performed various corporate

functions for us including but not limited to tax administration certain governance functions including

compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and internal audit and external reporting and human

resource administration Our historical and pro forma financial results reflect allocations of corporate

expenses from Trane for these and similarfunctions These allocations may be more or less than the

comparable expenses we believe we would have incurred had we operated as separate publicly traded

company

Other significant changes may occur in our cost structure management financing and business

operations as result of our operating as company separate from Trane
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We have experienced and will continue to experience increased costs as result of the Separation

significant portion of the expenses to effect the separation were incurred by Trane such as investment

banking fees external legal and accounting fees legal reorganization and restructuring tax costs to separate

information systems and temporary consulting costs WABCO incurred separation costs such as indemnification

and other tax related costs stock compensation expense relating to the Distribution external legal and consulting

fees and other items WABCO also expects to incur costs relating to the European Commission fine

If the distribution of our shares were to fall to qualify as tax-free for U.S federal income tax purposes under

Section 355 of the Code the Code then our shareholders we or Trane may be required to pay U.S
federal Income taxes

Trane has received private letter ruling from the Internal Revenue Service IRS substantially to the effect

that the Distribution qualifies as tax-free for U.S federal income tax purposes under Section 355 of the Code In

addition Trane has received an opinion of Skadden Arps Slate Meagher Flom LLP tax counsel to Trane

substantially to the effect that the Distribution will qualify as tax-free to Trane us and our shareholders under

Section 355 and related provisions of the Code The ruling and opinion are based on among other things certain

assumptions as well as on the accuracy of certain factual representations and statements made by Trane and the

Company In rendering its ruling the IRS also relied on certain covenants that the Company and Trane entered into

including the adherence to certain restrictions on Tranes and the Companys future actions

Notwithstanding receipt by Trane of the private letter ruling and the opinion of counsel the IRS could assert

that the Distribution should be treated as taxable transaction If the Distribution fails to qualify for tax-free

treatment then Trane would recognize gain in an amount equal to the excess of the fair market value of our

common stock distributed to the Trane shareholders over ii Tranes tax basis in such common stock Under the

terms of the Tax Sharing Agreement in the event the Distribution were to fail to qualify as tax-free reorganization

and such failure was not the result of actions taken after the distribution by Trane or any of its subsidiaries or

shareholders we would be responsible for all taxes imposed on Trane as result thereof In addition each Trane

shareholder who received our common stock in the Distribution generally would be treated as having received

taxable Distribution in an amount equal to the fair market value of our common stock received including any
fractional share sold on behalf of the shareholder which would be taxable as dividend to the extent of the

shareholders ratable share of Tranes current and accumulated earnings and profits as increased to reflect any
current income including any gain recognized by Trane on the taxable distribution The balance it any of the

Distribution would be treated as nontaxable return of capital to the extent of the Trane shareholders tax basis in

its Trane stock with any remaining amount being taxed as capital gain

We have agreed to certain restrictions to preserve the treatment of the distribution of our common stock as

tax-free to Trane and its shareholders which will reduce our strategic and operating flexibility

In connection with the Separation we entered in to Tax Sharing Agreement with Trane which includes

covenants that we shall not take actions that could cause the Distribution to fail to qualify as tax-free transaction

including in certain cases redeeming equity securities selling or otherwise disposing of substantial portion of our

assets or acquiring businesses or assets with equity securities or entering into negotiations or agreements with

respect to such transactions in each case for period of 24 months from the day after the Distribution We
however may undertake any such action if we first obtain the consent of Trane or an opinion of counsel or private

letter ruling that such action will not adversely affect any conclusion in the private letter ruling or opinion of counsel

issued in connection with the distribution Moreover the Tax Sharing Agreement generally provides that we will be

responsible for any taxes imposed on Trane or us as result of the failure of the Distribution to qualify as tax-free

for U.S federal income tax purposes under Section 355 of the Code unless such failure is attributable to certain

post-distribution actions taken by Trane including its subsidiaries or its shareholders

We are responsible for certain of Tranes contingent and other corporate i/abilities

Under the Indemnification and Cooperation Agreement the Separation and Distribution Agreement and the Tax

Sharing Agreement our wholly-owned subsidiary WABCO Europe BVBA has assumed and is responsible for

certain contingent liabilities related to Tranes business including certain associated costs and expenses whether
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arising prior to at or after the Distribution and will indemnify Trane for these liabilities Among the contingent

liabilities against which we will indemnify Trane and the other indemnities are liabilities associated with an

investigation into alleged infringement of European Union competition regulations certain non-U.S tax liabilities and

certain U.S and non-U.S environmental liabilities associated with certain Trane entities

We will indemnify Trane Ideal Standard International including certain former European subsidiaries and

affiliates of the former American Standard group and their respective owners against any fines associated

with an investigation into alleged Infringement of European Union competition regulations

As part of multi-company investigation American Standard and certain of its European subsidiaries engaged

in the Bath and Kitchen business have been charged by the European Commission for alleged infringements of

European Union competition rules relating to the distribution of bathroom fixtures and fittings in number of

European countries Pursuant to the Indemnification and Cooperation Agreement WABCO Europe BVBA an

indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of WABCO will be responsible for and will indemnify American Standard now

Trane and Ideal Standard International including certain subsidiaries engaged or formerly engaged in the Bath

and Kitchen business and their respective affiliates against any fines related to this investigation See Item

Legal Proceedings for additional discussion of the procedural history response hearing and appeals process

related to the European Commission investigation

Risks Relating to Our Common Stock

Your percentage ownership in WABCO may be diluted in the future

Your percentage ownership in WABCO may be diluted in the future because of equity awards that have already

been granted and that we expect will be granted to our directors and officers in the future Prior to the Separation

and record date for the Distribution Trane approved an Omnibus Incentive Plan which provides for the grant of

equity-based awards including restricted stock restricted stock units stock options stock appreciation rights

phantom equity awards and other equity-based awards to our directors officers and other employees After the

Separation and record date for the Distribution WABCO has approved its own Omnibus Incentive Plan In the

future we may issue additional equity securities subject to limitations imposed by the Tax Sharing Agreement in

order to fund working capital needs capital expenditures and product development or to make acquisitions and

other investments which may dilute your ownership interest

We cannot assure you that we will pay any dividends or repurchase shares

While we currently expect to return value to our shareholders in the form of dividends there can be no

assurance that we will have sufficient surplus under Delaware law to pay any dividends While we have historically

returned value to shareholders in the form of share repurchases our ability to repurchase shares will be limited by

available cash and surplus Moreover all decisions regarding the declaration and payment of dividends and share

repurchases will be at the sole discretion of our Board and will be evaluated from time to time in light of our financial

condition earnings capital requirements of our business covenants associated with certain debt obligations legal

requirements regulatory constraints industry practice and other factors that our Board deems relevant

Our shareholder rights plan and provisions In our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and

amended and restated by-laws and of Delaware law may prevent or delay an acquisition of our company

which could decrease the trading price of our common stock

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation amended and restated by-laws and Delaware law

contain provisions that are intended to deter coercive takeover practices and inadequate takeover bids by making

such practices or bids unacceptably expensive to the raider and to encourage prospective acquirers to negotiate

with our Board of Directors rather than to attempt hostile takeover These provisions include among others

Board of Directors that is divided into three classes with staggered terms

elimination of the right of our shareholders to act by written consent

rules regarding how shareholders may present proposals or nominate directors for election at shareholder

meetings
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the right of our Board to issue preferred stock without shareholder approval and

limitations on the right of shareholders to remove directors

Delaware law also imposes some restrictions on mergers and other business combinations between us and

any holder of 15% or more of our outstanding common stock

On July 13 2007 our Board adopted shareholder rights plan which provides among other things that when

specified events occur our shareholders will be entitled to purchase from us newly created series of junior

preferred stock The preferred stock purchase rights are triggered by the earlier to occur of ten business days or
later date determined by our Board of Directors before the rights are separated from our common stock after the

public announcement that person or group has become an acquiring person by acquiring beneficial ownership of

15% or more of our outstanding common stock or ii ten business days or later date determined by our Board

before the rights are separated from our common stock after person or group begins tender or exchange offer

that if completed would result in that person or group becoming an acquiring person The issuance of preferred

stock pursuant to the shareholder rights plan would cause substantial dilution to person or group that attempts to

acquire us on terms not approved by our Board of Directors

We believe these provisions protect our shareholders from coercive or otherwise unfair takeover tactics by

requiring potential acquirers to negotiate with our Board and by providing our Board with more time to assess any

acquisition proposal These provisions are not intended to make our company immune from takeovers However
these provisions apply even if the offer may be considered beneficial by some shareholders and could delay or

prevent an acquisition that our Board determines is not in the best interests of our company and our shareholders

ITEM lB UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None

ITEM PROPERTIES

As of February 24 2009 we conducted our manufacturing activities at 12 plants in countries

Location Major Products Manufactured at Location

Campinas Brazil Vehicle control systems

Leeds England Vacuum pumps
Claye-Souilly France Vehicle control systems

Hanover Germany Vehicle control systems

Mannheim Germany Foundation brakes

Gronau Germany Compressors and hydraulics

Meppel Netherlands Actuators

Wroclaw Poland Vehicle control systems

Qingdao China
Braking systems

Jinan China Braking systems

Pyungtaek Korea
Braking systems

Charleston United States Compressors

We own all of the plants described above except for Claye-Souilly France Jinan China and Charleston U.S
which are leased Our properties are generally in good condition are well maintained and are generally suitable

and adequate to carry out our business In 2008 the manufacturing plants taken as whole met our capacity

needs

We also own or lease warehouse and office space for administrative and sales staff Our headquarters located

in Brussels Belgium and our executive offices located in Piscataway New Jersey are leased
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ITEM LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In addition to the matters described below we are party to variety of legal proceedings with respect to

environmental related employee related product related and general liability
and automotive litigation related

matters that arise in the normal course of our business While the results of these legal proceedings cannot be

predicted with certainty management believes that the final outcome of these proceedings will not have material

adverse effect on our combined results of operations or financial position

The European Commission Investigation

In November 2004 certain of American Standards European subsidiaries were contacted by the European

Commission as part of multi-company investigation into possible infringement of European Union competition

regulations relating to the distribution of bathroom fixtures and fittings in certain European countries In November

2005 the European Commission sent certain of American Standards European subsidiaries written request for

information On March 28 2007 American Standard and certain of its European subsidiaries engaged in the Bath

and Kitchen business received an administrative complaint entitled Statement of Objections from the European

Commission alleging infringements of European Union competition rules by numerous bathroom fixture and fittings

companies As result of legal reorganization that occurred in 2007 WABCO Eurppe BVBA an indirect wholly-

owned subsidiary of WABCO is responsible for and is liable to indemnify Trane and Ideal Standard International

representing the successor to the Bath and Kitchen business and owner of certain of the former American

Standard subsidiaries and their owners against any fines related to this investigation

American Standard and its charged European subsidiaries responded to the Statement of Objections on

July 31 2007 WABCO Europe BVBA attended hearing with the European Commission to present evidence

regarding the response to the Statement of Objections in November 2007 Following the hearing the European

Commission has twice requested additional information once in June 2008 requesting information regarding

revenue of the relevant entities for the year 2007 and again in December 2008 requesting information of WABCO
Ideal Standard International and Trane regarding the spin-off of WABCO from American Standard and certain

historic corporate information including data regarding the corporate structures of American Standard and its

successors before and after the spin-off and the transition of entities and/or assets to Trane and Ideal Standard

International We believe that the Commission will likely request further information regarding 2008 revenue before

imposing fine fine would under the applicable rules be required to be paid within three months of the decision

unless imposition of any such fine were appealed within two months of the decision in which case we would be

required to pay the fine or to provide bank guarantee for the full amount of the fine plus interest The appeals

process could take as long as 5-7 years during which time WABCO would not have access to such funds or would

be required to provide bank guarantee The Commission or the European Court of First Instance could agree to

waive or suspend this requirement for reasons of financial hardship however this outcome cannot be assured and

will depend on the relevant facts at the time See Note 13-Warranties Guarantees Commitments and

Contingencies in the notes to the consolidated financial statements for further detail

ITEM SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matter was submitted to vote of the Companys shareholders during the fourth quarter of 2008
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ITEM 4A EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The following table sets forth certain information as of February 24 2009 with respect to each person who is an

executive officer of the Company

Name Age Positions

Jacques Esculier 49 Chief Executive Officer and Director

Utrich Michel 46 Chief Financial Officer

Kevin Tarrant 51 Chief Human Resources Officer

Nikhil Varty 44 Vice President Compression Braking

Todd Weinblatt 39 Vice President and Controller Assistant Secretary

Jean-Christophe Figueroa 45 Vice President Vehicle Dynamics and Controls

Alfred Farha 46 Chief Legal Officer and Secretary

Each officer of the Company is appointed by the Board of Directors to term of office expiring on the date of

the first Board meeting after the Annual Meeting of Shareholders next succeeding his or her appointment or such

officers earlier resignation or removal

Set forth below is the principal occupation of each of the executive officers named above during the past five

years

Jacques Esculier has served as our Chief Executive Officer and director since July 2007 Prior to July 2007
Mr Esculier served as Vice President of Trane and President of its Vehicle Control Systems business position he

had held since January 2004 Prior to holding that position Mr Esculier served in the capacity of Business aader

for the Trane Commercial Systems Europe Middle East Africa India Asia Region from 2002 through January

2004 Prior to joining Trane in 2002 Mr Esculier spent more than six years in leadership positions at AlliedSignal/

Honeywell He was Vice President and General Manager of Environmental Control and Power Systems Enterprise

based in Los Angeles and Vice President of Aftermarket ServicesAsia Pacific based in Singapore

U/rich Michel has served as our Chief Financial Officer since July 2007 Prior to July 2007 Mr Michel served

as Chief Financial Officer of Tranes Vehicle Control Systems business position he had held since April 2005

Prior to holding that position Mr Michel served in the capacity of Chief Financial Officer for the Trane Commercial

Systems EMAIR Europe Middle East Africa India Region from 2003 through April 2005 Prior to joining frane

in 2003 Mr Michel spent more than six years in financial leadership positions at AlliedSignal/Honeywell with areas

of focus including mergers and acquisitions the Specialty Chemicals business and the Control Products business

in Europe Before joining AlliedSignal/Honeywell Mr Michel spent eight years at Price Waterhouse

Kevin Tarrant has served as our Chief Human Resources Officer since July 2007 Prior to July 2007
Mr Tarrant served for two years as Vice President Global Organization Effectiveness for Arrow Electronics in

Melville New York Prior to that Mr Tarrant was Senior Vice President of Human Resources for First Data

Resources in Denver Colorado from 2003 to 2005 after having served as Vice President of Human Resources for

First Datas Western Union International business headquartered in Paris France from 2002 to 2003 Before joining

First Data Mr Tarrant spent 10 years at the headquarters and business-unit level working for various Dun
Bradstreet Corporation businesses and six years at the Monsanto Companys chemical controls businesses

Nikhll Varty has served as our Vice President Compression and Braking since July 2007 Prior to July 2007
Mr Varty served as Vice President Compression and Braking of Tranes Vehicle Control Systems business

position he has held since January 2005 Prior to holding that position Mr Varty served in the capacity of Chief

Financial Officer of Tranes Vehicle Control Systems business Prior to joining Trane in June 2001 Mr Varty had

more than 10 years of national and international senior level finance roles with Great Lakes Chemical Corp
AlliedSignal/Honeywell and Coopers Lybrand

Todd Weinblatt has served as our Vice President and Controller since July 2007 and additionally as Assistant

Secretary since October 2007 Prior to July 2007 Mr Weinblatt served as Assistant Controller of Trane

position he had held since 2004 Before joining Trane Mr Weinblatt served as DirectorAccounting Policy and
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External Reporting at The Dun Bradstreet Corporation His prior experience includes six years at Lucent

Technologies Inc where he was Senior Manager of Accounting Policy and Mergers and Acquisitions He began

his career with Coopers Lybrand where he spent five years as an auditor

Jean-Christophe Figueroa has served as our Vice President Vehicle Dynamics and Controls since July 2007

Prior to July 2007 Mr Figueroa served in similar capacity within Tranes Vehicle Control Systems business

Mr Figueroa joined Trane in 2005 from tier-i automotive supplier Valeo where he had been Group Vice President

Purchasing based in Paris France Mr Figueroa spent 13 years in senior management business and purchasing

positions for Valeo including leadership of the Automotive Climate Control business in both Mexico and

subsequently Western Europe Prior to joining Valeo Mr Figueroa spent seven years with Pierburg Mexico in

various leadership positions in logistics purchasing and program management

Alfred Farha has served as our Chief Legal Officer and Secretary since July 2008 Prior to July 2008 Mr Farha

served as the General Counsel Europe of Flextronics for four years with additional global responsibility for

Flextronicss automotive business segment Previously Mr Farha was Senior Corporate Counsel at Cisco Systems

from 2000-2004 and at Unisys Corporation from 1996-2000 Prior to his in-house career he gained diverse

experience with leading corporate international law firms in Europe the US Japan and Venezuela He is member

of the Bar of the State of New York
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PART II

ITEM MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock is listed on NYSE under the symbol WBC The common stock was first traded regular

way on the NYSE on August 2007 concurrent with the completion of Tranes distribution of our common stock

Our Restated Certificate of Incorporation as amended authorizes the Company to issue up to 400000000
shares of common stock par value $.01 per share and 4000000 shares of preferred stock par value $01 per

share all of which have been designated by our Board of Directors as series of Junior Participating Cumulative

Preferred Stock We also have rights agreement Pursuant to the rights agreement when triggered in certain

takeover situations one preferred stock purchase right will be issued for each outstanding share of our common
stock

As of February 20 2009 there were 652 holders of record of the Companys common stock significant

number of the outstanding shares of common stock which are beneficially owned by individuals or entities are

registered in the name of nominee of The Depository Trust Company securities depository for banks and

brokerage firms We believe that there are approximately 26023 beneficial owners of our common stock as of

February 11 2009

We declared dividends of $9.6 million in 2007 and $18.3 million in 2008 on our common stock On January 29
2009 the Board of Directors declared first quarter 2009 dividend of $0.07 per share

Our common stock began trading on August 2007 Set forth below are the high and low sales prices for

shares of our common stock for in the third and fourth quarters of 2007 and for each quarterly period of 2008

Dividends
2007

High Low Declared

Third quarter $50.00 $41.00 $007
Fourth quarter $51.71 $45.88 $0.07

2008

First quarter $50.21 $38.01 $007
Second quarter $54.93 $42.77 $007
Third quarter $48.00 $33.66 $0.07

Fourth quarter $35.60 $11.56 $0.07
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ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our Board of Directors has approved expenditures under program to purchase shares of our common stock

in the open market On July 27 2007 our Board of Directors approved $500 million to purchase shares of our

common stock in the open market As of December 31 2008 the unexpended authorization on the current program

totaled $223.7 million Currently the Company is not making any additional share repurchases under the buy back

program Timing of future purchases will vary depending on financial market conditions and other factors

summary of the repurchase activity for 2008 follows See Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial

Condition and Results of OperationsLiquidity and Capital Resources for description of our stock repurchase

program

Total Number of Maximum Dollar

Shares Value of Shares

Purchased as Part That May Yet Be

Total Number Average of Publicly Purchased Under

of Shares PrIce Paid Announced Plans the Plans or

Period Purchased per Share or Programs Programs

January 1-January 31

February 1-February 29 180000 $43.64 180000 36931627.1

March 1-March 31 554200 $43.35 554200 345294165

Total first quarter .. 734200 $43.42 734200

April 1-April 30 422800 $44.98 422800 $326275871

May 1-May31 362900 $50.02 362900 $308124834

June 1-June30 603566 $51.17 603566 $277242594

Total second quarter 1389266 $48.98 1389266

July 1-July31 565640 $44.08 565640 $252306485

August 1-August31 160000 $43.36 160000 $245369419

September 1-September30 535000 $40.48 535000 $223712402

Total third quarter 1260640 $42.46 1260640

October 1-October 31

November 1-November 30

December 1-December 31

Total fourth quarter

Total through December31 3384106b $45.35 3384106 223712402a

The authorization by the Board of Directors on July 27 2007 approved the purchase of shares in an amount

not to exceed $500000000 which expires on September 2009 The unexpended balance under that

authorization as of December31 2008 is $223712402

All share repurchases were effected in accordance with the safe harbor provisions of Rule lOb-18 of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended
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PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following graph and table compare the cumulative total shareholders return on our common stock from

August 2007 through December 31 2008 with the Standard Poors 500 Index and the Standard Poors Auto

Parts Equipment Index The table and graph use data supplied by the Compustat Services unit of Standard

Poors Corporation The comparisons reflected in the graph and table are not intended to forecast the future

performance of the common stock and may not be indicative of such future performance

Total Shareholder Returns

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN

$150

$0

7/31/07 9/30/07 12/31/07 3/31/08 6130/08 9/30/08 12/31/08

WABCO Holdings Inc SP 500 Index ASP 500 Auto Parts Equipment Indexi

7/31/07 9/30/07 12/31/07 3/31/08 6/30/08 9/30/08 12/31/08

WABCO Holdings Inc 100 97.55 104.67 95.49 97.38 74.61 33.30

SP 500 Index 100 105.29 101.79 92.17 89.66 82.16 6413
SP 500 Auto Parts Equipment Index 100 104.70 96.19 90.56 77.16 81.95 49.38
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ITEM SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Amounts In millions except share and per

Year Ended December 31

share data 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Income Statement Data

Sales 2588.0 2415.9 2015.2 1831.0 1723.8

Cost of sales 1894.0 1764.2 1463.5 312.5 1252.4

Gross profit 694.0 651.7 551.7 518.5 471.4

Costs and expenses

Selling and administrative

expenses 343.2 299.8 255.0 233.5 212.7

Product Engineering expenses 92.9 84.2 72.2 73.5 66.2

Other operating expense net 11.4 26.0 1.5 0.4 0.9

Operating Income 246.5 241.7 223.0 211.1 193.4

Equity income of unconsolidated join

ventures 8.1 9.1 23.3 24.5 20.2

Other non-operating expense net 6.8 9.6 .9.3k 5.0 .0

Interest income/expense net 3.7 4.5 11.3 2.1 2.0

Income before income taxes 251.5 236.7 225.7 232.7 214.6

Income taxes 38.2 111.3 87.9 87.4 23.2

Net income 213.3 125.4 137.8 145.3 191.4

Per share

Basic 3.28 1.85

Diluted 3.24 1.81

Average number of outstanding

common shares

Basic 65113404 67887919

Diluted 65871941 69270661

Pro forma net Income per

common share

Basic 2.03 2.14 2.82

Diluted 1.98 2.08 2.75

Pro forma number of outstanding

common shares

Basic 67867159 67867159 67867159

Diluted 69696428 69696428 69696428

Balance Sheet Data at end of period

Totalassets 1776.0 1794.2 1276.9 1095.4 1182.2

Total debt 250.0 126.2 75.2 44.4 54.7

Total Shareholders equity Owners Net

Investment 601.5 607.6 3152 310.8 313.3

Cash dividends per common share 0.28 0.14

WABCO incurred $36.9 million of streamlining expenses during 2008 of which $26.4 million was charged to

selling and administrative expenses and $10.5 million was charged to cost of sales WABCO incurred $12.8 million

of streamlining expenses in 2007 of which $9.1 million was charged to selling and administrative expenses and $3.7

million was charged to cost of sales The increase in streamlining expenses during 2008 is attributable to employee

severance costs associated with our streamlining program that commenced on October 28 2008

The income tax provision for 2008 includes net benefit of $8.3 million principally related to reduction of

an unrecognized tax benefit recorded in the third quarter of 2007 related to the separation of the WABCO business

from Trane This change in estimate resulted from the filing of the Companys and Tranes 2007 U.S Federal

income tax returns in September 2008 The 2008 effective income tax rate was 15.2%
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The income tax provision for 2007 includes $50.7 million charge related to the separation of the WABCO
business from Trane and charge of $10.2 million related to the net reduction in deferred tax assets pursuant to

rate changes in Germany UK and China partially offset by $7.5 million benefit related to the settlement of

foreign tax audit during the second quarter and benefits associated with foreign tax planning for 2007 following

WABCOs separation from Trane The combined effects of the tax benefits and charge with other ongoing tax

planning activities resulted in an effective income tax rate of 47.0%

The income tax provision for 2006 included $9.6 million charge related to adjustments of accruals for tax

contingencies This charge was partially offset by $2.8 million benefit related to the reductions of tax contingencies

and $4.9 million benefit representing true up of the foreign tax earnings under Section 965 of the America Jobs

Creation Act of 2004 The combined effects of the tax benefits and charge with ongoing tax planning activities

resulted in an effective income tax rate 38.9%

The income tax provision for 2005 included benefits of $18.3 million from the resolution of tax audits and $4.5

million related to the impact of certain tax planning initiatives on prior tax years Partially offsetting these benefits

was charge of $16 million associated with remitting foreign tax earnings under Section 965 of the American Jobs

Creation Act of 2004 The combined effect of the net tax benefits that occurred in 2005 together with other ongoing

tax planning activities resulted in an effective income tax rate of 37.6% for the year

Income taxes in 2004 included $5.5 million benefit for the resolution of tax audits $7.1 million benefit

relating to reduction in withholding tax liabilities due to decision not to distribute the earnings of certain foreign

subsidiaries and $24.3 million benefit relating to changes in tax legislation The combined effect of these tax

benefits resulted in an effective tax rate of 10.8% in 2004

The pro forma number of common shares outstanding for basic and diluted earnings per share was

determined by applying the distribution ratio of one share of WABCO common stock for every three shares of Trane

common shares outstanding and including the effect of dilutive Trane common stock equivalents as of June 30
2007 This method was applied to all periods prior to July 31 2007

For comparative analysis of certain line items in the Income Statement Data section of this table see Item

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations which follows

ITEM MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

This discussion summarizes the significant factors affecting the results of operations and financial condition of

WABCO during the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 and should be read in conjunction with our

consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto included elsewhere herein Certain information in this

discussion and analysis regarding industry outlook our expectations regarding the future performance of our

business and other non-historical statements are forward-looking statements These forward-looking statements are

subject to numerous risks and uncertainties including but not limited to the risks and uncertainties described in

Risk Factors above Our actual results maydiffer materially from those contained in any forward-looking

statements You should read the following discussion together with the sections entitled Risk Factors Information

Concerning Forward-Looking Statements Selected Financial Information Liquidity and Capital Resources

and consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto included elsewhere herein

DescriptIon of the Company and Its Products

WABCO is leading provider of electric and electromechanical products for the worlds leading commercial

truck trailer bus and passenger car manufacturers We manufacture and sell control systems including advanced

braking stability suspension transmission control and air compressing and processing systems that improve

vehicle performance and safety and reduce overall vehicle operating costs Our largest-selling products are

pneumatic anti-lock braking systems ABS electronic braking systems EBS automated manual transmission

systems air disk brakes and large variety of conventional mechanical products such as actuators air

compressors and air control valves for heavy- and medium-sized trucks trailers and buses We also supply
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advanced electronic suspension controls and vacuum pumps to the car and SUV markets in Europe and North

America In addition we sell replacement parts diagnostic tools training and other services to commercial vehicle

aftermarket distributors repair shops and fleet operators

Separation of WABCO from Trane

The spin-off by Trane of its Vehicle Control Systems business became effective on July 31 2007 through

distribution of 100% of the common stock of WABCO to the holders of record of Tranes common stock on July 19

2007 the Distribution The Distribution was effected through separation and distribution agreement which sets

forth WABCOs agreements with Trane regarding principal transactions necessary to separate WABCO from Trane

the Separation This agreement also sets forth the other agreements that govern certain aspects of WABCOs

relationship with Trane after the completion of the Separation from Trane and provides for the allocation of certain

assets to be transferred liabilities to be assumed and contracts to be assigned to WABCO and Trane as part of the

Separation Trane distributed all of the shares of WABCO common stock as dividend on Trane common stock in

the amount of one share of WABCO common stock for every three shares outstanding of Trane common stock to

each stockholder on the record date Trane received private letter ruling from the Internal Revenue Service and

an opinion from tax counsel indicating that the spin-off was tax free to the stockholders of Trane and WABCO

significant portion of the expenses to effect the Separation were incurred by Trane such as investment

banking fees external legal and accounting fees legal reorganization and restructuring tax costs and costs to

separate information systems WABCO incurred the following separation costs indemnification and other tax

related costs stock compensation expense relating to the Distribution costs associated with early bond redemption

external legal and consulting fees and other items such as relocation expenses associated with hiring senior

management positions new to the Company

Basis of Presentation

Prior to its spin-off on July 31 2007 WABCO operated as the Vehicle Control Systems business of Trane For

periods prior to July 31 2007 the consolidated financial statements included herein have been derived from the

consolidated financial statements and accounting records of Trane principally representing the Vehicle Control

Systems segment using the historical results of operations and historical basis of assets and liabilities of the

Vehicle Control Systems segment Prior to its spin-off from Trane stand-alone consolidated financial statements

had not been prepared for WABCO We believe the assumptions underlying the allocations included in the

consolidated financial statements are reasonable

Executive Overview of Managements Discussion and Analysis

We analyze the performance of our business using the following general framework and describe the

performance of the business in this context throughout the remainder of this discussion and analysis of financial

condition and results of operations

SalesWe analyze sales activity based on the impact of pricing volume and mix of our products The management

of pricing conditions and the execution of strategy to improve sales mix to more profitable products and customers

are important to us in order to grow sales and profitability

ProductivityWe identify the impact of key productivity programs in the areas of materials procurement labor and

other productivity programs The successful execution of productivity programs is important to offset the impacts of

price decreases commodity inflation and other cost escalations

CommoditiesWe use commodities such as aluminum copper zinc and steel in our manufacturing process The

cost of these commodities can have significant impact on our financial performance

InvestmentsWe analyze the costs for the development of new products investments in sales and marketing

programs and other infrastructure investments in support of productivity improvements Investments in new

products and sales are important to sustaining organic growth
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Please see the following paragraphs Results of Operations for 2008 compared with 2007 and Results of

Operations 2007 compared with 2006 for an analysis of our results of operations excluding the effects of loreign

exchange translation

Our Markets and Our Customers

Our sales are affected by changes in truck and bus production especially in Europe Europe is our largest

geographic market and sales to truck and bus OEMs represent our largest customer group The table below shows

the relationship between our European sales to truck and bus OEMs which account for approximately 76% of our

global sales to truck and bus OEMs and Western European truck and bus TB production for the last five years

Sales data is shown at constant euro to U.S dollar exchange rate for year to year comparability and to make

comparisons to unit production meaningful

Average
Year to Year Change 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 Change

Sales to European TB OEMs at Constant FX rate 23% 6% 10% 12% 4% 11%
Western European TB Production 19% 5% 5% 10% 4% 9%

In general our sales track directionally with truck and bus builds However individual year to year sales

changes are also influenced by other factors such as timing of orders and deliveries to TB OEM customers

application content new product introduction price and introduction of new customer platforms The level of truck

build activity is influenced by general economic conditions including interest rate levels and inflation On average

for the last five years our European sales have performed percentage points above the change in Western

European truck and bus builds

In regions outside Europe there is less correlation between our sales and regional truck and bus builds This is

because of our smaller presence which magnifies changes in content on individual truck platforms as well as less

stringent safety regulations As other regions adopt additional safety regulations in the future similar to or

approaching Europes we expect the resulting increase in content will bring higher correlation between our regional

sales and changes in regional truck and bus production

Our aftermarket sales account for approximately 21% of total sales and are affected by variety of factors

content on specific vehicles and breadth of our product range number of commercial trucks in active operation

truck age miles driven demand for transported goods and overall economic activity On average our atterrnarket

sales on constant exchange to the U.S dollar rate have grown by 8% annually for the last five years as shown in

the table below

Average
Year to Year Change 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 Change

Aftermarket Sales at Constant FX rate 7% 13% 10% 7% 1% 8%

In the fourth quarter of 2008 the global commercial vehicle markets experienced the beginning of significant

decline that is unprecedented in its breadth depth and speed It is currently accelerating into the first par1 of 2009

The uncertainty of the development of the global economy makes it difficut to predict how demand for commercial

vehicles will develop in 2009
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Distribution of WABCOs Sales by Major End-Markets Product Types and Geography

2008 2007 2006

Major End-Markets

OE Manufacturers

Truck Bus products
62% 60% 60%

Trailer products 13% 14% 14%

Car products 4% 5% 4%

Aftermarket 21% 21% 22%

100% 100% 100%

Geography

Europe 76% 76% 74%

Americas 12% 12% 15%

Asia and rest of world 12% 12% 11%

100% 100% 100%

Our largest customer Es Daimler which accounts for approximately 15% of our sales Other key customers

include Arvin Mentor China National Heavy Truck Corporation CNHTC Cummins Fiat lveco Hino Hyundai

International Truck Engine Corporation ITE MAN Nutzfahrzeuge AG MAN Mentor WABCO joint venture

Nissan Diesel Paccar OAF Trucks N.y OAF Kenworth Leyland and Peterbuilt Otto Sauer Achsenfabrik SAF
Scania Volvo Mack and Renault and ZF Friedrichshafen AG ZF For the fiscal year ended December 31 2008

our top 10 customers accounted for approximately 56% of our sales

Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis addresses year-over-year changes in the line items shown in the above

paragraph Executive Overview Approximately 94% of our sales are outside the U.S and therefore changes in

exchange rates can have significant impact on the reported results of our operations which are presented in U.S

dollars Year-over-year changes in sales expenses and net income for 2008 compared with 2007 and 2007

compared with 2006 are presented both with and without the effects of foreign currency translation Changes in

sales expenses and net income excluding foreign exchange effects are calculated using current year sales

expenses and net income translated at prior year exchange rates Presenting changes in sales expenses and net

income excluding the effects of foreign currency translation is not in conformity with U.S GAAP but we analyze this

data because it is useful to us in understanding the operating performance of our business We believe this data is

also useful to shareholders for the same reason The changes in sales expenses and net income excluding the

effects of foreign exchange translation are not meant to be substitute for measurements prepared in conformity

with U.S GAAP nor to be considered in isolation Management believes that presenting these non-U.S GAAP

financial measures is useful to shareholders because it enhances their understanding of how management

assesses the operating performance of the Companys business
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Results of Operations for 2008 Compared with 2007

amounts in millions

Year ended Exduding Foreign

December31 Exchange Translation

%change 2008 adjusted %change
2008 2007 reported amount adjusted

Sales $2588.0 $2415.9 7.1% $2414.9 0.0%

Cost of sales 1894.0 1764.2 7.4% 1775.6 0.6%

Grossprofit 694.0 651.7 6.5% 639.3 1.9%
Operating expenses 447.5 410.0 9.1% 418.4 2.0%

Operating income 246.5 241.7 2.0% 220.9

Equity in net income of unconsolidated joint ventures 8.1 9.1 11 .0% 7.7 5.4%
Other non-operating expense net 6.8 9.6 29.2% 4.3 552%
Interest income/expense net 3.7 45 3.2

Income before income taxes 251.5 236.7 6.3% 227.5 3.9%
Income taxes 38.2 111.3 65.7% 33.9 695%
Net income 213.3 125.4 70.1% 193.6 54.4%

Percentage change not meaningful

Sales

Our sales for 2008 were $2.6 billion an increase of 7.1% flat excluding foreign currency translation eftects

from $2.4 billion in 2007 Increases in truck and bus production in Europe expanded content per vehicle in2uding

new applications and slight growth in our aftermarket business were offset by the significant decline in North

American truck and bus production as well as the global decline in the production of trailers Sales in Eurooe our

largest market increased approximately 6.7% decreased 0.1% excluding favorable foreign currency trans on
effects which was impacted by the severe production cuts experienced at all truck bus manufacturers in the

latter part of the year Sales decreased in North America which experienced declines in the production of trucks

and buses for the second consecutive year in addition to significant decline in trailer production These declines

were attributable to the global recession environment in the latter part of the year as well as the economic blems

associated with the credit markets which put constraints on the end customers ability to obtain financing tc cew

purchases Notwithstanding the above sales in Asia and South America increased 11.3% and 24.1% respectively

5.8% and 14.1% excluding favorable foreign currency translation effects respectively The sales growth in Asia

was driven by an increase in China sales of 28.9% 19.2% without foreign currency translation impact wh.h was

primarily driven by successful introduction of the Companys compressor product line in the market as vc as the

increasing penetration of ABS The growth in South America resulted from the strong market demand in Brazil as

well as expanded content per vehicle

In the fourth quarter of 2008 the global commercial vehicle markets experienced the beginning of significant

decline that is unprecedented in its breadth depth and speed The Company had sales growth of 10% in local

currencies through the first three quarters of 2008 which was completely offset by 25% decline in sales in the

fourth quarter of 2008 The impact of this fourth quarter decline resulted in full year 2008 sales that were flat with

prior year in local currencies The global commercial vehicle market decline is currently accelerating into the first

part of 2009 The uncertainty of the development of the global economy makes it difficult to predict how demand for

commercial vehicles will develop in 2009

Gross Profit

Gross profit increased by $42.3 million decreased $12.4 million excluding foreign currency translation effects

Also included in gross profit was approximately $6.7 million of foreign currency transaction losses related mainly

to the sale of products in countries with different currencies outside of the country where they are manufactured

Although we were operating in market that deteriorated significantly in the latter part of the year the results

generated from the WABCO Operating System provided for an increased benefit in gross profit from productivity
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improvements of approximately $64.4 million These improvements were offset by sales price decreases of

approximately $46.9 million labor and other cost escalation of approximately $13.0 million higher spending on

streamlining programs of approximately $8.7 million and other net costs of $1 .5 million

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses which include selling and administrative expenses product engineering expenses and

other operating expenses increased by $37.5 million $8.4 million excluding foreign currency translation effects

The increase in operating expense was primarily driven by increased spending on streamlining programs of

approximately $16.8 million and labor cost inflation and escalation of approximately $13.4 million The Companys

timely actions in anticipation of market slowdown experienced in the latter part of the year as well as the efficient

execution of related cost cutting efforts in the fourth quarter was the primary driver of $10.8 million decrease in

operational spending In addition separation costs decreased by approximately $1 1.0 million

Cost Reduction Programs and Streamlining Expenses

Subsequent to WABCOs second quarter earnings release and 10-0 filing management anticipated potential

deterioration in the commercial vehicle market and proceeded to put in place cost reduction plan for the remainder

of 2008 The plan set out to reduce $20 million in costs that were previously expected for the latter part of the year

including variety of items largely at the operating expense level Throughout the second half of the year WABCO

proactively monitored the developments in the industry As the market decline became more significant in the fourth

quarter WABCO rapidly accelerated the cost-savings objectives resulting in total savings of $45 million versus

previously expected spending levels in the second half of 2008 These aggressive and efficiently executed actions

helped drive down 2008 costs to significantly mitigate the impact of the market decline

Due to the degree of market declines occurring in the fourth quarter of 2008 WABCO commenced

streamlining program on October 28 2008 which began with consultative process with works councils and

employee representatives globally The initial intent was to reduce the Companys global workforce by

approximately 1000 positions of which approximately 600 were terminated as of January 31 2009 As the

Company continued to assess the impacts of the declining market conditions in January 2009 the Company
committed to further reduction of 400 positions bringing the total for this streamlining plan to 1400 This level of

reduction in workforce represents an approximately 30% reduction in capacity while still allowing us to continue our

focus on core strategies including technology new products globalization and quality and productivity initiatives

These actions create sufficient flexibility in production and help to cope with anticipated demand volatility in 2009 In

total WABCO incurred $36.9 million of streamlining expenses during 2008 of which $26.4 million was charged to

selling and administrative expenses and $10.5 million was charged to cost of sales WABCO incurred $12.8 million

of streamlining expenses in 2007 of which $9.1 million was charged to selling and administrative expenses and $3.7

million was charged to cost of sales The increase in streamlining expenses during 2008 is attributable to employee

severance costs associated with our streamlining program that commenced on October 28 2008 which is being

executed with remarkable speed

Equity in Net Income of Unconsolidated Joint Ventures

Equity in net income of unconsolidated joint ventures decreased $1.0 million to $8.1 million in 2008 as

compared to $9.1 million in 2007 The decrease was partially due to WABCOs joint venture in North America

driven by the production decline in the North American market As described above the North American commercial

vehicle production decreased in 2008 in addition to significant decline in the production of trailers from 2007 As

result Mentor WABCO was impacted by lower sales volumes in 2008 Additionally the decrease was driven by

WABCOs Indian joint ventures which was caused primarily by difficult market conditions in the non-brakes

divisions of the group start-up costs associated with new business development write-off of one of its

investments as well as decline in the brakes division experienced in the fourth quarter of 2008

Other Non-Operating Expense net

Other non-operating expense net decreased by $2.8 million to $6.8 million for the full year 2008 as compared

to $9.6 million for the full year 2007 The decrease was primarily driven by WABCOs terminated participation in

Tranes securitization program as of May 31 2007 This was partially offset by write-off of capitalized transaction
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related costs of approximately $1 .6 million in the fourth quarter of 2008 in accordance with the transition provisions

of SFAS 141

Interest Income/Expense net

Interest income/expense net improved by $8.2 million $7.7 million excluding foreign currency translation

effects to $3.7 million in 2008 compared to $4.5 million in 2007 The improvement is largely driven by more

favorable average net cash position during 2008 compared to 2007 as well as more favorable interest rates

Income Taxes

The income tax provision for 2008 was $38.2 million The effective income tax rate was 15.2% of pre-tax

income in 2008 The income tax provision for 2007 was $1 11.3 million an effective tax rate of 47.0% The income

tax provision for 2008 includes net benefit of $8.3 million principally related to reduction of an unrecognized tax

benefit recorded in the third quarter of 2007 related to the separation of the WABCO business from Trane This

change in estimate resulted from the filing of the Companys and Tranes 2007 U.S Federal income tax returns in

September 2008

Backlog

Backlog which represents valid sales orders that have not yet been filled as of the end of the reporting period

was $679.7 million at the end of the fourth quarter down 44.1% or 40.4% excluding foreign currency translation

effects from the fourth quarter of 2007 attributable to significant decline in production in the commercial vehicle

industry Backlog is not necessarily predictive of future business as it relates only to some of our products and

customers may still change future delivery dates

Results of Operations for 2007 Compared with 2006

amounts in millions

Year ended Excluding Foreign

December31 Exchange Translation

change 2007 adjusted change
2007 2006 reported amount adjusted

Sales $2415.9 $2015.2 19.9% $2226.9 10.5/o

Cost of sales 1764.2 1463.5 20.5% 1629.4 11.3%

Gross profit 651.7 551.7 18.1% 597.5 8.3%

Operating expenses 410.0 328.7 24.7% 373.6 13.7%

Operating income 241.7 223.0 8.4% 223.9 0.4%

Equity in net income of unconsolidated joint ventures 9.1 23.3 8.7
Other non-operating expense net 9.6 9.3 8.8

Interest income/expense net 4.5 11.3 4.2

Income before income taxes 236.7 225.7 4.9% 219.6 2.7%
Incometaxes 111.3 87.9 26.6% 105.2 19.7%

Net income 125.4 137.8 9.0% 114.4 17.0%

Percentage change not meaningful

Sales

Our sales for 2007 were $2.4 billion an increase of 19.9% 10.5% excluding favorable foreign currency

translation effects from $2.0 billion in 2006 The increase was attributable primarily to increased truck and bus

production in Europe expanded content per vehicle including new applications global expansion and growth in our

aftermarket business Sales in Europe our largest market increased approximately 23.9% 14.2% excluding

favorable foreign currency translation effects which based on our estimate exceeded the growth in European truck

production Sales decreased in North America which was less than the decrease in North American truck

production The decrease in the North American truck production was primarily influenced by increased sales
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volume in 2006 ahead of regulations mandating better emissions standards that became effective in 2007 In Asia

and South America sales increased 24.5% and 33.2% respectively 20.6% and 18.7% excluding favorable foreign

currency translation effects respectively The sales growth in Asia was driven by an increase in China sales of

106.4% 96.7% without foreign currency translation impact

Gross Profit

Gross profit increased by $100.0 million $45.8 million excluding favorable foreign currency translation effects

Also included in gross profit was approximately $10.1 million of foreign currency transaction losses related mainly

to the sale of products in countries with different currencies outside of the country where theyare manufactured

Gross profit benefited from volume and mix increases of approximately $64.0 million primarily attributable to the

sales increase discussion above productivity improvements of approximately $48.2 million and reduction of

warranty expenses of $9.8 million These improvements were partially offset by sales price decreases of

approximately $54.0 million labor and other cost escalation of approximately $10.0 million higher spending on

streamlining programs of approximately $1 .4 million and other net costs of $0.7 million

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses which include selling and administrative expenses product engineering expenses and

other operating expenses increased by $81.3 million $44.9 million excluding unfavorable foreign currency

translation effects The increase in operating expense was primarily driven by charges resulting from the legal

reorganization in connection with the spin-off from Trane in 2007 of $13.6 million incremental investments in

product engineering and new product development programs of approximately $10.6 million labor cost inflation and

escalation of approximately $8.5 million early-redemption premiums on the $40.0 million outstanding bonds that

were redeemed on April 30 2007 of $6.0 million increases in spending on streamlining programs of approximately

$3.1 million an increase of $2.4 million of expenses due to change in certain pension obligations and $0.8 million

relating to costs associated with environmental liabilities transferred from Trane In the second half of 2007

WABCO incurred employee separation costs of approximately $4.7 million

Streamlining Expenses

WABCO incurred $12.8 million of streamlining expenses in 2007 of which $9.1 million was charged to selling

and administrative expenses and $3.7 million was charged to cost of sales WABCO incurred $8.2 million of

streamlining expenses during 2006 of which $1.3 million was charged to cost of sales and $6.9 million was charged

to selling and administrative expenses

Equity in Net Income of Unconsolidated Joint Ventures

Equity in net income of unconsolidated joint ventures decreased $14.2 million to $9.1 million in 2007 as

compared to $23.3 million in 2006 The decrease was partially due to WABCOs joint venture in North America

driven by the production decline in the North American market As described above North American commercial

vehicle production decreased in 2007 influenced by increased sales volume in 2006 ahead of regulations

mandating better emissions standards that became effective on January 2007 As result Mentor WABCO was

impacted by lower sales volumes in 2007 Additionally the decrease was driven by WABCOs Indian joint venture

SCL which was mainly driven by difficult market conditions in the non-brakes divisions of the group start-up costs

associated with new business development and write-off of one of its investments

Other Non-Operating Expense Net

Other non-operating expense net increased by $0.3 million to $9.6 million for the full year 2007 as compared to

$9.3 million for the fully year 2006

Interest Income/Expense Net

Interest income/expense net was $4.5 million for 2007 as compared with $11.3 million in 2006 The decrease

in net interest expense is primarily driven by $4.7 million decrease in related party net interest expense which in

2007 only included partial year of related party interest versus full year in 2006 Additionally WABCOs capital

structure at the time of the Separation was more favorable when compared to 2006
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Income Taxes

The income tax provision for 2007 was $1 11 .3 million The effective income tax rate was 47.0% of pre-tax

income in 2007 The income tax provision for 2006 was $87.9 million an effective tax rate of 38.9% The effective

income tax rate for 2007 increased primarily due to provision of $50.7 million related to the separation of the

WABCO business from Trane and charge of $10.2 million related to the net reduction in deterred tax assets

pursuant to tax rate changes in Germany UK and China partially offset by $7.5 million benefit as result of the

settlement of foreign tax audit during the second quarter and to benefits associated with foreign tax planning for

2007 following WABCOs separation from Trane

Backlog

Backlog which represents valid sales orders that have not yet been filled as of the end of the reporting period

was $1.2 billion at the end of the fourth quarter up 44.2% or 30.2% excluding favorable foreign currency translation

effects from the fourth quarter of 2006 Backlog is not necessarily predictive of future business as it relates only to

some of our products and customers may still change future delivery dates

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash Flows

Net cash provided by operating activities was $324.8 million for 2008 This compared with net cash used by

operating activities of $0.3 million for 2007

During 2007 in accordance with the terms of Tranes receivable financing facility the spin-off of WABCO
required its withdrawal from Tranes asset securitization program Additionally as result of the spin-off WABCO is

also no longer selling its receivables from Mentor WABCO to subsidiary of Trane The impact on the net cash of

terminating these two arrangements amounted to $216.1 million composed of $169.5 million impact from

accounts receivable $19.1 million from other current assets and $65.7 million from other accrued liabilities during

2007

In addition to the separation related items mentioned above our change is due to reduction of our working

capital during 2008 Due to weakening economy in the second half of 2008 WABCO ended the year with lower

accounts receivable balance Additionally the Company was able to successfully reduce inventory levels in the

fourth quarter of 2008

Within investing activities we made capital expenditures of $83.6 million for 2008 including $36.4 million on

plant and equipment $41.6 million of investments in tooling and $5.6 million in computer software This compared

with capital expenditures of $77.7 million in 2007 including $40.9 million on plant and equipment $28.9 million of

investments in tooling and $7.9 million in computer software As result of the downturn in the economy the

Company implemented controlled spending measures which resulted in capital expenditure reductions in the fourth

quarter versus prior year

The net cash used by financing activities during 2008 amounted to $18.6 million while the financing activities for

2007 resulted in net cash provided of $214.5 million

In July 2007 we repaid $52.1 million of the outstanding credit facility which had been put into place by Trane in

2005 with JP Morgan This repayment was primarily financed through additional cash obtained from Trane In order

to finance the share buy back program and to fund the operations of the China facilities we drew $116.0 million

from our $800.0 million five year credit facility which was entered into in May 2007 and $4.0 million from our $20

million credit facility in China

Prior to July 31 2007 we had additional changes in the balance due from and to Trane or its affiliates As

further detailed in Note 16 Related Party Transactions in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements this

balance was mainly made up of the net receipts from changes in loans due to/from Trane and its affiliates of $288.6

million and dividends paid to Trane and its affiliates of $48.0 million The 2007 net cash provided was mainly used

to finance the termination of the securitization programs the redemption of the $40.0 million principal amount of its

7.59% Guaranteed Senior Bonds prior to their maturity date of January 31 2013 and the redemption of the credit

facility with JP Morgan of $52.1 million
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As of December 31 2008 our total third party indebtedness was $250.0 million consisting primarily of $140.6

million of long term debt borrowed under our Rabobank facility $33.0 million of long term debt borrowed under our

$800 million 5-year credit facility and $70.3 million of short term debt borrowed under our Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi

facility that is due to be repaid in November 2009 All facilities are discussed in Note 12 Debt Also subsidiaries in

other countries had borrowings from banks totaling $6.1 million These loans support local working capital

requirements

We paid quarterly dividends amounting to $18.3 million for 2008 and $9.6 million for 2007 respectively These

dividends were funded by drawdowns on our $800 million credit facility See Credit Agreements below for

description of the credit agreement

WABCO makes contributions to funded pension plans that at minimum meet all statutory funding

requirements Contributions in 2008 including payment of benefits incurred by unfunded plans totaled $31.0

million Contributions in 2009 are expected to be in line with the contributions made during 2008

Our Board of Directors has approved $500 million of expenditures under program to purchase shares of our

common stock in the open market During 2008 we repurchased $153.5 million of shares and also received stock

option proceeds for the year of $21.5 million Currently the Company is not making any additional share

repurchases under the buy back program Timing of future purchases will vary depending on financial conditions

and other factors

WABCO and its Indian joint venture partners members of the TVS group TVS separated the non-brakes

division from the brakes division of their Indian joint venture SCL through plan of demerger TVS will transfer to

WABCO its shares in WABCO-TVS INDIA Ltd WABCO TVS and WABCOs percentage ownership in

WABCO-TVS will increase to minimum of approximately 64% by September 30 2009 and expected to increase

to 75% by no later than September 30 2010 Concurrent with TVS share transfers to the Company WABCO will

transfer to TVS its shares in SCL post demerger and WABCOs percentage ownership in SCL post demerger

which consists of the non-brakes division of SCL is expected to decrease to zero Depending on the trading share

prices of SCL and WABCO-TVS at the time of transfer of shares the Company may have to remit or may receive

some amount of cash to or from TVS and gain or loss on the transaction may be recognized in the income

statement

We employ several means to manage our liquidity and we are not dependent upon any one source of funding

Our sources of financing include cash flows from operations bank credit agreements and the use of operating

leases

Liquidity with Regard to European Commission Fine

In addition to cash on hand we have in place number of short and longer term credit agreements designed

in part to assist us covering fine expected to be imposed by the European Commission Due to the uncertainties

surrounding the timing and potential amount of the fine and the possible limitations of the amounts we can draw

under such credit agreements based on our covenants as further described below we cannot make any prediction

as to whether or not the funds available under the credit agreements will be sufficient to finance the fine at such

time as it becomes due

The borrowings under our existing credit agreements are limited by covenants See Credit Agreements below

for an overview of the covenants The covenant which is expected to be the most restrictive based on the current

economic downturn requires that our total net indebtedness not exceed three times trailing four quarters adjusted

EBITDA EBITDA covenant as defined in the agreement to the five year $800 million credit facility As of

December 31 2008 our trailing four quarters adjusted EBITDA is $389.5 million which consists of $58.2 million for

the fourth quarter $100.4 million for the third quarter $115.8 million for the second quarter and $1 15.1 million for

the first quarter Given net indebtedness of $150 million at December 31 2008 this resulted in an EBITDA

covenant ratio of 0.4 to We would expect that this covenant will limit our ability to borrow under our existing credit

agreements in 2009 Thus we do not intend to extend our one year facilities that will come due in 2009 See Credit

Agreements below for more detail on one year facilities with Rabobank ABN AMRO and Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi

but rather we will focus our efforts on obtaining additional sources of liquidity which would not be subject to this
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trailing four quarters adjusted EBITDA covenant and complement our $800 million five-year facility In addition to

working on replacing our accounts receivable financing facility that was terminated on January 12 2009 we are

also pursuing other opportunities of financing that would allow for off balance sheet accounting treatment and would

therefore not be subject to the constraints of the trailing four quarters adjusted EBITDA covenant These possible

sources of future liquidity may come from the factoring of additional accounts receivable balances inventory

financing programs or the sale-leaseback of certain property plant and equipment While there can be no

assurance that we will be able to obtain these alternative sources of liquidity based on our current discussions with

other parties we believe that some of these opportunities will contribute if needed to our future funding

requirements We would also try to obtain waivers of our financial debt covenants If we receive fine from the

European Commission at an amount exceeding our available liquidity at the time we will try to negotiate payment

plan with the CommissionWe are advised this possibility exists in cases of extreme hardship and substantiated

financial difficulties It is our understanding that it is not in the Commissions interest nor is it their intention to force

companies out of business due to fine payments and we believe that the Commission will be sensitive to the current

economic environment However this outcome cannot be assured due to the degree of discretion inherent in the

Commissions fining and enforcement powers

Although our available liquidity is currently adequate for our potential funding needs future developments and

an increasing downturn in the industry could negatively impact our liquidity so we are continuing to proactively

address potential constraints that may occur later during 2009

Credit Agreements

On May 31 2007 WABCO entered into an unsecured five-year $800 million multi-currency revolving credit

facility that will expire on July 31 2012 This is our primary bank credit agreement and it became available to us on

August 2007 The proceeds of the borrowings under the credit facility have been used to fund repurchases of our

shares pay quarterly dividends to our shareholders and to meet short term cash requirements Additionally the

facility may be used to pay fine or provide bank guarantee that may be required pursuant to decision relating

to the European Commission investigation matter as further described under the heading item 3Legal
ProceedingsThe European Commission Investigation above Up to $100 million under this facility may be used

for issuing letters of credit of which $97.5 million was unused as of December 31 2008 and up to $75 million for

same-day borrowings The balance outstanding on this facility on December 31 2008 is $33.0 million The

Company has the ability to borrow an additional $764.5 million under this facility The Company intends to refinance

all or some portion of the existing five-year $800 million credit facility at the time of its expiration

On March 2008 we entered into unsecured 364 day credit agreements with two banks Rabobank and ABN

AMRO totaling 200.0 million $281.2 million at December 31 2008 exchange rates The balance outstanding with

Rabobank is $140.6 million on December31 2008 As result of the draw down on July 31 2008 the 364 day

100.0 million credit facility with Rabobank has an expiration date of July 30 2009 The balance outstanding is

classified as long-term as the Company has the ability and intent to refinance the debt using the five-year $800

million multi-currency revolving credit facility There is no balance outstanding with ABN AMRO on December 31
2008 We currently do not intend to renew these facilities when they expire

On November 28 2007 we entered into 50.0 million $70.3 million at December 31 2008 exchange rates

364 day credit agreement with the Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi As of December 31 2008 the outstanding balance

under this facility was $70.3 million Prior to its expiration this facility was extended for further 364 day period As

result of the draw down on November 26 2008 the 364 day 50.0 million credit facility with Bank of Tokyo has an

expiration date of November 26 2009 We currently do not intend to renew this facility when it expires in November

2009 and may repay the principal and interest earlier

The above credit facilities contain various covenants that limit among other things liens transactions

subsidiary indebtedness and certain mergers and sales of assets The covenants also require us to meet certain

financial tests to ratio of consolidated net indebtedness to consolidated trailing four quarters adjusted EBITDA

earnings before interest taxes depreciation and amortization to ratio of consolidated trailing four quarters

adjusted EBITDA to consolidated net interest expense and liquidity test These terms are all defined within the

agreement to the five-year $800 million credit facility The liquidity covenant for the $800 million credit facility

requires us to have at least $100 million of liquidity which includes unused commitments under the agreement and

certain other committed facilities that may be entered into as well as unrestricted cash
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and cash equivalents after giving effect to any payment of fine or any provision of bank guarantee that may be

required pursuant to decision relating to the European Commission investigation matter For additional information

relating to the terms of the credit agreement we refer to the Form 8-K filed by Trane on June 2007 As of

December 31 2008 the Company was in compliance with all the covenants contained in these credit agreements

On January 12 2009 our accounts receivable financing facility which was entered into in the second quarter of

2008 was terminated by ABN/Royal Bank of Scotland RBS due to the downgrade of RBS by SP That

agreement had provided for the financing of up to 150 million of receivables which qualified for off balance sheet

accounting treatment and was not subject to the trailing four quarters adjusted EBITDA covenant described above

The Company is currently in the process of seeking replacement of this facility with another facility that should be

similar in nature although it may differ in size

Cross Currency Swap

The unsecured 364 day 100.0 million credit facility entered into in March 2008 with Rabobank discussed

above under credit agreements included requirement to draw down on the facility within certain time period to

avoid termination of the facility Therefore the full 100.0 million or $156.5 million U.S dollars was drawn down on

July 31 2008 and used to pay down the five-year $800 million multi-currency revolving credit facility expiring on

July 2012 As result of the draw down on July31 2008 the 364 day 100.0 million credit facility with Rabobank

has an expiration date of July 30 2009 In order to avoid foreign currency risk associated with the euro

denominated borrowing the Company entered into cross currency swap with Rabobank on July 29 2008 and

designated the swap as fair value hedge of the changes in the fair value of the underlying debt resulting from

exchange rate movements between the euro and U.S dollar The fair value hedge is highly effective and therefore

any volatility resulting from translating the hedged debt into U.S dollars and the remeasurement of the swap have

not had material impact to our consolidated financial statements For additional information relating to the terms of

the cross currency swap refer to Note 12 Debt

Streamlining Program Initiated

On October 28 2008 the Company commenced consultative process with works councils and employee

representatives regarding intended reductions in the Companys global workforce by approximately 1000 positions

of which approximately 600 were terminated as of January 31 2009 Based on the continued deterioration in the

industry in January 2009 the Company has committed to further reduction of an additional 400 employees In

many cases reductions in workforce can only be effected subject to completion of formal consultation process

with works councils in accordance with applicable local laws The Company estimates that the streamlining charges

and related cash payments associated with this activity will range from $70 million to $80 million of which $26 million

was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2008 and would result in anticipated annualized savings of approximately $55

million to $65 million The Company expects that this activity will be fully completed in the first half of 2009 It is

anticipated that the principal categories of associated costs would consist of termination and severance costs costs

associated with the provision of job outplacement services and other employee benefit related costs

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We had an unutilized accounts receivable financing facility effective of December 31 2008 This program

was subsequently terminatd
on January 12 2009
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Contractual Obligations

Following is summary of contractual obligations as of December 31 2008

Aggregate Contractual Obligations

As of December 31 2008

in millions

Payments due by period1

Contractual Obligation Total 2009 2010 and 2011 2012and 2013 Beyond 2013

Debt obligations principal plus interest2 $270.7 83.6 $10.4 $176.7

Operating lease obligations3 41.7 15.1 16.1 8.7 1.8

Tax indemnifications4 60.4 25.2

Purchase obligations5 132.6 132.6

Unfunded pension and post-retirement beneuits6 ... 313.3 30.6 59.9 61.8 161.0

FIN 48 tax liabilities7 94.1

Total $912.8 $287.1 $86.4 $247.2 $162.8

The amounts and timing of such obligations as shown in the table may vary substantially from amounts that

will actually be paid in future years For example the actual amount to be paid under debt obligations under our

primary credit agreement will depend on the amount of debt outstanding under the agreement in each year
Amounts shown for debt obligations include the associated interest amounting to $20.7 million calculated at

the December 31 2008 rates applicable to each type of debt

Amounts include future rental commitments under all non-cancelable operating leases in effect at

December 31 2008 The present value of the $41.7 million total is equivalent to approximately $36.7 million

discounted at an assumed rate of 5.5%
Amounts are estimated costs as result of transactions needed to affect the Separation of WABCO from

Trane See Note 15 Certain Tax and Indemnification Liabilities Transferred from Trane The remaining $35.2

million is classified as long term and the Company is currently unable to estimate the timing of the potential

amounts to be paid beyond 2009
In the normal course of business we expect to purchase approximately $1.1 billion in 2009 of materials and

services and estimate that on average no more than approximately $150 million is outstanding at any one time

in the form of legally binding commitments We spent approximately $1 .6 billion $1 .5 billion and $1.2 billion on
materials and services in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

Amounts represent undiscounted projected benefit payments to WABCOs unfunded plans over the next ten

years as well as expected contributions to funded pension plans for 2009 The expected benefit payments are

estimated based on the same assumptions used to measure our accumulated benefit obligation at the end of

2008 and include benefits attributable to estimated future employee service of current employees
Amounts represent the Companys unrecognized tax benefits including interest of $6.9 million potentially

owed to tax authorities as described below in Note 14 Income Taxes The entire liability is classified as long

term and the Company is currently unable to estimate the potential amounts to be paid beyond 2009

Capital Expenditures

We believe our capital spending in recent years has been sufficient to maintain efficient production capacity to

implement important product and process redesigns and to expand capacity to meet increased demand

Productivity projects have freed up capacity in our manufacturing facilities and are expected to continue to do so
We expect to continue investing to expand and modernize our existing facilities and invest in our facilities to create

capacity for new product development Due to the rapid decline that the commercial vehicle industry is experiencing

going into 2009 we expect to make capital expenditures on plant and equipment tooling and computer software in

2009 at lower levels in comparison to 2008

Effect of Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In September 2006 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued Statement of Financial

Accounting Standard SFAS No 157 Fair Value Measurements SFAS No 157 defines fair value provides
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framework for measuring fair value under current standards in GAAP and requires additional disclosure about fair

value measurements In accordance with the Statement the definition of fair value retains the exchange price

notion and exchange price is defined as the price in an orderly transaction between market participants to sell an

asset or transfer liability If there is principal market for the asset or liability the fair value measurement should

reflect that price whether that price is directly observable or otherwise used in valuation technique Depending on

the asset or liability being valued the inputs used to determine fair value can range from observable inputs i.e

prices based on market data independent from the entity and unobservable inputs i.e entitys own assumptions

about the assumptions that market participants would use The Statement applies to other accounting

pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements and will be effective for fiscal years beginning after

November 15 2007 and interim periods within those fiscal years The Company adopted SFAS No 157 as of

January 2008 and the impact of adoption was immaterial to the Companys consolidated financial statements

In February 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 159 The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial

Liabilities SFAS No 159 permits entities to voluntarily choose to measure many financial assets and financial

liabilities at fair value The election is made on an instrument-by-instrument basis and is irrevocable Unrealized

gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected are reported in earnings SFAS No 159

is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15 2007 The Company adopted SFAS No 159 as of

January 2008 and there was no impact of adoption to the Companys consolidated financial statements as the

Company elected not to measure any additional assets or liabilities at fair value

In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 141 Business Combinations SEAS No 141 requires

that identifiable assets acquired liabilities assumed and any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree be recognized

and measured as of the acquisition date at fair value regardless of the percentage of ownership The standard also

requires any shares issued for acquisition to be measured at fair value on the date of acquisition as well as any

contingent consideration recognized or pre-acquisition gain or loss contingencies In-process research and

development will not be capitalized and any acquisition related transaction costs should be expensed as incurred

SFAS No 141 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2008 Earlier application is prohibited In

accordance with the transition provisions of SFAS No 141 the Company elected to write off capitalized

transaction related costs in the fourth quarter of 2008 of approximately $1.6 million when it became probable that

the acquisition would not close before the effective date of SFAS 141R

In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 160 Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial

Statements SFAS No 160 requires that noncontrolling interest in consolidated subsidiary be displayed in the

consolidated statement of financial position as separate component of equity Consistent with the FASBs view

that noncontrolling interests are part of the equity of the consolidated group SFAS No 160 requires that earnings

attributed to the noncontrolling interests are to be reported as part of consolidated earnings and not as separate

component of income or expense Once subsidiary is consolidated any change in ownership that does not result

in loss of control is accounted for as an equity transaction However deconsolidation of subsidiary would result in

gain or loss reflected in the Companys Income Statement SFAS No 160 is effective for fiscal years beginning

after December 15 2008 Earlier application is prohibited The Company believes that the adoption of this

Statement will not have material impact on the consolidated financial statements although changes in the

financial statement presentation will be required As of December 31 2008 and 2007 the Company would reclassify

$13.4 million and $13.5 million respectively from minority interest which is currently shown in liabilities to new

line item within shareholders equity

In March 2008 the FASB issued SFAS No 161 Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging

Activities SFAS No 161 enhances disclosures for derivative instruments and hedging activities including the

manner in which company uses derivative instruments ii the manner in which derivative instruments and related

hedged items are accounted for under SFAS No 133 Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

and iii the effect of derivative instruments and related hedged items on companys financial position SFAS

No 161 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15 2008 The Company will adopt this statement as

of January 2009 As SFAS No 161 relates specifically to disclosures this standard will have no impact on our

consolidated financial condition results of operations or cash flows
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our

consolidated financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with U.S generally accepted

accounting principtes The preparation of financial statements in conformity with those accounting principles

requires us to make judgments and estimates that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial

statements and accompanying notes Those judgments and estimates have significant effect on the consolidated

financial statements because they result primarily from the need to make estimates about the effects of matters that

are inherently uncertain Actual results could differ from those estimates We frequently re-evaluate our judgments

and estimates that are based upon historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be

reasonable under the circumstances

We believe that of our significant accounting policies see Note of Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements the ones that may involve higher degree of uncertainty judgment and complexity are stock-based

compensation post-retirement benefits warranties streamlining expenses income taxes allowance for doubtful

accounts and commitments and contingencies

Allowance for Doubtful AccountsIn determining the allowance for doubtful accounts WABCO analyzes the

aging of accounts receivable historical bad debts customer creditworthiness and current economic trends

Stock-Based CompensationTrane WABCOs former parent company adopted the provisions of Statement

of Financial Accounting Standard No 123 Revised 2004 FAS 123R Share Based Payments on January

2006 FAS 123R requires the Company to measure and recognize in its combined statement of income the expense

associated with all share-based payment awards made to employees and directors including stock options

restricted stock units restricted stock grants and discounts on employee stock purchases associated with the

Employee Stock Purchase Plan ESPP based on estimated fair values The Company utilizes the Black-Scholes

option valuation model to measure the amount of compensation expense to be recognized for each option award

There are several assumptions that must be made when using the Black-Scholes model such as the expected term

of each option the expected volatility of the stock price during the expected term of the option the expected

dividends to be paid and the risk free interest rate expected during the option term The Company has reviewed

each of these assumptions carefully and based on the analysis discussed in Note of Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements determined its best estimate for these variables Of these assumptions the expected term of

the option and expected volatility of WABCOs common stock are the most difficult to estimate since they are based

on the exercise behavior of employees and expected performance of WABCOs stock An increase in the volatility of

WABCOs stock will increase the amount of compensation expense on new awards An increase in the holding

period of options will also cause an increase in compensation expense Dividend yields and risk-free interest rates

are less difficult to estimate but an increase in the dividend yield will cause decrease in expense and an increase

in the risk-free interest rate will increase compensation expense

Post-Retirement BenefitsThe Company has significant pension and post-retirement benefit costs and

liabilities that are developed from actuarial valuations inherent in these valuations are key assumptions including

discount rates expected return on plan assets mortality rates merit and promotion increases and the health care

cost trend rate The Company is required to consider current market conditions including changes in interest rates

and health care costs in making its assumptions Changes in the related pension and post-retirement benefit costs

or liabilities may occur in the future due to changes in the assumptions The assumptions as to the expected long-

term rates of return on plan assets are based upon the composition of plan assets historical long-term rates of

return on similarassets and current and expected market conditions The discount rate used for U.S plans reflects

the market rate for high-quality fixed-income investments on the Companys annual measurement date December

31 and is subject to change each year The discount rate was determined by matching on an approximate basis

the coupons and maturities for portfolio of corporate bonds rated Aa or better by Moodys Investor Services to

the expected plan benefit payments defined by the projected benefit obligation The discount rates used for plans

outside the U.S are based on combination of relevant indices regarding corporate and government securities the

duration of the
liability

and appropriate judgment decrease of one percentage point in the assumed rate of return

on plan assets and decrease of one percentage point in the discount rate applied to projected benefit obligations

would increase annual pension expense by approximately $2.7 million An increase of one percentage point in the
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assumed health care cost trend rate in each future year would increase annual health insurance costs by

approximately $0.2 million See the disclosures about pension and post-retirement obligations the composition of

plan assets assumptions and other matters in Note 11 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

WarrantiesEstimated product warranty expenses are accrued in cost of good sold at the time the related

sales are recognized Estimates of warranty expenses are based primarily on warranty claims experience and

specific customer contracts Warranty expenses include accruals for basic warranties for product sold as well as

accruals for product recalls service campaigns and other related events when they are known and estimable

To the extent we experience changes in warranty claim activity or costs associated with servicing those claims

our warranty accrual is adjusted accordingly Warranty accrual estimates are updated based upon the most current

warranty claims information available Such changes in estimates including foreign currency exchange effects

increased our warranty accrual by net of $3.8 million in 2008 $13.5 million in 2007 and $6.6 million in 2006 The

warranty accrual includes foreign currency exchange effects of $3.0 million 5.4 million and 4.1 million for the

years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively See Note 13 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial

Statements for three-year summary of warranty costs

Derivative Instruments and Hedging ActivitiesThe Company has entered frito cross currency swap to

minimize the risks and costs associated with fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates between the euro and

the U.S dollar The swap agreement is contract to exchange variable-rate for variable rate interest payments over

the life of the agreement and to exchange notional amounts of euro and U.S dollar at the termination of the

agreement The Company recognizes the derivative financial instrument in the consolidated financial statements at

fair value The Companys current derivative instrument is designated as fair value hedge of the changes in the

fair value of the underlying debt resulting from exchange rate movements between the euro and the U.S dollar

Changes in the fair value of the derivative financial instrument qualifying for hedge accounting is recorded as an

offset to the changes in fair value of the underlying hedged item and is included in the account other non-operating

expense net See Note 12-Debt for additional details

Income taxesWe record valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets to the amount that we

believe is more likely than not to be realized While we have considered future taxable income and ongoing prudent

and feasible tax planning strategies in assessing the need for the valuation allowance in the event we were to

determine that we would not be able to realize all or part of our net deferred tax assets in the future an adjustment

to decrease the net deferred tax assets would be charged to income in the period such determination was made

Likewise should we determine that we would be able to realize our deferred tax assets in the future in excess of our

net recorded amount an adjustment to increase the net deferred tax assets would increase income in the period

such determination was made Deferred tax assets have been reduced by valuation allowance of $113.1 million

We also estimate our effective income tax rate periodically considering all known factors and the estimated effects

of future events or tax planning strategies that can cause that rate to vary from the statutory rate Estimating the

outcome of future events is inherently uncertain and final resolution of those events can cause the effective rate to

vary significantly

On January 2007 WABCO adopted the provision of FASB Interpretation No 48 Accounting for Uncertainty

in Income Taxes an Interpretation of FASB Statement No 109 FIN 48 FIN 48 provides recognition criteria and

related measurement model for tax positions taken by companies In accOrdance with FIN 48 tax position is

position in previously filed tax return or position expected to be taken in future tax filing
that is reflected in

measuring current or deferred income tax assets and liabilities Tax positions shall be recognized only when it is

more likely than not likelihood of greater than 50% based on technical merits that the position will be sustained

upon examination and ultimate settlement Tax positions that meet the more likely than not threshold should be

measured using probability weighted approach as the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50% likely

of being realized upon settlement Whether the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold is met for tax position is

matter of judgment based on the individual facts and circumstances of that position evaluated in light of all

available evidence The Company accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax

expense
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Commitments and Contingencies
Commitments

WABCO and its Indian joint venture partners members of the TVS group TVS separated the non-brakes

division from the brakes division of their Indian joint venture SCL This was done through plan of demerger which

was approved by the Madras High Court and became effective on March 28 2008 under Indian law As result the

brakes business of SCL was transferred to new company WABCO-TVS INDIA Ltd WABCO-TVS the shares

of which were allocated proportionately in May 2008 to existing SCL shareholders and were listed in India as of

October 2008 Subsequent to the demerger TVS will transfer to WABCO its shares in WABCO-TVS and

WABCOs percentage ownership in WABCO-TVS will increase to minimum of approximately 64% by

September 30 2009 and expected to increase to 75% by no later than September 30 2010 Upon WABCO
obtaining control of WABCO-TVS WABCO-TVS will be included in the consolidated financial statements of the

Company Concurrent with TVS share transfers to the Company WABCO will transfer to TVS its shares in SCL

post demerger and WABCOs percentage ownership in SCL post demerger which consists of the non-brakes

division of SCL is expected to decrease to zero The Company believes that the demerger should be tax-free

based on an opinion from outside counsel The Company has also requested private letter ruling from the U.S

Internal Revenue Service The subsequent transfer of its shares in SCL post-demerger to TVS is likely to be taxable

in the US at the time of such transfer The Company continues to work with its tax advisors to validate the intended

U.S tax treatment of the planned transactions Additionally depending on the trading share prices of SCL and

WABCO-TVS at the time of transfer of shares the Company may have to remit or may receive some amount of

cash to or from TVS and gain or loss on the transaction may be recognized in the income statement

Contingencies

We are subject to proceedings lawsuits and other claims related to products and other matters We are

required to assess the likelihood of any adverse judgments or outcomes to these matters as well as potential

ranges of probable losses determination of the amount of
liability to be recorded if any for these contingencies

is made after careful analysis of each individual issue The liabilities recorded may change in the future possibly by

significant amounts due to new developments in any of the matters

As part of multi-company investigation commenced in 2004 the former American Standard and certain of its

European subsidiaries engaged in the Bath and Kitchen business were charged by the European Commission for

alleged infringements of European Union competition rules relating to the distribution of bathroom fixtures and

fittings in number of European countries Pursuant to the Indemnification and Cooperation Agreement that was

concluded in the context of the Separation WABCO Europe BVBA an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of WABCO
is responsible for and is liable to indemnify Trane and Ideal Standard International representing the successor to

the Bath and Kitchen business and owner of certain of the former American Standard subsidiaries and their

owners against any fines related to this investigation

We anticipate that this investigation may result in the imposition of fine in 2009 however we are unable to

reasonably estimate the likely amount or range of any fine that may result from this matter for the reasons that

follow Under its 2006 Fining Guidelines the Commission will determine basic amount of the fine by considering

the value of the sales of goods to which the infringement related the gravity of the infringement and its duration In

applying the 2006 Guidelines the Commission retains considerable discretion in calculating the fine including the

determination of the basic amount the evaluation of the aggravating and mitigating circumstances the availability

of leniency and the assessment of the overall deterrent effect of the fine Due to the specific circumstances and the

factual differences of published precedents so far there is insufficient guidance to allow us to ascertain how the

Commission would exercise its discretion in applying the 2006 Guidelines in the present case If the Commission

were to apply the 2006 Guidelines to the allegations as set forth in the Statement of Objections the fine could be

significant depending on whether the breadth of the allegations and the alleged duration of the infringement are

maintained American Standard and its charged European businesses presented defenses to the allegations in the

Statement of Objections as did WABCO Europe BVBA at an oral hearing with the European Commission in

November 2007 It is not possible to judge the impact of these defenses on the final outcome Following the

hearing the European Commission has twice requested additional information once in June 2008 requesting

information regarding revenue of the relevant entities for the year 2007 and again in December 2008 requesting

information of WABCO Ideal Standard International and Trane regarding the spin-off of WABCO from American
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Standard and certain historic corporate information including data regarding the corporate structures of American

Standard and its successors before and after the spin-off and the transition of entities and/or assets to Trane and

Ideal Standard International The Commission could among other things issue new Statement of Objections or

request additional information before adopting decision or it could adopt decision imposing fine We believe

that the Commission will likely request further information regarding 2008 revenue before imposing fine fine

would under the applicable rules be required to be paid within three months of the decision unless imposition of any

such fine were appealed within two months of the decision in which case we would be required to pay the fine or to

provide bank guarantee for the full amount of the fine plus interest The appeals process could take as long as 5-7

years during which time WABCO would not have access to such funds or would be required to provide bank

guarantee The Commission or the European Court of First Instance could agree to waive or suspend this

requirement for reasons of financial hardship however this outcome cannot be assured and will depend on the

relevant facts at the time

Article 23 of Council Regulation No 1/2003 provides for maximum fine equal to 10% of the parent companys

worldwide revenue attributable to all of its products for the fiscal year prior to the year in which the fine is imposed It

is unknown on what basis the Commission will calculate the maximum As we have previously reported if the

Commission had issued fine in 2007 and based it on American Standards reported worldwide revenue in 2006

the total potential maximum
liability

would have been approximately $1.1 billion subject to probable reduction for

leniency of at least 20% American Standard no longer exists The effect if any of the spin-off of WABCO from

American Standard the sale of its Bath and Kitchen business to Ideal Standard International and the merger of

Trane with Ingersoll Rand all of which occurred in 2007 and 2008 on the determination of the applicable 10% cap

is unclear Furthermore we have argued that the cap should be calculated on the basis of the revenue of the

charged European businesses rather than the parent companys worldwide revenues

The fine imposed by the Commission could be material to WABCOs operating results and cash flows for the

year in which the liability would be recognized or the fine paid We are however continuing to fully cooperate with

the Commission and believe the defenses we have presented to the Commission will be considered and taken into

account in the determination of the fine

As of December 31 2008 the Company had cash balance of $392.8 million The Company has several credit

facilities in place all of which contain covenant restrictions The $800 million five-year revolving credit facility is

non-amortizing facility that permits utilization up to the maximum level at any time through and until expiration

subject to the stipulated financial/liquidity covenants in the credit agreement The Company has entered into

50 million $70.3 million at December 31 2008 exchange rates 364 day credit agreement dated November 28

2007 Additionally on March 2008 the Company entered into two separate unsecured 364 day 100 million

credit facilities $140.7 million each at December31 exchange rates There is balance of $33.0 million

outstanding on the $800 million credit facility There is balance of $70.3 million outstanding on the 50 million 364

day credit agreement There is balance of $140.7 million outstanding on one of the 364 day 100 million credit

facilities There is no balance outstanding on the remaining 364 day 100 million facility as of December 31 2008

The borrowings under our existing credit agreements are limited by covenants See Credit Agreements above

for an overview of the covenants The covenant which is expected to be the most restrictive based on the current

economic downturn requires that our total net indebtedness not exceed three times trailing four quarters adjusted

EBITDA as defined in the agreement to the five year $800 million credit facility As of December 31 2008 our

trailing four quarters adjusted EBITDA is $389.5 million which consists of $58.2 million for the fourth quarter $100.4

million for the third quarter $115.8 million for the second quarter and $115.1 million for the first quarter Given net

indebtedness of $150 million at December 31 2008 this resulted in an EBITDA covenant ratio of 0.4 to We

would expect that this covenant will limit our ability to borrow under our existing credit agreements in 2009 The

Company is proactively addressing this matter by pursuing alternative financing arrangements that would not be

subject to the EBITDA covenant As described above the Companys accounts receivable financing facility was

terminated on January 12 2009 as result of an event outside of the Companys control The Company is in

negotiations to obtain substitute facility to replace the loss of this accounts receivable financing facility which is

expected to be similar in nature but may differ in size Additionally other potential sources of financing that the

Company is considering include but are not limited to the following ifactoring of additional accounts receivable

balances ii inventory financing programs iiisale-leaseback of certain property plant and equipment and

iv obtain waiver or renegotiate the debt covenants on our existing $800 million five-year credit facility If fine in
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excess of our funding capability were issued the Company would seek approval from the Commission for

alternative payment measures such as payment in installments which is available in certain circumstances As

further option the Company may be able to apply for court-ordered suspension of its payment obligation to the

Court of First Instance statutory avaitable remedy in cases of hardship The uncertainty of the extent and duration

of the current global industry downturn requires us to observe that if the fine were to be issued in an amount in

excess of our funding capability at that time and various mitigating actions which the Company has implemented

and is planning were to fail the fine could have material adverse effect on the financial condition and liquidity of

WABCO See also Item 1A Risk Factors

In conjunction with the Tax Sharing Agreement as further discussed in Note 15 Tax and Indemnification

Liabilities Transferred from Trane to WABCO in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements WABCO is

responsible for certain tax and indemnification liabilities These liabilities include indemnifications to Trane of $60.4

million related to the non-U.S entities of Tranes Bath Kitchen business The unrecognized tax benefits of $94.1

million discussed further within Note 14 Income Taxes includes $20.0 million of unrecognized tax benefits related

to Tranes Bath Kitchen business for which WABCO has obligations directly to tax authorities

Cyclical and Seasonal Nature of Business

The industry in which we operate is cyclical Over 70% of our sales are for newly manufactured trucks buses

and trailers the production of which follows long investment cycles and are impacted by macro economic factors

and legislation Global commercial vehicle production has consistently been growing since 2001 In the fourth

quarter of 2008 however the global commercial vehicle markets experienced the beginning of significant decline

that is unprecedented in its breadth depth and speed It is currently accelerating into the first part of 2009 The

uncertainty of the development of the global economy makes it difficult to predict how demand for commercial

vehicles will develop in 2009 The continued adoption of new technologies by truck and bus manufacturers helps to

mitigate some of the impact of declines in truck and bus production The commercial vehicle industry is not subject

to seasonal impacts

ITEM 7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We conduct operations through subsidiaries in most of the major countries of Western Europe Brazil Poland

China South Korea and Japan as well as the US In addition we conduct business in some countries through

affiliated companies and partnerships in which we own 50% or less of the stock or partnership interest Fluctuations

in currency exchange rates have significant impact on the reported results of our operations which are presented

in U.S dollars The largest of these exposures to currency exchange rates is between the euro and U.S dollar We
believe our primary exposures to changes in currency exchange rates are associated with the following

TranslationWe face foreign currency exposure that arises from translating the results of our operations

to the U.S dollar at exchange rates that have fluctuated throughout the year hypothetical 10%

weakening of all other currencies in relation to the U.S dollar would have resulted in an approximate $20.1

million reduction in the 2008 reported net income

Sourcing and manufacturing strategyA significant and growing portion of our products are sourced and

manufactured in currencies different than the currency in which they are sold resulting in increased

exposure to foreign exchange risks Based on our 2008 transaction flow 10% weakening of all other

currencies in relation to the U.S dollar would have resulted in an approximate $5.3 million increase in the

2008 reported net income

Transaction gains and lossesCertain of our monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in

currencies other than the functional currency of the respective entity Based on December 31 2008

balances 10% weakening of all other currencies in relation to the U.S dollar would have resulted in an

approximate $1.1 million decrease in the 2008 reported net income

The aggregate impact of hypothetical 10% weakening of all other currencies in relation to the U.S dollar

relating to the abovementioned exposures would have resulted in an approximate $13.7 million decrease in the

2008 reported net income
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ITEM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of WABCO Holdings Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of WABCO Holdings Inc and subsidiaries as

of December 31 2008 and 2007 and the related consolidated statements of income shareholders equity/owners

net investment and comprehensive income and cash flows for each of the two years
in the period ended

December 31 2008 Our audit also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15a
These financial statements and schedules are the responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility

is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedules based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test basis

evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes assessing the

accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as weU as evaluating the overall

financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the

consolidated financial position of WABCO Holdings Inc and subsidiaries at December 31 2008 and 2007 and the

consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each the two years in the period ended

December 31 2008 in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles Also in our opinion the

related financial statement schedules when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as

whole presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States WABCO Holdings Inc.s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2008 based on

criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations

of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 23 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

As discussed in Note to the consolidated financial statements the Company changed its method of

accounting for uncertainty in income taxes on January 2007

Ernst Young Bedrijfsrevisoren BCVBNReviseurs dEntreprises SCCRL

Represented by
Is Harry Everaerts Partner

Brussels Belgium

February 23 2009
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of WABCO Holdings Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of income owners net investment and

comprehensive income and cash flows of WABCO Holdings Inc for the year ended December 31 2006 Our audit

also included the related financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15a for the year ended

December 31 2006 These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of WABCO Holdings Inc.s

management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our

audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement We were not engaged to perform an audit of the

Companys internal control over financial reporting Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial

reporting as basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the

purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting

Accordingly we express no such opinion An audit also includes examining on test basis evidence supporting

the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements assessing the accounting principles used and significant

estimates made by management and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our

audit provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the

consolidated results of WABCO Holdings Inc.s operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31
2006 in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles Also in our opinion the related financial

statement schedule when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as whole presents fairly

in all material respects the information set forth therein

As discussed in Note to the financial statements the Company changed its methods of accounting for stock

based compensation on January 2006 and defined benefit pension and other post-retirement plan obligations on

December 31 2006

Is ERNST YOUNG LLP

New York New York

February 22 2007
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WABCO HOLDINGS INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Year Ended December 31

Amounts In millions except share and per share data 2008 2007 2006

Sales 2588.0 2415.9 2015.2

Cost of sales 1894.0 1764.2 1463.5

Gross profit
694.0 651.7 551.7

Costs and expenses

Selling and administrative expenses 343.2 299.8 255.0

Product engineering expenses 92.9 84.2 72.2

Other operating expense net 11.4 26.0 1.5

Operating Income 246.5 241.7 223.0

Equity income of unconsolidated joint ventures 8.1 9.1 23.3

Other non-operating expense net 6.8 9.6 9.3

Interest incomeexpense net 3.7 3.0 51

Interest expense net-related party
.5 6.2

Income before income taxes 251.5 236.7 225.7

Income taxes 38.2 111.3 87.9

Net income 213.3 125.4 137.8

Net income per common share

Basic 3.28 1.85

Diluted 3.24 1.81

Pro-forma net income per common share

Basic
2.03

Diluted
1.98

Cash dividends per share of common stock 0.28 0.14

Common shares outstanding

Basic 65113404 67887919

Diluted 65871941 69270661

Pro-forma common shares outstanding

Basic 67867159

Diluted
69696428

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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WABCO HOLDINGS INC

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31

Amounts in millions except share data 2008 2007

ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 392.8 183.2

Accounts receivable less allowance for doubtful accounts$6.9 in 2008 $6.4 in 2007 313.8 464.6

Inventories 162.7 177.4

Taxes receivable on income 20.0

Future income tax benefits 4.3 8.0

Other current assets 54.4 54.2

Total current assets 948.0 887.4

Facilities less accumulated depreciation 315.8 336.2

Goodwill 360.8 376.8

Capitalized software costs net of accumulated amortization$1 45.9 in 2008
$1 29.1 in 2007 .- 22.7 35.1

Long-term future income tax benefits 29.1 40.7

Investment in unconsolidated joint ventures 74.0 83.0

Other assets 25.6 35.0

TOTALASSETS $1776.0 $1794.2

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY
Current liabilities

Loans payable to banks 76.4 10.2

Accounts payable 108.3 193.5

Accrued payroll 89.8 100.1

Current portion of warranties 54.2 49.7

Taxes payable on income 12.8

Indemnification liabilities 25.2 26.4

Other accrued liabilities 74.5 91.6

Total current liabilities 428.4 484.3

Long-term debt 173.6 116.0

Post-retirement benefits 319.9 334.1

Deferred tax liabilities 26.6 25.6

Minority interest 13.4 13.5

Long-term indemnification liabilities 35.2 556

Long-term income tax liabilities 94.1 95.6

Other 83.3 61.9

Total liabilities 1174.5 1186.6
Commitments and contingencies

Shareholders equity

Preferred stock 4000000 shares authorized none issued and outstanding

Common stock $.01 par value 400000000 shares authorized shares issued

69921105 in 2008 69100909 in 2007 and shares outstanding 3964299 in 2008
66528209 in 2007 0.7 0.7

Capital Surplus 578.4 548.3

Treasury stock at cost 5956806 in 2008 2572700 shares in 2007 276.3 122.8
Retained earnings 271.4 76.4

Accumulated other comprehensive income

Foreign currency translation adjustments 51.4 128.6

Unrealized losses on benefit plans net of tax 24.1 23.6

Total shareholders equity 601.5 607.6

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY $1776.0 $17942

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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WABCO HOLDINGS INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31

Amounts In milUons
2008 2007 2006

Operating activities

Net income 213.3 125.4 137.8

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used provided by operating

activities

Depreciation
71.8 63.6 49.2

Amortization of capitalized software and other intangibles
24.7 28.7 32.6

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated joint ventures net of dividends received 0.6 0.1 4.7

Non-cash stock compensation 8.8 4.4 2.7

Deferred income taxes 4.9 18.9 15.7

Loss on sale of facilities 0.1 2.9 .6

Changes in assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable 115.9 233.9 38.2

Inventories 4.8 21.3 9.7

Accounts payable 76.2 27.0 5.0

Other accrued liabilities and taxes 46.8 29.7 56.3

Post-retirement benefits 3.6 3.3 31.4

Other current and long-term assets 5.4 .5 21 .8

Other long-term liabilities 13.1 15.6 11.7

Net cash provided used by operating activities 324.8 0.3 175.4

Investing activities

Purchases of property plant and equipment 78.0 69.8 65.2

Investments in capitalized software 5.6 7.9 7.5

Proceeds from disposal of property plant and equipment .9

Net cash used in investing activities 83.6 75.8 72.7

Financing activities

Borrowings of long-term debt 156.5 142.4 64.8

Repayments of long-term debt 202.0 52.7

Net repayments borrowings of revolving credit facilities 83.0 116.0

Net repayments borrowings of short-term debt 58.2 8.6 10.3

Purchases of treasury stock 153.5 122.8

Dividend payments 18.3 9.6
Proceeds from exercise of stock options

21.5 18.1

Net transfers from Trane orTrane affiliated entities 281.0 132.5

Net cash provided/used by financing activities 18.6 214.5 110.1

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 13.0 10.0 2.3

Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents 209.6 148.4 5.1

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
183.2 34.8 39.9

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 392.8 183.2 34.8

Cash paid during the year for

Interest 6.2 4.7 5.0

income taxes 82.6 65.7 48.9

Non cash Items for the year

Pension reserves transferred from Trane 8.1

VAT receivables transferred from Trane 6.8

Tax reserves and separation taxes transferred from Trane 97.1

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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WABCO HOLDINGS INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY/OWNERS NET IN VESTMENT AND

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Amounts in millions

Balance at December 31
2005

Net income

Foreign currency

translation

Minimum pension liability

adjustment net of taxes

Unrealized losses on pension

adoption of FAS 158 net of

tax

Total comprehensive
income

Non-cash stock

compensation

Net transfers to Trane and

affiliates

Balance at December 31
2006

Net income prior to

Separation

Net income post

separation

Foreign currency

translation

Unrealized gains on pension
net of tax

Total comprehensive
income

Net transfers from Trane and

affiliates

Common stock issued upon

separation

Transfer upon separation

Treasury stock purchased

Stock options exercised

Stock-based compensation
Dividends paid

Balance at December 31
2007

Net income

Foreign currency

translation

Unrealized gains on pension

net of tax

Total comprehensive
income

Treasury stock purchased
Stock options exercised

Stock-based compensation
Other stock issued

Dividends paid

Balance at December 31
2008

525.8

0.7

525.8

18.1

4.4

21.5

8.4

0.2

0.7 $578.4

Accumulated Other

ComprehensIve income

Minimum
Pension

Liability

Adlustment

$134.2

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Unrealized

Foreign Losses on

Currency Benefit

Owners Common Capital Treasury Retained Translation Plans net Comprehensive
Investment Stock Surplus Stock Earnings Effects of tax income

298.0 $63.9 $51.1

137.8 $137.8

18.5 5.3 13.2

23.0 23.0

33.4 73.2 39.8

2.7

132.5

306.0 82.4 $73.2

39.4 39.4

86.0 86.0

46.2 4.0 42.2

53.6 53.6

$221.2

180.4

122.8

9.6

0.7 $548.3 $122.8 $76.4 $128.6 $23.6

213.3 $213.3

77.2 2.7 79.9

2.2 2.2

$135.6

153.5

18.3

$276.3 $271.4 51.4 $24.1
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WABCO HOLDINGS INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31 2008

NOTE Description of Company and Basis of Presentation

WABCO Holdings Inc WABCO or the Company develops manufactures and sells advanced braking

stability suspension and transmission control systems primarily for commercial vehicles WABCOs largest selling

products are braking systems ABS and EBS automated manual transmission controls and air suspension

controls for heavy and medium-sized trucks buses and trailers WABCO sells its products to four groups of

customers around the world truck and bus original equipment manufacturers OEMs trailer OEMs aftermarket

distributors of replacement parts and services and automotive OEMs

On February 2007 Trane Inc formerly known as American Standard Companies Inc Trane announced

that its Board of Directors completed strategic review of Trane and unanimously approved plan to separate its

Vehicle Control Systems business as an independent publicly traded company named WABCO Holdings Inc the

Separation Trane implemented the Separation on July 31 2007 through tax-free stock dividend of all of

WABCOs common stock to Trane shareowners who received one share of WABCO ôommon stock for every three

shares of Trane common stock owned on the record date of July 19 2007 the Distribution The Separation has

provided WABCO with certain opportunities and benefits including increased strategic focus increased market

recognition improved capital flexibility and increased ability to attract retain and motivate employees The

Separation has not triggered change-in-control accelerated benefits for any officers or employees of WABCO

Prior to July 31 2007 the historical consolidated financial statements have been derived from the consolidated

financial statements and accounting records of Trane principally representing the Vehicle Control Systems

segment using the historical results of operations and historical basis of assets and liabilities of the Vehicle Control

Systems segment and reflecting Tranes net investment in the Vehicle Control Systems segment through July 31

2007 Historically stand-alone consolidated financial statements were not prepared for the Vehicle Control Systems

segment The accompanying consolidated financial statements include allocations of costs that were incurred by

Trane for functions such as corporate human resources finance and legal through July 31 2007 These costs

include the costs of salaries benefits and other related costs The total costs allocated to the accompanying

consolidated financial statements for these functions amounted to $12.9 million and $21.8 million for the years

ended December 31 2007 and 2006 respectively These costs are included in selling and administrative expenses

in the accompanying consolidated financial statements The primary driver underlying these allocations is total

WABCO revenue as percentage of the total consolidated revenue of Trane Management believes the

assumptions underlying the allocations included in the consolidated financial statements are reasonable

Because prior to July 31 2007 direct ownership relationship did not exist among all of the various units and

entities comprising WABCO Tranes net investment in WABCO is shown in lieu of shareholders equity in the

consolidated financial statements through July 31 2007

The historical consolidated financial statements through July 31 2007 include the accounts of certain majority-

owned subsidiaries of Trane and intercompany transactions are eliminated Subsequent to the Separation all

majority owned subsidiaries of WABCO are included in the consolidated financial statements and intercompany

transactions are eliminated WABCO investments in unconsolidated joint ventures are included at cost plus its

equity in undistributed earnings in accordance with the equity method of accounting and reflected as investments in

unconsolidated joint ventures in the consolidated balance sheet Certain amounts in the prior years consolidated

financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation

Historically WABCOs operations have been substantially funded through Tranes primary bank credit

agreement through either intercompany loans or intercompany advances The historical accompanying consolidated

financial statements through July 31 2007 reflect the interest expense or income if any charged or received on

these intercompany arrangements

Although the historical consolidated financial statements for periods prior to the Separation may not

necessarily reflect WABCOs results of operations financial position and cash flows subsequent to the Separation
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management believes the differences between the amounts presented and what its results of operations financial

position and cash flows would have been had WABCO been standalone company during the periods presented

would not be material

NOTE Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Use of EstimatesThe preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S generally

accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts

reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes Actual results could differ from those

estimates Some of the most significant estimates included in the preparation of the consolidated financial

statements are related to stock-based compensation post-retirement benefits warranties streamlining expenses

income taxes allowance for doubtful accounts and commitments and contingencies Allocation methods are

described in the notes to these consolidated financial statements where appropriate

Foreign Currency TranslationIn accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 52

Foreign Currency Translation adjustments resulting from translating foreign functional currency assets and liabilities

into U.S dollars are recorded in separate component of shareholders equity/owners net investment Gains or

losses resulting from transactions in other than the functional currency are reflected in-the consolidated statement of

income except for intercompany transactions of long-term investment nature

Revenue RecognitionIn accordance with Securities and Exchange Commissions Staff Accounting Bulletin

No 104 sales of products are recorded upon shipment if title passes to the customer upon shipment or upon

delivery if title passes to the customer upon delivery ii when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists with

the customer iii when the sales price is fixed and determinable and iv when the collectability of the sales price is

reasonably assured Amounts billed to customers for shipping and handling costs are included in sales

In accordance with EITF 01-9 Accounting for Consideration Given By Vendor to Customer WABCO

typically records cooperative advertising allowances rebates and other forms of sales incentives as reduction of

sales at the later of the date of the sale or the date the incentive is offered WABCO recorded $38.3 million $33.0

million and $27.5 million in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively in the accompanying consolidated statements of

income

In most countries where WABCO operates sales are subject to VAT taxes The Revenues are presented net of

VAT in the consolidated statements of income

Shipping and Handling Costs-Shipping handling receiving inspecting warehousing internal transfer

procurement and other costs of distribution are included in cost of sales in the consolidated statements of income

Cash EquivalentsCash equivalents include all highly liquid investments with maturity of three months or less

when purchased

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts-In determining the allowance for doubtful accounts WABCO analyzes the

aging of accounts receivable historical bad debts customer creditworthiness and current economic trends

InventoriesInventory costs are determined by the use of the last-in first-out LIFO method and are stated

at the lower of such cost or realizable value The LIFO method is used as it provides better matching of the costs

to the sales

FacilitiesProperty plant and equipment balances are slated at cost less accumulated depreciation WABCO
capitalizes costs including interest during construction of fixed asset additions improvements and betterments

that add to productive capacity or extend the asset life WABCO assesses facilities for impairment when events or

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of these assets may not be recoverable Maintenance and repair

expenditures are expensed as incurred

Depreciation-Depreciation and amortization are computed on the straight-line method based on the

estimated useful life of the asset or asset group which are 40 years for buildings years for tooling and to 15

years for machinery and equipment
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Computer Software Costsln accordance with Statement of Position 98-1 Accounting for the Costs of

Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use WABCO capitalizes the costs of obtaining or

developing internal-use computer software including directly related payroll costs WABCO amortizes those costs

over periods up to seven years beginning when the software is ready for its intended use WABCO recorded $16.8

million $14.0 million and $13.9 million in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively in the accompanying consolidated

statements of income

GoodwillIn accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 142 Goodwill and Other

Intangible Assets goodwill is not amortized but is subject to impairment tests each fiscal year or more often when

events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of goodwill may not be recoverable The Company tests

goodwill for impairment in the fourth quarter of each fiscal year or at any other time when impairment indicators

exist Examples of such indicators which would cause the Company to test goodwill for impairment between annual

tests include significant change in the business climate significant unexpected competition loss of key personnel

or decline in the Companys market capitalization below its net book value

The Company determines fair value of its business using market approach which consists of one reporting

unit If circumstances change or events occur to indicate that the Companys fair value has fallen below book value

the Company will compare the estimated fair value of goodwill to its book value If the book value of goodwill

exceeds the estimated fair value of goodwill the Company will recognize the difference as an impairment loss in

operating income

Debt Issuance CostsThe costs related to the issuance of debt are capitalized and amortized over the life of

the related debt

WarrantiesProducts sold by WABCO are covered by basic limited warranty with terms and conditions that

vary depending upon the product and country in which it was sold The limited warranty covers the equipment parts

and labor in certain cases necessary to satisfy the warranty obligation for period of two years generally

Estimated product warranty expenses are accrued in cost of good sold at the time the related sale is recognized

Estimates of warranty expenses are based primarily on warranty claims experience and specific customer

contracts Warranty expenses include accruals for basic warranties for product sold as well as accruals for product

recalls service campaigns and other related events when they are known and estimable To the extent WABCO

experiences changes in warranty claim activity or costs associated with servicing those claims its warranty accrual

is adjusted accordingly Warranty accrual estimates are updated based upon the most current warranty claims

information available See Note 13 for summary of warranties

Post-retirement BenefitsAll post-retirement benefits are accounted for on an accrual basis using actuarial

assumptions in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 87 EmployersAccounting for

Pensions and No 106 Employers Accounting for Post-Retirement Benefits Other Than Pensions and related

guidance Post-retirement pension benefits are provided for substantially all employees of WABCO both in the U.S

and abroad through plans specific to each of WABCOs legal entities In addition in the U.S and Brazil certain

employees receive post-retirement health care and life insurance benefits The costs of the benefits provided

through plans of WABCO are also included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements and summarized

in detail along with other information pertaining to these plans in Note 11 Plans are primarily concentrated in the

United Kingdom Austria Germany and Switzerland In December 2006 the Company adopted certain provisions

of Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No 158 FAS 158 Employers Accounting for Defined Benefit

Pension and Other Post-Retirement Plans an amendment of FASB Statements No 87 88 106 and 132R FAS

158 requires an entity to recognize in its statement of financial position an asset for defined benefit post-

retirement plans overfunded status or liability for plans underfunded status

FAS 158 also requires an entity to measure defined benefit post-retirement plans assets and obligations that

determine its funded status as of the end of the employers fiscal year and recognize changes in the funded status

of defined benefit post-retirement plan in comprehensive income in the year in which the changes occur This

provision was adopted by the Company for the year ended December 31 2008 Since the Company currently has

measurement date of December 31st for substantially all plans this provision did not have material impact to the

consolidated financial statements
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Fair Value of Financial InstrumentsFinancial instruments consist mainly of cash accounts receivable

accounts payable loans payable to banks and long-term debt At December 31 2008 and 2007 the carrying

amounts of these instruments approximated their fair values

Derivative Instruments and Hedging ActivitiesThe Company enters into cross currency swaps to minimize

the risks and costs associated with fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates between the euro and the U.S
dollar The swap agreements are contracts to exchange variable-rate for variable rate interest payments over the

life of the agreements and to exchange notional amounts of euro and U.S dollar at the termination of the

agreement The Company recognizes all derivative financial instruments in the consolidated financial statements at

fair value The Companys current derivative instrument is designated as fair value hedge of the changes in the

fair value of the underlying debt resulting from exchange rate movements between the euro and the U.S dollar

Changes in the fair value of the derivative financial instrument qualifying for hedge accounting are recorded as an

offset to the changes in fair value of the underlying hedged item and are included in the account other

non-operating expense net On July 29 2008 the Company entered into cross currency swap As of

December 31 2008 the fair market value of the cross currency swap was approximately $15.7 million is classified

as long term within other liabilities on the balance sheet See Note 12 for additional details

Research Development and Engineering ExpensesResearch and development costs are expensed as

incurred WABCO expended approximately $92.9 million in 2008 $84.2 million in 2007 and $72.2 million in 2006 for

research activities product development and for product engineering

Income TaxesIn accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 109 Accounting for

Income Taxes deferred income taxes are determined on the asset and liability method and are recognized for all

temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the consoiir1aed

financial statements No provision is made for U.S income taxes applicable to undistributed earnings of foreign

subsidiaries that are indefinitely reinvested Prior to July 31 2007 WABCO had been included in Tranes

consolidated federal and state income tax returns The provision for income taxes for those periods has been

computed as if WABCO filed its own consolidated income tax returns separate and apart from Trane

On January 2007 the Company adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation No 48 Accounting for

Uncertainty in Income Taxes an Interpretation of FASB Statement No 109 FIN 48 FIN 48 provides recognition

criteria and related measurement model for tax positions taken by companies In accordance with FIN 48 tax

position is position in previously filed tax return or position expected to be taken in future tax filing oa
reflected in measuring current or deferred income tax assets and liabilities Tax positions shall be recognized only

when it is more likely than not likelihood of greater than 50% based on technical merits that the position will be

sustained upon examination Tax positions that meet the more likely than not threshold should be measured using

probability weighted approach as the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized

upon settlement

Earnings Per ShareFor all periods prior to July 31 2007 and issuance of the common stock of WABCO the

pro-forma number of common shares outstanding for basic and diluted earnings per share was determined by

applying the distribution ratio of one share of WABCO common stock for every three shares of Trane common stock

outstanding and including the effect of dilutive Trane common stock equivalents as of June 30 2007

Subsequent to July 31 2007 basic net income per share has been computed using the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding The average number of outstanding shares of common stock used in

computing diluted net income per share included 758537 and 1382742 weighted average incremental shares for

the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively The weighted average incremental shares represent

the net amount of shares the Company would issue upon the assumed exercise of in-the-money stock options and

vesting of Restricted Stock Units RSUs after assuming that the Company would use the proceeds from the

exercise of options to repurchase treasury stock The years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 excluded

1553054 and 111887 shares due to their anti-dilutive effect respectively Anti-dilutive options represent those

options whose exercise price was greater than the average price of the Companys common stock during the years

ended December 31 2008 and 2007
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Comprehensive IncomeComprehensive income consists of net income foreign currency translation

adjustments and pension liability adjustments unrecognized gains or losses on post-retirement benefit plans and is

presented in the accompanying consolidated statement of shareholders equity/owners net investment and

comprehensive income

Stock-Based CompensationThe accompanying consolidated financial statements reflect the provisions of

Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No 123-Revised FAS 123R Share Based Payments adopted on

January 2006 using the modified prospective approach FAS 123R requires WABCO to measure and recognize

in its statement of income the expense associated with all share-based payment awards made to employees and

directors including stock options restricted stock units and discounts on employee stock purchases associated

with Tranes Employee Stock Purchase Plan ESPP based on either estimated fair values or actual fair values in

the case of restricted stock and restricted stock unit grants Under the modified prospective approach WABCO

began to recognize as expense the cost of unvested awards outstanding as of January 2006 as well as the cost

of awards granted after January 2006

Prior to Separation certain WABCO employees participated in the stock-based compensation plans of Trane

Under these plans certain WABCO employees had received grants of stock options In addition all eligible WABCO

employees were provided with the opportunity to participate in Tranes employee stock purchase plan ESPP
Stock options granted to WABCO employees under Tranes plans had generally vested ratably over three years on

the anniversary date of the awards and were exercisable generally over period of ten years Tranes ESPP

provided those employees that had enrolled with the ability to purchase shares of Tranes stock at the end of each

calendar quarter through payroll deductions at discount of 15% from the market price of Tranes stock as quoted

on the New York Stock Exchange on the last day of each calendar quarter

All options granted prior to 2007 were adjusted upon the Distribution into two separate options one relating to

the Companys common stock and one relating to Trane common stock This adjustment was made such that

immediately following the Distribution the number of shares relating to the Company options were equal to the

number of shares of Company common stock that the option holder would have received in the Distribution had

Trane options represented outstanding shares of Trane common stock and ii the per share option exercise price

of the original Trane stock option was proportionally allocated between the two types of stock options based upon

the relative per share trading prices of the Company and Trane immediately following the Distribution Thus upon

the Distribution WABCO options are being held by both WABCO and Trane employees and Trane options

continued to be held by WABCO employees Options granted to WABCO employees in 2007 were equitably

adjusted upon Distribution so as to relate solely to shares of the Companys common stock These adjustments

preserved the economic value of the awards immediately prior to the Distribution All Company options issued as

part of this adjustment and the Trane options will continue to be subject to their current vesting schedules Further

for purposes of vesting and the post-termination exercise periods applicable to such stock options the Trane Inc

Management Development and Compensation Committee determined that continued employment with the

Company will be viewed as continued employment with the issuer of the options

WABCO uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to value the stock options Total stock-based

compensation cost recognized during the years ending December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 of $8.4 million $4.4

million and $2.4 million respectively has been included in the accompanying consolidated statements of income

The Company has recognized in expense in the periods subsequent to the adoption of FAS 123R expense arising

from Trane common stock options WASCO common stock options and Restricted Stock Units only for those stock

compensation awards held by WABCO employees Outstanding WABCO options held by non-WABCO employees

or directors arise as result of the Distribution and are not reflected in compensation expense recognized by the

Company Consequently these stock options do not result in any tax benefits to the Company at any time The

WABCO options held by non-employees or directors are considered in the Companys diluted EPS calculation

NOTE Effect of Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In September 2006 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued Statement of Financial

Accounting Standard SFAS No 157 Fair Value Measurements SFAS No 157 defines fair value provides

framework for measuring fair value under current standards in GAAP and requires additional disclosure about fair

value measurements In accordance with the Statement the definition of fair value retains the exchange price
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notion and exchange price is defined as the price in an orderly transaction between market participants to sell an

asset or transfer liability If there is principal market for the asset or liability the fair value measurement should

reflect that price whether that price is directly observable or otherwise used in valuation technique Depending on

the asset or liability being valued the inputs used to determine fair value can range from observable inputs i.e

prices based on market data independent from the entity and unobservable inputs i.e entitys own assumptions

about the assumptions that market participants would use The Statement applies to other accounting

pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements and will be effective for fiscal years beginning after

November 15 2007 and interim periods within those fiscal years The Company adopted SFAS No 157 as of

January 2008 and the impact of adoption was immaterial to the Companys consolidated financial statements

In February 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 159 The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial

Liabilities SFAS No 159 permits entities to voluntarily choose to measure many financial assets and financial

liabilities at fair value The election is made on an instrument-by-instrument basis and is irrevocable Unrealized

gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected are reported in earnings SFAS No 159

is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15 2007 The Company adopted SFAS No 159 as of

January 2008 and there was no impact of adoption to the Companys consolidated financial statements as the

Company elected not to measure any additional assets or liabilities at fair value

In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 141 Business Combinations SFAS No 141 requires

that identifiable assets acquired liabilities assumed and any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree be recognized

and measured as of the acquisition date at fair value regardless of the percentage of ownership The standard also

requires any shares issued for acquisition to be measured at fair value on the date of acquisition as well as any

contingent consideration recognized or pre-acquisition gain or loss contingencies In-process research and

development will not be capitalized and any acquisition related transaction costs should be expensed as incurred

SFAS No 141 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2008 Earlier application is prohibited In

accordance with the transition provisions of SFAS No 141 the Company elected to write off capitalized

transaction related costs in the fourth quarter of 2008 of approximately $1.6 million when it became probable that

the acquisition would not close before the effective date of SFAS 141

In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 160 Non controlling Interests in Consolidated Financial

Statements SFAS No 160 requires that noncontrolling interest in consolidated subsidiary be displayed in the

consolidated statement of financial position as separate component of equity Consistent with the FASBs view
that noncontrolling interests are part of the equity of the consolidated group SFAS No 160 requires that earnings

attributed to the noncontrolling interests are to be reported as part of consolidated earnings and not as separate

component of income or expense Once subsidiary is consolidated any change in ownership that does not result

in loss of control is accounted for as an equity transaction However deconsolidation of subsidiary would result in

gain or loss reflected in the Companys Income Statement SFAS No 160 is effective for fiscal years beginning

after December 15 2008 Earlier application is prohibited The Company believes that the adoption of this

Statement will not have material impact on the consolidated financial statements although changes in the

financial statement presentation will be required As of December 31 2008 and 2007 the Company would reclassify
$13.4 million and $13.5 million respectively from minority interest which is currently shown in liabilities to new
tine item within shareholders equity

In March 2008 the FASB issued SFAS No 161 Disclosures about LYerivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities SFAS No 161 enhances disclosures for derivative instruments and hedging activities including the

manner in which company uses derivative instruments ii the manner in which derivative instruments and related

hedged items are accounted for under SFAS No 133 Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

and iii the effect of derivative instruments and related hedged items on companys financial position SFAS
No 161 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15 2008 The Company will adopt this statement as

of January 2009 As SFAS No 161 relates specifically to disclosures this standard will have no impact on our

consolidated financial condition results of operations or cash flows
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NOTE Streamlining Expenses

Following is summary of the streamlining programs consisting of termination payments and other employee

costs outstanding as of December 31 2008 amounts in millions

2008 Streamlining Programs

Charges during the year of 2008 36.9

Payments during the year of 2008 10.4

Balance as of December 31 2008 26.5

2007 Streamlining Programs

Balance as of December 31 2007 8.2

Payments during the year of 2008 2.9

Balance as of December 31 2008 5.3

2006 and earlier Streamlining Programs

Balance as of December 31 2007 5.7

Payments during the year of 2008 22
Balance as of December 31 2008 3.5

Total Balance as of December 31 2008 35.3

During 2008 WABCO incurred charges totaling $36.9 million related to streamlining activities of which $10.5

million is included in cost of sales and $26.4 million is included in selling and administrative expenses These

actions included the elimination of 290 jobs The Company also eliminated temporary positions during 2008 which

have no impact on future streamlining costs WABCO expects that approximately $13.6 million will be paid in 2009

on the remaining balance of $26.5 million related to 2008 programs

During 2008 WABCO paid $2.9 million of cash on 2007 programs WABCO expects that approximately $2.7

million will be paid in 2009 on the remaining balance of $5.3 million related to 2007 programs

During 2008 WABCO paid $0.8 million of cash on 2006 programs and $1.4 million on earlier year programs

WABCO expects that approximately $2.0 million will be paid in 2009 on the remaining balance of $3.5 million

related to 2006 and earlier programs

The total
liability

balance of $35.3 million is recorded in other accrued liabilities and other liabilities in the

accompanying consolidated balance sheet

During 2007 WABCO incurred charges totaling $12.8 million related to streamlining activities of which $3.7

million is included in cost of sales and $9.1 million is included in selling and administrative expenses These charges

included $0.9 million related to 2006 plans primarily related to severance and early retirement plans These actions

included the elimination of 90 jobs

During 2006 WABCO incurred charges totaling $8.2 million related to streamlining expenses of which $1.3

million was included in cost of sales and $6.9 million was included in selling and administrative expenses These

charges included $7.4 million related to 2006 plans and $0.8 million related to prior period plans primarily related to

severance These actions included the elimination of 59 jobs

NOTE CapItal Stock

The Companys Certificate of Incorporation authorizes the Company to issue up to 400000000 shares of

common stock par value $.01 per share and 4000000 shares of preferred stock par value $.01 per share As

result of the Distribution there were 68131836 shares of WABCO common stock outstanding on August 12007

The Company paid dividends of $18.3 million in 2008 and $9.6 million in 2007 on our common stock On

January 29 2009 the Board of Directors approved the payment of dividend of $0.07 per share of common stock

to be paid on March 20 2009 to shareholders of record on March 2009
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The Company purchased 3384106 shares of common stock in 2008 for $153.5 million As of December 31
2008 the unexpended authorization under the Companys share repurchase programs was $223.7 million available

to repurchase shares under an authorization by the Board of Directors to repurchase up to $500 million which

expires on September 2009 Currently the Company is not making any additional share repurchases under the

buy back program Timing of future purchases will vary depending on financial market conditions and other factors

The WABCO Holdings Inc Omnibus Incentive Plan the Omnibus Plan was formally adopted by our Board
of Directors prior to the Distribution The Omnibus Plan is intended to promote our long-term financial success and
increase shareholder value by providing us with the flexibility to implement annual and long-term cash equity and
equity-based incentives The Omnibus Plan is also intended to align the interests of our employees with the
interests of our shareholders by affording them certain opportunities to acquire an interest in our stock We believe
that these incentives and opportunities will encourage our executives and other key employees to continue in our

employment by providing them with competitive level of compensation that varies based on our performance
Under the Omnibus Plan the Company may issue the following types of awards stock options stock appreciation
rights sometimes referred to as SARs restricted stock restricted shares annual incentive awards and long-term
incentive awards The maximum number of shares or units that may be issued under the Omnibus Plan is

10000000 The total number of shares of our stock that may be used for new grants of incentive awards other than

stock options and SARs is 1000000 shares The total number of shares of our stock that may be subject to an
award of stock options and SARs granted to any individual during any calendar year may not exceed 750000 The
total number of shares of restricted stock and restricted units that may be awarded to any individual during
calendar year may not exceed total of 200000 shares or units At December 31 2008 options to purchase total

of 4533760 shares RSUs and restricted shares were outstanding and there were 3689502 shares remaining
available for grant under the Omnibus Plan The balance of shares outstanding includes 16204 shares that are in

trust for the outside directors of the Company

Trane historically issued its annual stock-based compensation grants to its employees during the first quarter of

each year During 2007 the annual grant was made by Trane and all options granted to WABCO employees were
converted to WABCO options upon the Separation During 2006 the annual grant was made by Trane and all

options were converted by applying the distribution ratio as approved by the Board of Directors These options as
well as any outstanding WABCO options held by Trane employees as of July 31 2007 have been reflected in the

options outstanding balance on August 2007

At the date of Separation equity awards totaling approximately $8.3 million which includes $5.5 million

founders grant consisting of stock options and RSUs for certain WABCO employees $2.3 million in combination
of founders grant and an initial equity award grant consisting of stock options and restricted stock units for the

CEO $0.1 million consisting of stock option and RSUs for the Board of Directors and an equity award of restricted

shares of $0.4 million to the Board of Directors has been granted The value of the stock options and restricted

stock unit awards are being expensed ratably over year period commencing with the Separation The vaue of

the restricted shares of $0.4 million was fully expensed during the third quarter of 2007 as there is no vesting period
associated with these shares
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Information regarding the Companys stock options since Separation is summarized below amounts not in

thousands

Shares underlying options

Weighted- Weighted

Average Average

WABCO Trane Exercise Grant Date

employees employees Total Price Fair Value

Options Outstanding August 2007 625490 4767975 5393465 $27.67

Options Granted 269510 269510 $48.55 $14.50

Options Exercised 12317 948435 960752 $18.75

Options Forfeited 8391 15466 23857 $40.42

Options Outstanding December 31 2007 874292 3804074 4678366 $30.65

Options Granted 712112 712112 $42.43 $11.09

Options Exercised 15739 774860 790599 $27.24

Options Forfeited 57805 186137 243942 $42.48

Options Outstanding December31 2008 1512860 2843077 4355937 $32.53

Options Outstanding December 31 2008 net of

expected forfeitures 1469264 2832800 4302064 $32.40

Exercisable at end of period

Year ended December31 2008 412297 2577281 2989578 $27.55

RSUs Granted 84679 $48.64

RSUs Forfeited 227

RSUs Outstanding December 31 2007 84452

RSUs Granted 113463 $42.47

RSUs Vested 25387
RSUs Forfeited 10729

RSUs Outstanding December 31 2008 161799

The options granted in 2007 vest in equal annual installments over period of three years Options for 438140

shares granted in 2008 are exercisable in equal installments over period of three years Of the remaining 273972

options granted in 2008 136986 of the options become exercisable after three years and 136986 of the options

become exercisable after four years The RSUs granted in 2007 and 109519 RSUs granted in 2008 vest ratably

over period of three years 3944 RSUs granted in 2008 will vest 66% after years with the remaining 34%

vesting after years The weighted average grant date fair value was calculated under the Black-Scholes option-

pricing model

The total aggregate intrinsic value of awards outstanding as of December 31 2008 is $72.9 million The total

aggregate intrinsic value of options exercisable as of December 31 2008 is $35.2 million The total aggregate

intrinsic value of options outstanding less expected forfeitures as of December 31 2008 is $71 .4 million

Aggregate intrinsic value is calculated by subtracting the exercise price of the option from the closing price of the

Companys common stock on December 31 2008 multiplied by the number of shares per each option In addition

the weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding as of December 31 2008 is 6.1 years and

the weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding less expected forfeitures as of

December 31 2008 is 6.0 years The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the year ended December 31

2008 was $16.6 million and the total fair value of shares vested during the same period was $4.6 million The

1366359 of nonvested options and RSUs as of December 31 2008 will result in the recognition of $14.4 million of

compensation cost This cost will be recognized over the weighted average period of 2.3 years The weighted

average remaining contractual life of the vested options as of December 31 2008 is 4.9 years The contractual life

of all options is 10 years
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The following table summarizes the significant assumptions used for the grants during the years ended

December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31 December 31
Assumption 2008 2007 2006

Risk-free interest rate 2.77% 4.50% 4.52%

Expected volatility 26.0% 26.0% 26.0%

Expected holding period Years Years Years

Expected forfeiture rate 4.0% 4.0% 4.0%

Dividend yield 0.66% 0.57% 1.62%

The risk free interest rate is based on the yield of U.S Treasury securities that correspond to the expected

holding period of the options Due to the short period of time that WABCO has been separate company WABCO
continued to use the same assumptions as Trane for volatility expected holding period and forfeiture rate for the

current year In the period prior to Separation Trane reviewed the historic volatility of its common stock over 12

month year and 10 year periods and the implied volatility for at the money options to purchase shares of its

common stock Based on this data Trane chose to use the average of the year historic volatility of its common
stock and the average implied volatility of at the money options The year historical volatility period was selected

since that period corresponds with the expected holding period The expected holding period was calculated by

reviewing the historical exercise pattern of all holders that were granted options the exercise pattern of domestic

versus international option holders including an analysis by country and the exercise behavior of officers versus

non-officers The results of the analysis support one expected holding period for all groups of employees The

expected forfeiture rate was determined based on the historical stock option forfeiture data The dividend yield was

based on WABCOs expected dividend rate in 2008 and Tranes expected dividend yield in 2007 and 2006
Assumptions used for volatility expected holding period and forfeiture rate were updated by the Company as of

September 2008 The new assumption for volatility is 31.6% the expected holding period remains years and

the new expected forfeiture rate is 0.8% and these will be used for future grants As of December 31 2008 no new
grants were issued using the new assumptions It is not expected that the use of these new assumptions will have

material impact to the Statement of Income with regard to future stock option grants

For periods prior to the Separation WABCO employees held stock options of Trane As such after the

adoption of FAS 123R WABCO recognized stock-based compensation on these options in 2006 and for all periods
in 2007 prior to the date of Separation summary of stock option activity for Trane stock options held by WABCO
employees and related information for the year ended December 31 2006 is as follows

Stock Options

WeIghted- Weighted-
Shares Average Average

Underlying Exercise Fair Value

Options Price Of Grants

Outstanding December 31 2005 984888 $23.82

Granted 312650 $36.98 $9.82

Exercised 171965 $22.90

Forfeited 25661 $39.60

Outstanding December 31 2006 1099912 $34.20

Exercisable at December 31 2006 510883 $29.10

On December 17 2007 Trane announced that it had entered into an agreement and plan of merger with

Ingersoll-Rand and Indian Merger Sub Inc wholly-owned subsidiary of Ingersoll-Rand Merger Sub providing

for the acquisition of Trane by Ingersoll-Rand publicly traded company on the New York Stock Exchange Subject

to the terms and conditions of the Merger Agreement Merger Sub merged with and into Trane with Trane

continuing as the surviving corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of Ingersoll-Rand The merger was

completed on June 2008 Certain WABCO employees held Trane options at the time of merger At the date of

merger those options immediately vested and the Company recognized the remaining unamortized compensation

expense on those options of $0.5 million Certain Trane employees continue to hold WABCO options that are not
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Issued July 31 2007

Shares issued upon exercise of stock options

Shares purchased for treasury

Other shares issued or reacquired net __________ _________

Balance December 31 2007

Shares issued upon exercise of stock options

Shares purchased for treasury

Other shares issued or reacquired net
__________ _________ __________

Balance December 31 2008
_________ _________

The Company accounts for purchases of treasury stock under the cost method as defined in Accounting

Principles Board Opinion Number Status of Accounting Research Bulletins with the costs of such share

purchases reflected in treasury stock in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets When treasury shares are

reissued they are recorded at the average cost of the treasury shares acquired since the inception of the share buy

back programs net of shares previously reissued and the Company reflects the difference between the average

cost paid and the amount received for the reissued shares in capital surplus As of December 31 2008 no shares

have been reissued At December 31 2008 the Company had an unexpended balance of $223.7 million available

to repurchase shares under an authorization by the Board of Directors to repurchase up to $500 million which

expires on September 2009 Currently the Company is not making any additional share repurchases under the

buy back program Timing of future purchases will vary depending on financial market conditions and other factors

NOTE Other Operating and Non-Operating Expense Net

Other expense was as follows

Amounts In millions ______ _____

Operating

Separation related taxes including indemnification liabilities

Early redemption on bonds premium

Other net _____ _____

3.0 2.5

1.8 0.9

3.2 5.7

0.7 0.1

____
0.9 0.1

____
9.6 $9.3

fully vested There have been no changes to the original vesting schedules or terms of the WABCO options that

continue to be held by Trane employees The WABCO options will continue to be held by such employees with the

original vesting schedules and will cause no additional accounting for the Company

Fouowing is summary of net shares outstanding and shares issued or reacquired during the years ending

December 31 2008 and 2007

Number of Shares of Common Stock

Treasury Net Shares

Total Shares Shares Outstanding

68131836 68131836

960752 960752

2572700 2572700

8321 8321

69100909 2572700 66528209

790599 790599

3384106 3384106

29597 29597

69921105 5956806 63964299

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

8.4 $13.6

6.0

3.0 6.4

$11.4 26.0

1.5

Non-operating

Minority interest expense

Receivable discount fees

Losses on accounts receivable securitization program

Foreign exchange loss

Other net

2.5

1.2

1.8

1.3

6.8
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NOTE Inventories

The components of inventories which are carried on last-in first-out LIFO basis are as follows

Amounts in millions

Finished products

Products in process

Raw materials

Inventories at cost

The current replacement cost approximated the LIFO carrying cost for 2008 and 2007

NOTE FacilIties

The components of facilities at cost are as follows

Amounts In millions

Land

Buildings

Machinery and equipment

Improvements in progress

Gross facilities

Less accumulated depreciation

Net facilities

Year Ended

December 31

2008 2007

75.1 86.0

7.6 8.1

80.0 83.3

$162.7 $177.4

Year Ended
December 31

2008 2007

16.0 16.1

145.6 147.3

500.7 521.8

26.2 46.6

688.5 731.8

372.7 395.6

$315.8 $336.2

Depreciation expense for owned assets and assets under capital leases for the years ended December31

2008 2007 and 2006 was $69.5 million $63.6 million and $49.2 million respectively

NOTE Accounts Receivable Financing Facility

On April 28 2008 the Company established an accounts receivable financing facility with two European-based

banks ABN AMRO N.y ABN AMRO and Cooperatieve Centrale Raiffeisen-Boerenleenbank BA
Rabobank Certain of the Companys French German and English subsidiaries would participate as sellers in

the program the participating sellers The maximum funding from receivables that could be sold into the facility

was 150 million $210.9 million at December 31 2008 exchange rates

To establish the financing facility special-purpose entity SPE had been formed that would be included in

the consolidated financial statements whose sole purpose is buying and selling receivables generated by the

participating sellers

Under the facility the German and English participating sellers would sell irrevocably and without recourse all

eligible accounts receivable to the SPE at discount and the SPE would in turn sell such accounts receivable or

undivided ownership interests in them to conduit administered by ABN AMRO The French participating seller

would first transfer its eligible accounts receivable to ABN AMRO who would then resell such accounts receivable

to the SPE at discount The assets of the SPE will not be assets of the Company or any of its subsidiaries and

will not be available to satisfy claims of any creditors of the Company or any creditors of the Companys
subsidiaries The participating sellers would receive fixed price relating to the nominal value of the receivables

sold under formula prescribed in the applicable receivables sale agreement The conduit that would purchase the

interests in the accounts receivable from the SPE would obtain the funds required to purchase such interests by

selling commercial paper to third-party investors In addition the participating sellers would have ongoing servicing
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obligations including receivables collection and administration under the facility and each participating seller

would be required to maintain insurance coverage for the faciUty The Company would enter into guarantee

agreement whereby it undertakes to guarantee the servicing obligations and covenants of each participating seller

No receivables have been sold into the financing facility as of December 31 2008 and on January 12 2009

the Company was notified of the termination of the accounts receivable financing facility For further detail please

refer to Note 20 Subsequent Events

NOTE 10 Goodwill

The following table summarizes the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended

December 31 2008 and 2007

Year Ended
December 31

Amounts in mflhlons 2008 2007

Balance of goodwill beginning of year $376.8 $343.8

Foreign exchange translation 16.0 33.0

Balance of goodwill end of year $360.8 $376.8

NOTE 11 Retirement Benefits

WABCO employees participate in number of benefit plans The plans include 401k savings plan the

Savings Plan for the Companys U.S salaried and hourly employees and pension plan the Cash Balance

Plan for certain U.S salaried and hourly employees The Savings Plan is an individual-account defined

contribution plan WABCO employees in certain countries primarily Germany the United Kingdom France and

Switzerland participate in defined benefit plans sponsored by local WABCO legal entities In addition WABCO

employees in Brazil receive post-retirement health-care benefits

Further WABCO has assumed responsibility for certain retiree medical plans in the U.S and pension plan in

Germany relating to former employees of Tranes Bath Kitchen division

Benefits under defined benefit pension plans on worldwide basis are generally based on years of service and

either employees compensation during the last years of employment or negotiated benefit levels

In December 2006 the Company adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standard

No 158 FAS 158 Employers Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Post-Retirement Plans an

amendment of FASB Statements No 87 88 106 and 132R FAS 158 requires an entity to recognize in its

statement of financial position an asset for defined benefit post-retirement plans overfunded status or liability
for

plans underfunded status
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The following table provides reconciliation of the changes in pension and retirement health and life insurance

benefit obligations and fair value of assets for the years ending December 31 2008 and 2007 and statement of

the funded status as of December 31 2008 and 2007

2008 2008 2007 2007

Health Health

Life Ins Pension Life Ins Pension

Amounts In millions Benefits Benefits Benefits Benefits

Reconciliation of benefit obligation

Obligation at beginning of year 24.9 4891 26.2 5039

Service cost 0.4 7.7 0.4 9.7

Interest cost 1.6 26.1 1.0 21.7

Participant contributions 1.3 0.3 0.2 0.4

Plan amendments 0.3

Actuarial gain 0.2 18.8 66.9
Incremental separation liability

0.8 5.2

Benefit payments 3.8 30.3 0.8 27.9

Foreign exchange effects 1.5 46.3 430

Other 2.4

Obligation at end of year 22.7 428.6 24.9 489.1

Reconciliation of fair value of plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 158.2 149.4

Actual return on assets 13.3 4.0

Employer contributions 2.5 28.5 0.6 28.3

Participant contributions 1.3 0.3 0.2 0.4

Benefit payments 3.8 30.3 0.8 27.9

Foreign exchange effects 31.9 4.9

Other expenses 0.9 0.9

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 110.6 158.2

Funded Status at December 31 $22.7 $318.0 $24.9 $330.8

Amounts Recognized in the Balance Sheet

Noncurrent assets 7.7 9.9

Current liabilities 2.4 19.0 2.4 19.2
Noncurrent liabilities 20.3 306.7 22.5 321.5

Net amounts recognized in Balance Sheet $22.7 $318.0 $24.9 $3308

Cumulative Amounts Recognized in Other Comprehensive Income consists

Prior Service Cost 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.5

Net actuarial loss 8.5 25.7 9.7 31.4

Total before tax effects 8.8 26.0 9.9 31.9

Adjustments to post-retirement benefits accrual recognized in OCI

Change in Other Comprehensive Income due to experience 1.2 2.5

Gross adjustments to post-retirement benefits accrual recognized in OCt

net of deferred tax of $0.5 in 2008 and $20.3 in 2007 1.2 2.5

of

1.9 62.9

1.9 62.9
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The following table provides summary of pension plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of

assets as of December 31

Amounts in mflhions ____________

For all plans

Accumulated benefit obligation

For pension plans with Accumulated Benefit Obligations in excess of plan assets

Projected benefit obligation

Accumulated benefit obligation

Fair value of plan assets

Total post-retirement costs are shown below

Year ended

December 31

2008 2007

Pensions Pensions

$7.7 $9.7

26.1 21.7

9.2 8.9
0.1 0.3

1.2 3.9

25.9 26.7

$25.9 $26.7

2008 2007

Foreign Foreign

Pension Plans Pension Plans

$397.6

$325.8

$296.8

$452.0

$489.1

$452.0

$158.2

Amounts in millions

Foreign pensions

Health Life insurance benefits Americas

Defined contribution plan cost principally Savings Plan

Total post-retirement costs including accretion expense

Components of post-retirement costs are broken out in the tables below

Year ended

December 31

2008 2007 2006

$25.9 $26.7 $24.4

2.4 2.2 1.8

0.2 0.2

$28.3 $29.1 $26.4

Pension Benefit Costs

2006

Amounts in millions ________ ________
Pensions

Service cost-benefits earned during period
9.4

Interest cost on projected benefit obligation
21 .4

Less assumed return on plan assets 10.8

Amortization of prior service cost

Amortization of net loss
_____

4.2

Defined benefit plan cost 24.2

Allocation from Trane for WABCO employees participating in the plans
0.2

Net defined benefit plan cost after curtailments for WABCO dedicated plans _____ _____
24.4

Other Post-Retirement Benefit Costs

2008 2007 2006

Heaith Health Health

Life Ins Life Ins Life Ins

Amounts in millions
Benefits Benefits Benefits

Interest and service cost on projected benefit obligation $2.0 $1.6 $1.3

Amortization of net loss 0.4 0.6 0.5

Defined benefit plan cost $2.4 $2.2 $1.8

Amortization of prior service cost is computed on the straight-line method over the average remaining service

period of active participants
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Major assumptions used in determining the benefit obligation and net cost for post-retirement plans are

presented below as weighted averages

2008 2008 2007 2007

Health Foreign Health Foreign

Life Ins Pension Life Ins Pension
Benefit Obligation at December 31 benefits Plans Benefits Plans

Discount rate 6.59% 5.75% 6.69% 5.71%

Salary growth N/A 3.18% N/A 3.29%

Net Periodic Pension Cost for the year

Discount rate 6.59% 5.71% 6.69% 4.55%

Salary growth N/A 3.29% N/A 3.22%

Expected return on plan assets N/A 7.02% N/A 7.02%

The discount rate assumption in this chart changed from 2007 to 2008 resulting in significant change in the

pension benefit obligation In the chart above that reconciles the change in benefit obligations for the year the

impact of the discount rate change is included in the actuarial gain line item

The assumed rate of return is long-term investment return that takes into account the types of assets he by

the plan and expected returns for the asset class Return expectations reflect forward-looking analysis as weil

historical experience WABCOs asset management strategy focuses on maintaining diversified portfolio using

various asset classes to generate attractive returns while managing risk In determining the target asset allocation

for given plan consideration is given to the nature of its liabilities and portfolios are periodically rebalanced with

reference to the target level All assets are measured at the current market value in accordance with the

measurement framework provided within SFAS 157

2008 2007
Asset Allocation 2008 2007 2006 Target Target

Equity securities 21% 57% 57% 24% 23%
Debt securities 73% 39% 39% 71% 72%
Other including real estate 6% 4% 4% 5% 5%

The 2008 target asset allocation was in line with the 2007 target allocation The Company adjusted the

allocations in the first quarter of 2008 The Company will continue to move towards these revised asset allocabons

in 2009

WABCO makes contributions to funded pension plans that at minimum meet all statutory funding

requirements Contributions in 2008 including payment of benefits incurred by unfunded plans totaled $31.0

million Contributions in 2009 are expected to be in line with the contributions made during 2008

Expected future benefit payments are shown in the table below

Amounts in millions 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014-2018

Domestic plans without subsidy 2.5 2.5 2.4 2.3 2.2 8.6

Medicare subsidy reimbursements 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2

Foreign pension plans $28.0 $27.1 $27.7 $28.3 $28.8 $152.2

The weighted average annual assumed rate of increase in the health care cost trend rate is 8.4% for 2008 and

is assumed to decrease to 8.0% in 2009 and gradually decline to 5.39% by 2016 The health care cost trend rate

assumption has the following effect

Amounts in mIllions 1% Increase 1% Decrease

Effect on the health care component of accumulated post-retirement

obligation $2.9 $2.8
Effect on total of service and interest cost components of net periodic post

retirement health care benefit costs $0.3 $0.3
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NOTE 12 Debt

Credit Agreements

In May 2007 WABCO entered into an unsecured five-year $800 million multi-currency revolving credit facility

that will expire on July 31 2012 The proceeds of the borrowings under the credit facility have been used to fund

repurchases of our shares pay quarterly dividends to our shareholders and to meet short-term cash requirements

Additionally the facility may be used to pay fine or provide bank guarantee which may be required pursuant to

decision relating to the European Commission investigation matter as further described in Note 13 under the

heading Contingencies The balance outstanding on this facility on December 31 2008 is $33.0 million Up to

$100 million under this facility may be used for issuing letters of credit of which $97.5 million is unused as of

December 31 2008 The Company has the ability to borrow an additional $764.5 million under this facility Under

the five year facility the Company pays facUlty fee of 0.10% per annum Borrowings thereunder bear interest

generally at the London Interbank Offered Rate LIBOR plus either 0.35% if borrowings are less than or equal to

50% of the total available balance or 0.40% if borrowings are greater than 50% of the total available balance The

Company also pays 0.35% per annum plus issuance fees for letters of credit The interest rate spreads above the

U.S dollar LIBOR 0.43625% at December 31 2008 are subject to adjustments should the Companys leverage

ratio change The Company intends to refinance all or some portion of the existing five-year $800 million credit

facility at the time of its expiration

In November 2007 WABCO entered into 50 million $70.3 million at December 31 2008 exchange rates

364 day credit agreement with the Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi The proceeds of the borrowings under the credit

facility can be used for all general corporate purposes Borrowings there under bear intefest at the euro LIBOR

2.58878% at December 31 2008 plus 0.55% The outstanding balance on this facility as of December 31 2008 is

$70.3 million The balance on this facility is classified as short term as it is expected to be repaid in November 2009

In March 2008 WABCO entered into an unsecured 364 day 100 million credit facility $140.6 million at

December 31 2008 exchange rates with ABN AMRO The proceeds of the borrowings under the credit facility can

be used for all general corporate purposes Under this facility WABCO pays facility fee of 0.10% per annum

Borrowings thereunder would bear interest initially at LIBOR plus 0.40% The interest rate spreads above LIBOR

and the facility fee are subject to adjustments should the Companys leverage ratio change There is no outstanding

balance on this facility as of December 31 2008 This facility will expire in March 2009

In March 2008 WABCO entered into an unsecured 364 day 100 million credit facility $140.6 million at

December 31 2008 exchange rates with Rabobank The proceeds of the borrowings under the credit facility can be

used for all general corporate purposes Borrowings thereunder bear interest at the euro lnterbank Offered Rate

EURIBOR 2.603 at December 31 2008 plus 0.50% The interest rate spreads above EURIBOR are subject to

adjustments should the Companys leverage ratio change The balance outstanding on this facility on December 31

2008 is $140.6 million As result of the draw down on July31 2008 the 364 day 100.0 million credit facility with

Rabobank has an expiration date of July 30 2009 The balance outstanding on this facility is classified as long term

as the Company has the ability and intent to refinance the debt using the five-year $800 million multi-currency

revolving credit facility See below for further details on the cross currency swap

The above credit facilities contain various covenants that limit among other things liens transactions

subsidiary indebtedness and certain mergers and sales of assets The covenants also require the Company to

meet certain financial tests rolling four quarters to ratio of consolidated net debt to consolidated trailing four

quarters adjusted EBITDA earnings before interest taxes depreciation and amortization adjusted for certain

items to ratio of consolidated trailing four quarters adjusted EBITDA to consolidated net interest expense and

liquidity test These terms are all defined within the agreement to the five-year $800 million credit facility The

liquidity covenant for the $800 million credit facility requires us to have at least $100 million of liquidity which

includes unused commitments under the agreement and certain other committed facilities that may be entered into

as well as unrestricted cash and cash equivalents after giving effect to any payment of fine or any provision of

bank guarantee that may be required pursuant to decision relating to the European Commission investigation

matter As of December 31 2008 the Company was in compliance with all the covenants contained in these credit

agreements

Also subsidiary in Japan had borrowings from banks totaling $5.0 million This loan supports local working

capital requirements
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On July 29 2008 the Company entered into cross currency swap to hedge the changes in the fair value of its

100.0 million $140.6 million at December 31 2008 exchange rates loan from Rabobank relating to changes in

foreign currency exchange rates between the euro and U.S dollar Each of the critical terms in the cross currency

swap including the maturity date on the swap contract match those of the underlying debt Under the cross

currency swap the Company pays one month floating rate of 3.20875% on notional amount of $156.5 million

and receives one month floating rate of 5.035% on notional amount of 100.0 million The cross currency swap
is designated as fair value hedge of the changes in the fair value of the underlying debt resulting from exchange

rate movements between the euro and the U.S dollar The euro interest received on the swap is accrued and

recorded as an offset to the euro interest expense accrued and recorded on the underlying debt The U.S dollar

interest paid on the swap is accrued and recorded as interest expense The changes in the fair value of the swap
are accrued and recorded as an offset to the changes in fair value of the underlying debt included in other

non-operating expense net The fair value hedge is highly effective and therefore there is minimal effect on current

earnings As of December 31 2008 the fair market value of the cross currency swap measured using Level

inputs under SFAS 157 resulted in recorded
liability

of approximately $15.7 million and is classified as long term

within other liabilities on the balance sheet Level inputs include quoted prices for similar instruments in active

markets quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active and model-based valuation

techniques for which all significant assumptions are observable in the market The balance outstanding on this

cross currency swap is classified as long-term as the Company has the ability and ntent to refinance the debt using

the five-year $800 million multi-currency revolving credit facility

Use of derivative financial instruments in hedging programs subjects the Company to certain risks such as

market and credit risks Market risk represents the possibility that the value of the derivative instrument will change
In hedging relationship the change in the value of the derivative is offset to great extent by the change in the

value of the underlying hedged item Credit risk related to derivatives represents the possibility that the counterparty

will not fulfill the terms of the contract The Companys current derivative instruments are with counterparties rated

very highly by internationally recognized credit rating agencies

NOTE 13 Warranties Guarantees Commitments and Contingencies

Warranties

Following is summary of changes in the WABCOs product warranty liability
for the three years ended

December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

Year Ended December31

Amounts in millions 2008 2007 2006

Balance of warranty costs accrued beginning of year 54.0 40.5 33.9

Warranty costs accrued 32.5 38.6 48.4

Warranty claims settled 25.7 30.5 45.9
Foreign exchange translation effects 3.0 5.4 4.1

Balance of warranty costs accrued end of year 57.8 54.0 40.5

Current portion included in current liabilities 54.2 49.7 35.1

Long-term warranty liability 3.6 4.3 5.4

Guarantees and Commitments

Future minimum rental commitments under all non-cancelable operating leases with original terms in excess of

one year in effect at December 31 2008 are $15.1 million in 2009 $9.6 million in 2010 $6.5 million in 2011 $5.2

million in 2012 $3.5 million in 2013 and $1.8 million thereafter total of $41 .7 million Net rental expense for all

operating leases was $15.9 million $13.8 million and $1 1.9 million for the years ended December 31 2008 2007

and 2006 respectively

WABCO and its Indian joint venture partners members of the TVS group TVS separated the non-brakes

division from the brakes division of their Indian joint venture SCL This was done through plan of demerger which

was approved by the Madras High Court and became effective on March 28 2008 under Indian law As result the
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brakes business of SCL was transferred to new company WABCO-TVS INDIA Ltd WABCO-TVS the shares

of which were allocated proportionately in May 2008 to existing SCL shareholders and were listed in India as of

October 2008 Subsequent to the demerger TVS will transfer to WABCO its shares in WABCO-TVS and

WABCOs percentage ownership in WABCO-TVS will increase to minimum of approximately 64% by

September 30 2009 and expected to increase to 75% by no later than September 30 2010 Upon WABCO

obtaining control of WABCO-TVS WABCO-TVS will be included in the consolidated financial statements of the

Company Concurrent with TVS share transfers to the Company WABCO will transfer to TVS its shares in SCL

post demerger and WABCOs percentage ownership in SCL post demerger which consists of the non-brakes

division of SCL is expected to decrease to zero The Company believes that the demerger should be tax-free

based on an opinion from outside counsel The Company has also requested private letter ruling from the U.S

Internal Revenue Service The subsequent transfer of its shares in SCL post-demerger to TVS is likely to be taxable

in the US at the time of such transfer The Company continues to work with its tax advisors to validate the intended

U.S tax treatment of the planned transactions Additionally depending on the trading share prices of SCL and

WABCO-TVS at the time of transfer of shares the Company may have to remit or may receive some amount of

cash to or from TVS and gain or loss on the transaction may be recognized in the income statement

Contingencies

We are subject to proceedings lawsuits and other claims related to products and other matters We are

required to assess the likelihood of any adverse judgments or outcomes to these matters as well as potential

ranges of probable losses determination of the amount of liability to be recorded if any for these contingencies

is made after careful analysis of each individual issue The liabilities recorded may change in the future possibly by

significant amounts due to new developments in any of the matters

As part of multi-company investigation commenced in 2004 the former American Standard and certain of its

European subsidiaries engaged in the Bath and Kitchen business were charged by the European Commission for

alleged infringements of European Union competition rules relating to the distribution of bathroom fixtures and

fittings in number of European countries Pursuant to the Indemnification and Cooperation Agreement that was

concluded in the context of the Separation WABCO Europe BVBA an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of WABCO
is responsible for and is liable to indemnify Trane and Ideal Standard International representing the successor to

the Bath and Kitchen business and owner of certain of the former American Standard subsidiaries and their

owners against any fines related to this investigation

We anticipate that this investigation may result in the imposition of fine in 2009 however we are unable to

reasonably estimate the likely amount or range of any fine that may result from this matter for the reasons that

follow Under its 2006 Fining Guidelines the Commission will determine basic amount of the fine by considering

the value of the sales of goods to which the infringement related the gravity of the infringement and its duration In

applying the 2006 Guidelines the Commission retains considerable discretion in calculating the fine including the

determination of the basic amount the evaluation of the aggravating and mitigating circumstances the availability

of leniency and the assessment of the overall deterrent effect of the fine Due to the specific circumstances and the

factual differences of published precedents so far there is insufficient guidance to allow us to ascertain how the

Commission would exercise its discretion in applying the 2006 Guidelines in the present case If the Commission

were to apply the 2006 Guidelines to the allegations as set forth in the Statement of Objections the fine could be

significant depending on whether the breadth of the allegations and the alFeged duration of the infringement are

maintained American Standard and its charged European businesses presented defenses to the allegations in the

Statement of Objections as did WABCO Europe BVBA at an oral hearing with the European Commission in

November 2007 It is not possible to judge the impact of these defenses on the final outcome Following the

hearing the European Commission has twice requested additional information once in June 2008 requesting

information regarding revenue of the relevant entities for the year 2007 and again in December 2008 requesting

information of WABCO Ideal Standard International and Trane regarding the spin-off of WABCO from American

Standard and certain historic corporate information including data regarding the corporate structures of American

Standard and its successors before and after the spin-off and the transition of entities and/or assets to Trane and

Ideal Standard International The Commission could among other things issue new Statement of Objections or

request additional information before adopting decision or it could adopt decision imposing fine We believe

that the Commission will likely request further information regarding 2008 revenue before imposing fine fine

would under the applicable rules be required to be paid within three months of the decision unless imposition of any
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such fine were appealed within two months of the decision in which case we would be required to pay the fine or to

provide bank guarantee for the full amount of the fine plus interest The appeals process could take as long as 5-7

years during which time WABCO would not have access to such funds or would be required to provide bank

guarantee The Commission or the European Court of First Instance could agree to waive or suspend this

requirement for reasons of financial hardship however this outcome cannot be assured and will depend on the

relevant facts at the time

Article 23 of Council Regulation No 1/2003 provides for maximum fine equal to 10% of the parent companys
worldwide revenue attributable to all of its products for the fiscal year prior to the year in which the fine is imposed It

is unknown on what basis the Commission will calculate the maximum As we have previously reported if the

Commission had issued fine in 2007 and based it on American Standards reported worldwide revenue in 2006
the total potential maximum

liability would have been approximately $1.1 billion subject to probable reduction for

leniency of at least 20% American Standard no longer exists The effect if any of the spin-off of WABCO from

American Standard the sale of its Bath and Kitchen business to Ideal Standard International and the merger of

Trane with Ingersoll Rand all of which occurred in 2007 and 2008 on the determination of the applicable 10% cap

is unclear Furthermore we have argued that the cap should be calculated on the basis of the revenue of the

charged European businesses rather than the parent companys worldwide revenues

The fine imposed by the Commission could be material to WABCOs operating results and cash flows for the

year in which the liability would be recognized or the fine paid We are however continuing to fully cooperate with

the Commission and believe the defenses we have presented to the Commission will be-considered and taken into

account in the determination of the fine

As of December 31 2008 the Company had cash balance of $392.8 million The Company has several credit

facilities in place all of which contain covenant restrictions The $800 million five-year revolving credit facility is

non-amortizing facility that permits utilization up to the maximum level at any time through and until expiration

subject to the stipulated financial/liquidity covenants in the credit agreement The Company has entered into

50 million $70.3 million at December 31 2008 exchange rates 364 day credit agreement dated November 28
2007 Additionally on March 2008 the Company entered into two separate unsecured 364 day 100 million

credit facilities $140.7 million each at December 31 exchange rates There is balance of $33.0 million

outstanding on the $800 million credit facility There is balance of $70.3 million outstanding on the 50 million 364

day credit agreement There is balance of $140.7 million outstanding on one of the 364 day 100 million credit

facilities There is no balance outstanding on the remaining 364 day 100 million facility as of December 31 2008

The borrowings under our existing credit agreements are limited by covenants The covenant which is expected
to be the most restrictive based on the current economic downturn requires that our total net indebtedness not

exceed three times trailing four quarters adjusted EBITDA EBITDA covenant as defined in the agreement to

the five year $800 million credit facility As of December 31 2008 our trailing four quarters adjusted EBITDA is

$389.5 million which consists of $58.2 million for the fourth quarter $100.4 million for the third quarter $115.8

million for the second quarter and $115.1 million for the first quarter Given net indebtedness of $150 million at

December 31 2008 this resulted in an EBITDA covenant ratio of 0.4 to We would expect that this covenant will

limit our ability to borrow under our existing credit agreements in 2009 The Company is proactively addressing this

matter by pursuing alternative financing arrangements that would not be subject to the EBITDA covenant As

described in more detail in Note 20 Subsequent Events the Companys accounts receivable financing facility was
terminated on January 12 2009 as result of an event outside of the Companys control The Company is in

negotiations to obtain substitute facility to replace the loss of this accounts receivable financing facility which is

expected to be similar in nature but may differ in size Additionally other potential sources of financing that the

Company is considering include but are not limited to the following factoring of additional accounts receivable

balances ii inventory financing programs iiisale-Ieaseback of certain property plant and equipment and

iv obtain waiver or renegotiate the debt covenants on our existing $800 million five-year credit facility If fine in

excess of our funding capability were issued the Company would seek approval from the Commission for

alternative payment measures such as payment in installments which is available in certain circumstances As

further option the Company may be able to apply for court-ordered suspension of its payment obligation to the

Court of First Instance statutory available remedy in cases of hardship The uncertainty of the extent and duration

of the current global industry downturn requires us to observe that if the fine were to be issued in an amount in
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excess of our funding capability at that time and various mitigating actions which the Company has implemented

and is planning were to fail the fine could have material adverse effect on the financial condition and liquidity of

WABCO

NOTE 14 Income Taxes

Income before income taxes and the applicable provision for income taxes were

Year Ended December31

Amounts In millions
2008 2007 2006

Income before income taxes

Domestic 9.1 16.1 8.6

Foreign
242.4 220.6 217.1

$251.5 $236.7 $225.7

Provision benefit for income taxes

Current

Domestic 0.3 46.9

Foreign
33.0 45.5 103.6

33.3 92.4 103.6

Deferred

Domestic 0.1 1.0

Foreign
4.9 18.8 14.7

4.9 18.9 15.7

Total provision
38.2 $111.3 $87.9

reconciliation between the actual income tax expense provided and the income taxes computed by applying

the statutory federal income tax rate of 35% in 2008 2007 and 2006 to the income before income taxes is as

follows

Year Ended December 31

Amounts In millions
2008 2007 2006

Tax provision at statutory rate 88.0 82.9 $79.2

Separation related taxes and contingencies 8.9 50.7

Foreign earnings taxed at other than 35% 54.9 31.4 4.6

Change in tax rates 0.1 10.2

Tax contingencies
11.4 9.4 7.7

Benefit of tax audit settlements 7.5

Repatriation of foreign earnings under Jobs Creation Act 4.0

Other net 2.7 3.0 0.4

Total provision
38.2 $111.3 $87.9

The income tax provision for 2008 includes net benefit of $8.3 million principally related to reduction of an

unrecognized tax benefit recorded in the third quarter of 2007 related to the separation of the WABCO business

from Trane This change in estimate resulted from the filing
of the Companys and Tranes 2007 U.S Federal

income tax returns in September 2008 The effective income tax rates for 2008 and 2007 were 15.2% and 47%

respectively The income tax provision for 2007 includes $50.7 million charge related to the separation of the

WABCO business from Trane and charge of $10.2 million related to the net reduction in deferred tax assets

pursuant to rate changes in Germany UK and China partially offset by $7.5 million benefit related to the

settlement of foreign tax audit

The approximate dollar and diluted earnings per share amounts of tax reductions related to tax holidays in

various countries in which the Company does business were $4.3 million and $0.07 in 2008 $5.1 million and $0.07

in 2007 and $3.5 million and $0.05 in 2006 respectively The tax holidays expire at various dates through 2017
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The following table details the gross deferred tax liabilities and assets and the related valuation allowances

Year Ended
December 31

Amounts in millions 2008 2007

Deferred tax liabilities

Basis difference in minority interest 22.0 24.0

Employee benefits 18.9 15.5

Facilities accelerated depreciation capitalized interest and purchase accounting

differences 13.8 12.9

Inventory LIFO 2.9 2.1

Other 6.2 5.4

63.8 59.9

Deferred tax assets

Foreign net operating losses and tax credits 127.8 118.6

Valuation allowances 113.1 108.6
Post-retirement and other employee benefits 31.6 41.9

Intangibles 15.3 21.4

Inventory 0.3 .7

Warranties 0.7 0.6

Other 8.0 7.4

70.6 83.0

Net deferred tax assets 6.8 $23.1

At December 31 2008 the company has $356 million of net operating loss carryforwards NOLs available for

utilization in future years Approximately $331 .8 million of such NOLs have an unlimited life and the remainder is

available for periods of five to fifteen years As of December 31 2008 the company has determined that it is more

likely than not that the $331.8 million of unlimited life NOLs will not be realizable in the foreseeable future and
therefore has provided full valuation allowance of $113.1 million representing the value of the associated deferred

tax asset These NOLs became available to WABCO upon separation from Trane The tax authorities have

challenged significant portion of these NOLs on the basis that they should be reduced by dividends received The

Company disagrees with this assertion intends to defend its position which is supported by recent European
Court of Justice case which was decided in favor of another taxpayer

At December 31 2008 we had unrecognized tax benefits of $94.1 million all of which if recognized would

impact the effective tax rate comprised of $74.1 million related to the WABCO business and $20.0 million related to

WABCO obligations to tax authorities for Tranes Bath Kitchen business see Note 15 The Company does not

believe that it is reasonably possible that any of such unrecognized tax benefits would be recognized in the next 12

months As result the unrecognized tax benefits at December 31 2008 are classified as long-term tax liabilities

Interest related to unrecognized tax benefits recorded in the 2008 and 2007 consolidated statement of income were

$3.6 million and immaterial respectively Total accrued interest at December 31 2008 and December 31 2007 was

approximately $6.9 million and $3.9 million respectively The Company recognizes interest and penalties accrued

related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense however no enalties have been accrued related to

these unrecognized tax positions
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reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows exclusive of

interest

Year Ended

December 31

Amounts in miflions
2008 2007

Beginning balance January $91.7 48.2

Reclassification to indemnification liabilities 2.7

Additions for tax positions related to current year
7.9 53.4

Reductions for tax positions related to current year 9.9

Settlements 12.1

Foreign exchange 2.5 4.9

Ending balance December 31 $87.2 91.7

We conduct business globally and as result WABCO or one or more of our subsidiaries file income tax

returns in the U.S federal state and local and foreign jurisdictions In the normal course of business we are

subject to examination by taxing authorities throughout the world including such major jurisdictions as Belgium

Brazil China France Germany the Netherlands Poland the United Kingdom and the United States With no

material exceptions the Company is no longer subject to examinations by tax authorities for years before 2002 The

Company does not anticipate reduction of unrecognized tax benefits to occur within 12 months as result of

projected resolutions of worldwide tax disputes or applicable statute closings

As result of the allocation of purchase accounting principally goodwill to foreign subsidiaries the book basis

in the net assets of the foreign subsidiaries exceeds the related U.S tax basis in the subsidiaries stock Such

investments are considered permanent in duration and accordingly no deferred taxes have been provided on such

differences which are significant The Company considers the earnings of all its foreign subsidiaries to be

permanently reinvested and as such no additional U.S tax cost has been provided It is not practicable to estimate

the tax liability
that would arise if these earnings were remitted

NOTE 15 Tax and Indemnification Liabilities Transferred from Trane to WABCO

Pursuant to Tax Sharing Agreement between Trane and WABCO entered into on July 16 2007 WABCO is

responsible for certain tax contingencies and indemnification liabilities As noted above see Note 14 the FIN 48

liabilities as of December 31 2008 include $20.0 million related to non-US entities of Tranes Bath Kitchen

business but for which WABCO entities have obligations directly to non-US tax authorities In addition as of

December 31 2008 we had indemnification liabilities of $60.4 million of which $35.2 million is classified within

long-term liabilities on the balance sheet and $25.2 million is classified within short-term liabilities

NOTE 16 Related Party Transactions

Presented within the Companys accompanying consolidated statement of cash flows for the years ended

December 31 2007 and 2006 is Net Transfers to Trane and Affiliates which include the following types of

transactions

Amounts in MIllions 2007 2006

Net receipts from changes in loans due to/from Trane and affiliates $288.6 110.8

Other net receipts including Trane and affiliate locations 404 16.5

Dividends paid to Trane and affiliates 48.0 259.8

Net Cash Transfers from/to Trane and Affiliates $281.0 $132.5
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Net receipts from changes in loans to/from Trane and affiliatesThe amount of cash that was provided to

the Company in order to fund working capital requirements as well as capital expenditures net of cash surplus

provided from the Company to other Trane entities The net amount due from Trane of $86.3 million as of

December 31 2006 was included in owners net investment The net receipts from changes in loans due to/from

Trane and affiliates was $288.6 million As there was no settlement of outstanding net payable balances as of the

date of Separation the net resulting liability was recognized as additional contributed capital surplus Net interest

expense totaling $1 .5 million and $6.2 million for the years ended December 31 2007 and 2006 respectively is

included in the accompanying combined consolidated Statement of Income All interest rates are deemed to be at

or near market rates except for the interest rates carrying zero percent interest rates There were no loans

outstanding as of December 31 2008 and 2007 detailed summary of these related party loans which may or

may not be interest bearing is provided below

Amounts in Millions 2006

Loans Receivable

Ideal Standard Holding ltalia S.r.l

ASI International Inc

WABCO Standard Trane BV

Ideal Standard Wabco Trane md Com Ltda

Trane UK Co

Trane do Brazil md Com Ltda

Total Loans Receivable 150.4

Loans Payable

A.S.E Finance BVBA
ASI International Inc

WABCO Standard Trane BV

Teling Air Condition System Jiangsu Co Ltd

Teling Air Conditioning Co Ltd

Trane Japan Ltd

Trane Holding Italy BV

Trane do Brazil md Corn Ltda

Total Loans Payable
_____ _____

Net Loans Receivable to/from Trane and Affiliates

______

Other net receipts including Trane and affiliate locationsThese amounts were included in owners net

investment at December 31 2006 As these balances were not settled as part of the Separation the resulting net

liability was recognized as contributed capital surplus

Dividends paid to Trane and AffiliatesDividends paid from WABCO to other Trane entities

Investments in Unconsolidated Joint Ventures

WABCO has four investments in affiliates that are accounted for by the equity method The first of these

investments is in Mentor WABCO Mentor WABCO in which WABCO has 50% equity ownership markets braking

systems products and sells the majority of WABCO products in the United States The second of these investments

is in WABCO Automotive South Africa WABCO SA WABCO SA in which WABCO has 49% equity ownership
is distributor of breaking systems products and sells WABCO products primarily in South Africa The third of these

investments is in WABCO TVS in which WABCO has 39% equity ownership is producer and distributor of

breaking systems products in India The fourth of these investments is in Sundaram-Clayton Ltd Sundaram-Clayton

Ltd in which WABCO has 39% equity ownership is diversified industrial group headquartered in Chennai
India Its primary activities are 56% ownership in TVS Motors leading Indian motorcycle manufacturer As of

December 31 2008 WABCO has investments in Sundaram Clayton WABCO TVS of $60.6 million Mentor

Avg
Balance at Interest Monthly

Dec 31 Rate Balance

9.1 4.1%

2.9%

9.2 2.7%

81.1 0.0%

51.0 0.0%

101

16.5

5.8

79.6

47.9

159.9

90.6

5.7

1.0

19.1

2.7

1.7

21.9

142.7

17.2

3.3%

5.8 6.0%

6.7 3.5%

20.5 2.8%

4.2 3.0%

2.9 0.9%

24.0 0.0%

64.1

86.3
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WABCO of $10.9 million and WABCO SA of $2.5 million WABCO received dividends from the joint ventures of

$7.3 million $11.2 million and $18.8 million for the years ended December31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

WABCO Purchases

Amounts in Millions WABCO Sates to from

Joint Venture 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

MeritorWABCO $111.2 $121.8 $165.8 $0.1 $0.1

WABCO SA 7.5 8.3 5.6

WABCO TVS 5.2 4.8 0.3 $2.8 $1.8 $0.9

Sundaram-Clayton

The following table summarizes the assets liabilities shareholders equity and results of operations of

WABCOs investments in affiliates Mentor WABCO WABCO SA and WABCO TVS amounts have been derived

from the individual financial statements as of and for the period ending December 31 2008 of each of these

entities Sundaram-Clayton Ltd amounts have been derived from the audited consolidated financial statements as

of and for the period ended March 31 2008

Year Ended

December 31

Amounts In Millions 2008 2007

Assets

Current $430.5 $491.7

Noncurrent 424.9 451.5

Total assets $855.4 $943.2

Liabilities and Shareholders Equity

Current liabilities $219.8 $254.6

Non current liabilities and shareholders equity 635.6 688.6

Total liabilities and shareholders equity $855.4 $943.2

Year Ended December31

Amounts in Millions 2008 2007 2006

Results of operations

Net sales $1197 $1387 $1170

Cost of sales 887 $1023 844

Income from continuing operations 18 55 82

Net income 10 38 52

NOTE 17 Geographic Information

WABCO is fully integrated global business with management structures established in variety of ways

including around products distribution channels and key customers Our largest customer is Daimler which

accounted for 15% 14% and 17% of our sales in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively Volvo accounted for 10%

11% and 11% of our sales in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively WABCOs plants engineering technical support

distribution centers and other support functions are shared among various product families and serve all distribution

channels with many customers Based on the organizational structure as well as the nature of financial information

available and reviewed by the Companys chief operating decision maker to assess performance and make

decisions about resource allocations the Company has concluded that its total WABCO operations represent one

reportable segment and that WABCOs performance and future net cash flow perspectives are best understood and

assessed as such
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Geographic Data

Year Ended December 31

Amounts in mUllons 2008 2007 2006

Product Sales

OEM $2047.6 $1908.7 $1579.9
Aftermarket 540.4 507.2 435.3

SalesGeographic distribution

United States 166.9 171.7 221.0

Europe countries be/ow are inc/uded in this total 1962.3 1840.0 1485.5

Germany 836.6 768.0 638.7

France 151.6 144.8 1214
Sweden 221.4 206.8 162.9

Other countries below are included in this total 458.9 404.2 308.7

Japan 85.8 73.2 71.4

China
91.6 70.6 34.2

Brazil 143.1 116.3 86.9

Total sales $2588.0 $2415.9 $2015.2

Sales to external customers are classified by country of destination

As of December31

Amounts in millions 2008 2007 2006

Long-lived Assets

Geographic distribution

United States
5.8 13.2 11.8

Europe countries below are included in this total 646.1 692.9 626.3

Germany 369.6 391.2 355.3

Poland
84.7 98.0 78.8

Other
73.0 77.0 64.1

Total long-lived assets $724.9 $783.1 $702.2

NOTE 18 Agreements Entered into During the Periods Presented

On July 16 2007 WABCO entered into definitive agreements with Trane that among other things set forth the

terms and conditions of the Separation of WABCO from Trane and provide framework for the relationship
between WABCO and Trane following the Separation These agreements govern the relationship between WABCO
and Trane subsequent to the completion of the Separation and provide for the allocation between WABCO and
Trane of assets liabilities and obligations attributable to periods prior to the Separation In addition to the

Separation and Distribution Agreement which contains many of the key provisions related to the Separation of

WABCO and the Distribution of WABCOs common shares to Tranes shareholders the parties also entered into

Tax Sharing Agreement Transition Services Agreement an Employee Matters Agreement and an Indemnification

and Cooperation Agreement summary of each of the agreements is as follows

Separation and Distribution Agreementsets forth WABCOs agreements with Trane regarding principal

transactions necessary to separate WABCO from Trane This agreement also sets forth the other agreements that

govern certain aspects of WASCOs relationship with Trane after the completion of the Separation from Trane and

provides for the allocation of certain assets to be transferred liabilities to be assumed and contracts to be assigned
to WABCO and Trane as part of the Separation

Tax Sharing Agreementgoverns the parties respective rights responsibilities and obligations after the

Distribution with respect to taxes including ordinary course of business taxes and taxes if any incurred as result

of any failure of the Distribution of all of the common shares of WABCO to qualify as tax-free distribution for U.S
federal income tax purposes within the meaning of Section 355 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended
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Transition Services Agreementgoverned the orderly transition of WABCO becoming an independent

company Under the Transition Services Agreement WABCO and Trane had agreed to provide each other with

various services including services relating to human resources payroll treasury and risk management

environmental technology tax compliance telecommunications services and information technology services The

cost of each transition service was generally on the same payment terms and calculated using the same cost

allocation methodologies for the particular service as those associated with the costs on WABCOs historical

financial statements The majority of the services provided under the transition services agreement expired on

February 2008

Employee Matters Agreementallocates liabilities and responsibilities relating to employee compensation and

benefit plans and programs and other related matters in connection with the Separation including the treatment of

outstanding incentive awards and certain retirement and welfare benefit obligations both in and outside of the

United States For further detail please refer to Note 5Capital Stock

Indemnification and Cooperation AgreementPursuant to this agreement WABCO Europe BVBA an indirect

wholly-owned subsidiary of WABCO has agreed to be responsible for and to indemnify Trane and its subsidiaries

including certain subsidiaries formerly engaged in the Bath and Kitchen business and their respective affiliates

against any tines related to the European Commissions investigation as outlined in Statement of Objections

received by Trane on March 28 2007 into possible infringement of European Union competition regulations For

further detail please refer to Note 13Warranties Guarantees Commitments and Contingencies

NOTE 19 Quarterly Data Unaudited

Year 2008

Amounts in millions First Second Third Fourth

Sales $705.4 $772.9 $655.0 $454.7

Cost of sales 509.4 560.6 480.2 343.7

Gross profit
196.0 212.3 174.8 111.0

Income before income taxes 82.3 85.4 67.7 16.1

Income taxes 21.0 18.4 4.0 5.1

Net income 61.3 67.0 63.7 21.2

Net income per common share

Basic 0.92 1.02 0.99 0.33

Diluted 0.91 1.00 0.97 0.33

Year 2007

Amounts in millions
First Second Third Fourth

Sales $558.8 $582.3 $595.5 $679.2

Cost of sales 406.1 430.4 437.6 490.0

Gross profit
152.7 151.9 157.9 189.2

Income before income taxes 61.0 50.6 49.7 75.4

Income taxes 20.9 19.5 50.0 21.0

Netincome 40.1 31.1 0.3 54.4

Net income per common share

Basic 0.59 0.46 0.0 0.81

Diluted 0.58 0.45 0.0 0.79

The sum of each value line for the four quarters does not necessarily equal the amount reported for the full year

because of rounding
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NOTE 20 Subsequent Events

On January 12 2009 WABCO was notified of the termination of the accounts receivable financing facility

arranged by ABN AMRO N.y and Cooperative Centrale Raiffeisen-Boerenleenbank B.A Rabobank and

together with ABN AMRO N.y the banks due to an event outside of WABCOs control

The termination of the accounts receivable financing facility resulted from the downgrading of Royal Bank of

Scotland RBS by Standard Poors SP RBS after acquiring ABN-AMRO had assumed the liquidity support

obligations for the special-purpose entity SPE which was established for the funding and securitization of

receivables of various customers of the banks including WABCO The ABS downgrade in turn-caused SP to

downgrade the SPE from an A-1 to A-i rating Any downgrading of the SPE is termination event stipulated in the

facility agreement In addition to working on replacing the accounts receivable financing facility we are also

pursuing other opportunities of financing
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ITEM CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL

DISCLOSURE

None

ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

The Company has established Disclosure Controls Comm ittee that assists the Chief Executive Officer and

Chief Financial Officer in their evaluation of the Companys disclosure controls and procedures Our Chief Executive

Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded based on their evaluation as of the end of the period covered by

this report that our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Rule

13a-15e are effective to ensure that the information required to be disclosed in the reports that the Company

files or submits under the Securities Act of 1934 is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time

periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commissions rules and forms and ii is accumulated and

communicated to the Companys management including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer as

appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure There have been no changes in our internal

control over financial reporting during the most recent fiscal quarter that have materially affected or are reasonably

likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting

Managements Report On Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial

reporting for the Company The Companys internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of consolidated financial

statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles The Companys

internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that

pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the

transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company

ii provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of

consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that

receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of

management and directors of the Company and

iii provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or

disposition of the Companys assets that could have material effect on the consolidated financial

statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the

policies and procedures included in such controls may deteriorate

The Company conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting

based upon the framework in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO Based upon such evaluation our management concluded that

our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31 2008

The Companys effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2008 has

been audited by Ernst Young Bedrijfsrevisoren BCVBAlReviseurs dEntreprises SCCRL an independent

registered public accounting firm as stated in their attestation report which is included immediately below

WABCO Holdings Inc

February 24 2009
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of WABCO Holdings Inc

We have audited WABCO Holdings Inc.s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2008
based on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission the COSO criteria WABCO Holdings Inc.s management is

responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the

effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Managements Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the companys internal

control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audit included

obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness
exists testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk
and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audit

provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements far external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail

accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable

assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide reasonable

assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys
assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion WABCO Holdings Inc maintained in all material respects effective internal control over

financial reporting as of December 31 2008 based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States the consolidated balance sheets of WABCO Holdings Inc as of December 31 2008 and 2007 and
the related consolidated statements of income shareholders equity owners net investment and comprehensive
income and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31 2008 of WABCO Holdings
Inc and our report dated February 23 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

Ernst Young Bedrijfsrevisoren BCVBAlReviseurs dEntreprises SCCRL

Represented by
Is Harry Everaerts

Partner

Brussels Belgium

February 23 2009

ITEM 9B OTHER INFORMATION

None
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PART III

ITEM 10 DIRECTORS EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Pursuant to instruction G3 to Form 10-K the information required by Item 10 with respect to the Directors of

the Company set forth under the heading Proposal 1Election of Directors and Directors in the Companys

definitive proxy statement to be filed within 120 days following the end of the fiscal year covered by this report is

incorporated herein by reference

The information required by Item 10 with respect to the executive officers of the Company has been included in

Part of this Form 10-K as Item 4A under the heading Executive Officers of the Registrant in reliance on

Instruction G3 of Form 10-K and Instruction to Item 401b of Regulation S-K

Pursuant to instruction G3 to Form 10-K information concerning the Audit Committee and audit committee

financial expert disclosure set forth under the headings GovernanceBoard Matters and Committee Membership

and Committees of the BoardAudit Committee in the Companys definitive proxy statement to be filed within

120 days following the end of the fiscal year covered by this report is incorporated herein by reference

Pursuant to instruction G3 to Form 10-K information concerning compliance with Section 16a of the

Securities Act of 1933 by officers and directors of the Company set forth under the heading Certain Relationships

or Related Person Transactions and Section 16 Reporting ComplianceSection 16a Beneficial Ownership

Reporting Compliance in the Companys definitive proxy statement to be filed within 120 days following the end of

the fiscal year covered by this report is incorporated herein by reference

Information regarding our Code of Conduct and Ethics set forth under the caption Code of Conduct and Ethics

in Item of Part of this Form 10-K is incorporated herein by reference

ITEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Pursuant to Instruction G3 to Form 10-K information concerning director and officer executive compensation

and related matters set forth under the headings Report of the Management Development and Compensation

Committee Compensation Discussion and Analysis Executive Compensation and Director Compensation in

the Companys definitive proxy statement to be filed within 120 days following the end of the fiscal year covered by

this report is incorporated herein by reference

Pursuant to instruction G3to Form 10-K information concerning compensation committee interlocks and

insider participation set forth under the headings GovernanceCompensation Committee Interlocks and Insider

Participation in the Companys definitive proxy statement to be filed within 120 days following the end of the fiscal

year covered by this report is incorporated herein by reference

ITEM 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED

STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Pursuant to Instruction G3 to Form 10-K information concerning shares of common stock of the Company

beneficially owned by management set forth under the heading CommonStock Ownership of Officers Directors

and Significant Sharehotders in the Companys definitive proxy statement to be filed within 120 days following the

end of the fiscal year covered by this report is incorporated herein by reference

Pursuant to Instruction G3 to Form 10-K information concerning securities authorized for issuance under

equity compensation plans set forth under the heading Equity Compensation Plans in the Companys definitive

proxy statement to be filed within 120 days following the end of the fiscal year covered by this report is incorporated

herein by reference

ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Pursuant to Instruction G3 to Form 10-K information concerning certain relationships and related party

transactions and director independence set forth under the headings Certain Relationships or Related Person
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Transactions and Section 16 Reporting ComplianceCertain Relationships and Related Person Transactions and

GovernanceIndependence Standards for Board Service and Availability of Corporate Governance Materials

in the Companys definitive proxy statement to be filed within 120 days following the end of the fiscal year covered

by this report is incorporated herein by reference

ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Pursuant to Instruction G3 to Form 10-K information concerning principal accounting fees and services set

forth under the heading Audit Committee MattersAudit Committees Pre-Approved Policies and Procedures and
Audit and Non-Audit Fees in the Companys definitive proxy statement to be filed within 120 days following the

end of the fiscal year covered by this report is incorporated herein by reference
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PART IV

ITEM 15 EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

and Financial statements and financial statement schedules

The financial statement and financial statement schedules listed in the Index to Financial Statements and

Financial Statement Schedules on the following page are incorporated herein by reference

The exhibits to this Report are listed on the accompanying Index to Exhibits and are incorporated herein by

reference or are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K
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INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Page No

Financial Statements

Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31 2008 and 2007 47

Consolidated Statement of Income for years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 46

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 48

Consolidated Statement of Shareholders Equity and Comprehensive Income for years ended

December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 49

Notes to Financial Statements 50

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 79

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Financial Statement Schedules

Financial statement schedules years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 84

All other schedules have been omitted because the information is not applicable or is not material or because the

information required is included in the financial statements or the notes thereto
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SCHEDULE IlVALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

Amounts in thousands

Description

2008

Reserve deducted from assets

Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable
______ ______

2007

Reserve deducted from assets

Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable
______ ______

2006

Reserve deducted from assets

Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable
______ ______

Accounts charged off

Balance
End of

Period

Provision Addition
Net of Reductions Foreign

to Amounts Currency

Provided in Prior Translation

Years Deductions Effects

875 ____ _____

189
____ ____

Balance

Beginning
of Period

$6441

$6533

$5484

$151A $310 $6855

$602A 699 $6441

$1277 $788A 560 $6533
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the Registrant has

duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

WABCO HOLDINGS INC

By Is JACQUES ESCULIER

Jacques Esculier

Chief Executive Officer and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by the

following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Signatures Title Date

/5/ JACQUES ESCULIER Chief Executive Officer and Director February 24 2009

Jacques Esculier Principal Executive Officer

Is ULRICH MICHEL Chief Financial Officer February 24 2009

Ulrich Michel Principal Financial Officer

Is TODD WEINBLATT Vice President and Controller February 24 2009

Todd Weinbiatt Principal Accounting Officer

Chairman of the Board of Directors February 24 2009

James Hardymon

Director February 24 2009

Peter DAloia

Director February 24 2009

John Fiedier

Director February 24 2009

Dr Juergen Gromer

Director February 24 2009

Kenneth Martin

Director February 24 2009

Michael Smith

Director February 24 2009

Donald Stebbins

Signed by Attorney-in-fact

Is ALFRED FARHA

Alfred Farha

Attorney-In-fact
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WABCO HOLDINGS INC

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

The File Number of the Registrant WABCO Holdings Inc is 1-33332

Exhibit No Description

2.1 Separation and Distribution Agreement dated as of July 16 2007 by and between Trane Inc and

WABCO Holdings Inc previously filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Companys Form 8-K File No 001-

33332 filed on July 20 2007 and herein incorporated by reference

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Companys

Form 8-K File No 001-33332 filed on July 18 2007 and herein incorporated by reference

3.2 Amended and Restated By-Laws of WABCO Holdings Inc previously filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the

Companys Form 8-K File No 001-33332 filed on July 18 2007 and herein incorporated by

reference

4.1 Rights Agreement dated July 16 2007 by and between WABCO Holdings Inc and The Bank of New

York previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Companys Form 8-K File No 001-33332 filed on July 18

2007 and herein incorporated by reference

4.2 Certificate of Designation of Junior Participating Cumulative Preferred Stock previously filed as

Exhibit 4.2 to the Companys Form 8-K File No 001-33332 filed on July 18 2007 and herein

incorporated by reference

4.3 Rights Certificate attached as an exhibit to the Rights Agreement dated July 16 2007 filed as Exhibit

4.1 to the Companys Form 8-K File No 001 -33332 filed on July 18 2007 and herein incorporated

by reference

4.4 Form of Specimen Common Stock Certificate previously filed as Exhibit 4.4 to the Companys Form

10-0 File No 001 -33332 filed on November 2007 and herein incorporated by reference

10.1 Tax Sharing Agreement dated as of July 16 2007 by and among Trane Inc and certain of its

subsidiaries and WABCO Holdings Inc and certain of its subsidiaries previously filed as Exhibit 10.1

to the Companys Form 8-K File No 001-33332 filed on July 20 2007 and herein incorporated by

reference

10.2 Transition Services Agreement dated July 16 2007 by and between Trane Inc and WABCO

Holdings Inc previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Companys Form 8-K File No 001-33332 filed

on July 20 2007 and herein incorporated by reference

10.3 Employee Matters Agreement dated July 16 2007 by and between Trane Inc and WABCO Holdings

Inc previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Companys Form 8-K File No 001 -33332 filed on July

20 2007 and herein incorporated by reference

10.4 Indemnification and Cooperation Agreement dated as of July 16 2007 by and among Trane Inc and

certain of its subsidiaries and WABCO Holdings Inc and certain of its subsidiaries previously filed as

Exhibit 10.4 to the Companys Form 8-K File No 001 -33332 filed on July 20 2007 and herein

incorporated by reference

10.5 Form of Indemnification Agreement previously filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the Companys Form 10 as

amended File No 001-33332 filed on May 23 2007 and herein incorporated by reference Entered

into with all executive officers and all members of the Board of Directors as reported in Form 8-Ks

filed by the Company on August 2007 and September 2007

10.6 WABCO Holdings Inc Omnibus Incentive Plan previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys

Form S-8 File No 333-1 44906 filed on July 27 2007 and herein incorporated by reference

10.7 Amendment to WABCO Holdings Inc Omnibus Incentive Plan effective as of December31 2008

10.8 Form of WABCO Holdings Inc Stock Option Grant Agreement for U.S Employees previously filed as

Exhibit 10.7 to the Companys Form 10-0 File No 001-33332 filed on November 2007 and

herein incorporated by reference

10.9 Form of WABCO Holdings Inc Stock Option Grant Agreement for Non-U.S Employees previously

filed as Exhibit 10.8 to the Companys Form 10-0 File No 001 -33332 filed on November 82007

and herein incorporated by reference



Exhibit No Description

10.10 Form of WABCO Holdings Inc Restricted Unit Grant Agreement for U.S Employees previously filed

as Exhibit 10.9 to the Companys Form 10-0 File No 001-33332 filed on November 2007 and

herein incorporated by reference

10.11 Form of WABCO Holdings Inc Restricted Unit Grant Agreement for Non-U.S Employees previously

filed as Exhibit 10.10 to the Companys Form 10-Q File No 001-33332 filed on November 2007

and herein incorporated by reference

10.12 WABCO Holdings Inc Change of Control Severance Plan previously filed as Exhibit 10.11 to the

Companys Form 10-Q File No 001 -33332 filed on November 2007 and herein incorporated by

reference

10.13 Amendment No to WABCO Holdings Inc Change of Control Severance Plan previously filed as

Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys 8-K File no 0001-33332 filed on July 14 2008 and herein

incorporated by reference

10.14 Amendment No to WABCO Holdings Inc Change of Control Severance Plan effective as of

December 31 2008

10.15 WABCO Holdings Inc Deferred Compensation Plan previously filed Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys
Form S-8 File No 333-148972 filed on January 31 2008 and herein incorporated by reference

10.16 Amendment to WABCO Holdings Inc Deferred Compensation Plan effective as of December 31
2008

10.17 WABCO Holdings Inc Supplemental Savings Plan previously filed as Exhibit 10.20 to the Companys
Form 10-0 File No 001-33332 filed on November 2007 and herein incorporated by reference

10.18 Amendment to WABCO Holdings Inc Supplemental Savings Plan effective as of December 31
2008

10.19 Employment Agreement by and between WABCO Expats Inc and Jacques Esculier dated as of July

27 2007 previously filed as Exhibit 10.12 to the Companys Form 10-Q File No 001-33332 filed on
November 2007 and herein incorporated by reference

10.20 Amendment to Employment Agreement by and between WABCO Expats Inc and Jacques Esculier

dated December 31 2008

10.21 Amendment to Employment Contract of March 2003 by and between Trane Europe BVBA and
Ulrich Michel dated July 27 2007 previously filed as Exhibit 10.13 to the Companys Form 10-0 File
No 001-33332 filed on November 2007 and herein incorporated by reference

10.22 Amended Employment Agreement of Ulrich Michel dated May 27 2008 previously filed as Exhibit

10.1 to the Companys Form 8-K File no 0001 -33332 filed on June 2008 and herein incorporated

by reference

10.23 Employment Agreement by and between WABCO Expats Inc and Alfred Farha dated April25 2008

previously filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the Companys Form 10-Q File No 0001-33332 filed on August
2008 and herein incorporated by reference

10.24 Amendment to Employment Agreement by and between WABCO Expats Inc and Alfred Farha
dated December 31 2008

10.25 Employment Agreement by and between WABCO Expats Inc and Kevin Tarrant dated as of July

2007 previously filed as Exhibit 10.14 to the Companys Form 10-0 File No 001 -33332 filed on
November 2007 and herein incorporated by reference

10.26 Amendment to Employment Agreement by and between WABCO Expats Inc and Kevin Tarrant

dated December 31 2008

10.27 Employment Agreement by and between World Standard Ltd And Nikhil Varty dated April 15
2001 previously filed as Exhibit 10.15 to the Companys Form 10-0 File No 001-33332 filed on
November 2007 and herein incorporated by reference

10.28 Addendum to Employment Agreement by and between World Standard Ltd and Nikhil Varty
dated February 2006 previously filed as Exhibit 10.16 to the Companys Form 10-Q File No 001-

33332 filed on November 2007 and herein incorporated by reference



Exhibit No Description

10.29 Employment Agreement by and between Trane Europe BVBA and Jean-Christophe Figueroa dated

January 21 2005 previously filed as Exhibit 10.17 to the Companys Form 10-0 File No 001-

33332 filed on November 2007 and herein incorporated by reference

10.30 Partnership Agreement dated as of January 1990 as amended by Amendment No thereto

dated as of May 29 1990 and Amendment No thereto dated as of May 10 2006 of Mentor

WABCO Vehicle Control Systems formerly known as Rockwell WABCO Vehicle Control Systems by

and between WABCO Automotive Control Systems Inc and ArvinMeritor Brake Holdings Inc

successor in interest to Rockwell Brake Systems Inc previously filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the

Companys Form 10 File No 001 -33332 filed on May 23 2007 and herein incorporated by

reference

10.31 Five-Year Credit Agreement dated as of May 31 2007 among WABCO Holdings Inc and certain

subsidiaries of WABCO Holdings Inc and the financial institutions listed herein JPMorgan Chase

Bank N.A as Administrative Agent Issuing Bank and Swingline Lender J.P Morgan Europe

Limited as London Agent ABN AMRO Bank N.y as Syndication Agent and Bank of America N.A

BNP Paribas and Citibank N.A as Document Agents previously filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the

Companys Form 10 File No 001-33332 filed on June 11 2007 and Mrein incorporated by

reference

10.32 364-Day Credit Agreement dated as of March 2008 among WABCO Holdings Inc the borrowing

subsidiaries thereto the Indenture party thereto and ABN AMRO Bank N.A as administrative agent

previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Form 8-K File No 0001 -33332 filed on March 12

2008 and herein incorporated by reference

10.33 364-Day Credit Agreement dated as of March 2008 among WABCO Financial Services BVBA and

WABCO Holdings Inc as guarantor Pandios Comm V.A and indirectly owned subsidiary of

CoOperatieve Centrale Raiffeisen-Boerenleenbank B.A as lender and CoOperatieve Centrale

Raifleisen-Boerenleenbank B.A as Calculation Agent previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the

Companys Form 8-K File No 0001 -33332 filed on March 12 2008 and herein incorporated by

reference

16.1 Letter from Ernst Young LLP dated August 2007 previously filed as Exhibit 16.1 to the

Companys 8-K File No 001-33332 filed on August 2007 and herein incorporated by reference

21.1 Subsidiaries of the Company

23.1 Consent of Ernst Young LLP

23.2 Consent of Ernst Young Bedrilfsrevisoren BCVBNRØviseurs dEntreprises SCCRL

24.1 Form of Power of attorney James Hardymon Peter DAloia John Fiedler Dr Juergen

Gromer Kenneth Martin Michael Smith and Donald Stebbins

31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002

31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxiey Act of 2002

32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002

32.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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